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PREFACE

THE completion of the History of England and the British
Empire down to the year 1914 calls for a few prefatory
words to this, the fourth, volume. The later chapters con-
tain the record of events within the writer’s own memory—
events of which it is impossible to speak with the same
9 detachment as in picturing earlier periods of history. The
¥ natural temptation is to make of such a record something
)\\_in the nature of a political pamphlet. The alternative for
. the writer is to abstain from pronouncing his own judg-
~ ments on controversial questions, and to endeavour to set
Y forth an exact statement of facts and a correct exposition
™ of the varying views taken of those facts by intelligent and
¥ honest members of all political parties. This is the course
which he has adopted, his purpose being not to impress
his own views upon the reader, but to enable the student
to form an unbiassed opinion for himself. As the questions
discussed become more and more such as are or have been
very recently of an exceedingly intimate interest, it has
become increasingly difficult to enter into details; and the
whole of the last chapter can only be regarded as a summary
and an epilogue expressed with such impartiality as is
possible in the circumstances. The commencement of the
great war on which we are now engaged has provided a very
definite terminus. Not less decisively than the birth of
the French Revolution, it is the opening of a new phase
in the history of the European nations. Not until the war
is over and the terms of peace have been dictated by the
victorious powers, will it be possible to apply historical treat-
ment to the Aschylean drama which is now unfolding itself.
Innes’s Eng. Hist.—Vol. 1v. b



vi England and the British Empire

Certain comments which have been passed upon the
present volume while in MS. suggest that a note may be
advisable regarding the author’s use of the terms Britain
and England, British and English. ‘ English ’ is the recog-
nised name of our common language and literature ; other-
wise it is a term strictly appropriate only to what is specifi-
cally English as distinguished from what is specifically
Scottish or Irish. ‘ England,” on the other hand, not as a .
political but as a geographical term, appears to be legiti-
mately used both in the specific sense and when the only
strictly correct (but extremely pedantic and inconvenient) .
alternatives would be ‘ The British Isles’ or ‘ The United -
Kingdom.” ° British,” not ‘ English,’ is the term applied
to the Imperial Government, policy, navies, and armies ;
and ‘ Britain’ or ‘ Great Britain,” not ‘ England,” to the
Imperial State—properly so from the time of the incorpora-
tion of the hitherto separate and often antagonistic States
of England and Scotland as the single State of Great Britain.
There is no adequate reason for the somewhat discourteous
practice of most English writers, who habitually ignore the
susceptibilities of Irishmen or Scots by persistently calling
Irish and Scottish regiments ‘ English ’ troops, the parlia-
ment of the United Kingdom the ‘ English’ parliament,
and the Imperial Government ‘England’ A pedantic
scrupulosity in the observance of rule need not be insisted
upon. It is neither unreasonable nor unnatural that the
name of the predominant partner should occasionally be
used as an alternative to the correct name of the firm;
it is probable enough that the author will be found to have
sometimes neglected the strict observance of his regular
practice. But except in the case of a few possible lapses,
the author has used the word ‘ England’ when he means
England, the country, not the British State, and ‘ English '
when he means English, not British.

A. D. INNES.
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CHAPTER 1. THE WAR WITH THE
FRENCH EMPIRE

I. THE TRUCE AND THE RUPTURE, 1802-1803

HE Peace of Amiens, negotiated for the Addington ministry
ainly by Cornwallis, was subjected to sharp criticism. The
:neral feeling was summarised by Sheridan when yne Peace
2 said that it was ‘ A peace which all men are glad of Amiens.
f but no one can be proud of.’ For the sake of peace, Britain
ad surrendered a good deal and France nothing. The attacks
ame chiefly from Grenville and from the Portland Whigs,
pencer and Windham, distrust of the intentions of the French
overnment being really at the root of the opposition. The
untry, in fact, was grievously in need of peace, though it had
'own an extraordinary capacity for bearing the strain of the
r. The National Debt had doubled since 1783, as in 1783
had doubled since 1763. The population, suffering from the
ocation of employment accompanying the rural and industrial
lutions, had been brought to a state of more acute distress
e immense rise in the price of food-stuffs consequent upon
7ar. Wheat had risen to a hundred and twelve shillings,
as before it had rarely been as high as fifty shillings,
ad never exceeded sixty-four. The merchants looked
1 to great profits when the course of trade should no
be interrupted. The country generally, therefore, was
acquiesce in any peace which seemed to promise security
opportunity of recuperation. There was at least a
‘cte presumption that a really stable government had
tblished in France, and that if the intentions of that
nt were pacific a long era of peace was at hand.
‘e theintentions of that government pacific? Napoleon,
Hist.—Vol. v. A
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?‘
who formally adopted the monarchical custom of using
Christian name, after his position as First Consul was con

to him for life in the August following the peace, had a

Doubts of its task before him in the reorganisation of F ’_.:
permanency. and might well have been anxious to devote the;.
whole of his energies to that work. Nevertheless, it wou.ld
be difficult for any man with a military genius such as his to
set a limit to his own ambition, to turn from the exercise of the -
art of war, in which he had been so triumphant, and to confine ', _
himself to the interests of the organiser and administrator. It '~
is particularly difficult for one who by the brilliant achievements g
of his sword has won his way to the supreme power in the
state, raising his own country to unprecedented heights of
martial glory, to abstain from securing his supremacy by further
feats of arms. Even if Napoleon had honestly determined to
seek peace and avoid war it is doubtful whether he could have
kept to his resolve, doubtful whether he could have resisted the
temptation to assert dubious claims supported by the material
argument of invincible legions. And facts point to the irresist-
ible conclusion that the only kind of peace which he would have
allowed to be permanent would have demanded the submission
of all Europe to his dictation, or, at least, such as would have
ruled Britain out of any voice in European affairs.

It was at least impossible for the British government to feel
assured that the peace would be permanent or was intended to
Causes be permanent. Causes of friction had not been
of frictlon.  removed. Almost at the last moment, Napoleon
had ruffied British nerves, by accepting for himself the presi-
dency of what was thereafter known as the Italian Republic,
hitherto styled Cisalpine. Napoleon was ruffled by the liberty
allowed to the émigrés in England, of making the grossest attacks
upon him in the English press. Britain had abstained from
including in the terms of the peace any demands as to the rela-
tions between France and the various republics which had been
practically her creation, or with regard to the minor German
states; aggressive action by France in those quarters would

carry with it a menace of further a_ggreﬁsw:ions; yet

'r-‘ 'l u
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France might resent any British protest on the subject, on the
plea that it was none of Britain’s business. There was no
stipulation for a commercial treaty; and to British dismay,
there was no sign of any intention on the part of France to relax
her efforts for maintaining commercial barriers between Britain
and Europe. Finally, Britain had agreed to the evacuation of
Malta and its restoration to the Knights of St. John, condi-
tionally upon the common guarantee of the powers for its
neutrality ; but the actual guarantee had not yet been
obtained.

Consequently, after the treaty, Britain made no haste to
evacuate Malta, wherein she was obviously within her rights, but
she also delayed to restore the French towns which gyaqions of
had been seized in India, and to withdraw her troops treaty
from Egypt. This was in fact a technical breach ©°Pligations.
of the terms of the treaty, in defence of which it could only be
urged that grave suspicion of Napoleon’s intentions was war-
ranted by his actions. In the autumn, Napoleon having been
made First Consul for life, France annexed Piedmont and practi-
cally compelled the Helvetic republic to adopt a constitution,
placing it under French control. The secularisation and redis-
tribution of the territories of the West German princes was
proceeding apace, and the hand which guided it was obvijously
that of France. Yet none of these things were breaches of
the Treaty of Amiens. French commercial agents were visiting
Ireland and the Levant ; it was more than suspected that their
purposes and the reports they were preparing were much more
political than commercial in character. Instructions for these
agents which fell into the hands of the British government
desired them to furnish information about the ports, which
seemed to imply hostile intentions. In January 1803, was pub-
lished the report of Colonel Sebastiani, who had been officially
sent to the Levant; it was chiefly concerned to explain how
easy would be the recovery of Egypt by France. The per-
sistent retention of French troops in Holland could not in Britain
be regarded with equanimity, and protests from Britain were
met with the answer that these proceedings were no contraven-
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tion of the Treaty of Amiens, and with counter-protests agamst{
the standing grievance of the scurrilous attacks upon the First“
Consul issued in the London press by the French émigrés. =

If then we endeavour to divest ourselves of the almost irresist- -*
ible disposition of the natural man, to read sinister motives into *
wochmican  theaction of opponentswhile repudiating correspond- ~
justification  ing insinuations against his friends, the case may still *
of France.  he fairly stated on this wise, Termshad been arrived !
at for the Treaty of Amiens under which the British made certain
definite engagements, having certain understandings in view;
but the superior diplomatic skill of the French foreign minister,
Talleyrand, prevented them from obtaining any guarantee for
those understandings, under the treaty. If the British carried
out their engagements, they would be placed at a serious disad-
vantage in the event of a renewal of hostilities, unless France
acted upon those understandings which had not been guaranteed,
but had been in the minds of the British when they made their
engagements. France, on the other hand, declined to give any
consideration to those understandings; and in view of the
hostile intent implied by the action of France as interpreted by
the British, the British evaded the carrying out of their engage-
ments without further security. Napoleon stood by the letter
of the agreement, regarded the demand for further security as a
breach of faith, and took measures to strengthen his position in
the event of a renewal of the fighting.

So far, on purely technical grounds, Napoleon had the best of
the argument ; but when the security of a state is at stake, its
Moral action cannot be governed by purely technical con-
justification  siderations. What the British saw was that after
of Britain.  the peace had been made Napoleon was engaged in
securing complete control for France over Holland, Switzerland
and North Italy ; and, by February 1803, over the principalities
of Western Germany. It was vain for Napoleon to pretend that
these matters were no concern of the British; the domination
of all these states by an unfriendly power was very much their
concern. There was no question at all that the peace had been
made on both sides on the hypothesis that it was intended to be
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a permanent settlement. Napoleon knew perfectly well that
the policy he was carrying out in Western Europe was incom-
patible with the permanence of the settlement ; therefore from
the British point of view, his actions were a moral though not a
technical violation of the treaty, warranting its technical viola-
tion by a delay in carrying out the British engagements. The
British case became all the stronger with the discovery of evidence
pointing to a more definitely hostile intent. With relation to
Egypt in particular, the publication of Sebastiani’s report
carried the conviction that the moment Britain fulfilled her
engagement and evacuated Alexandria, France would drop the
mask, break her own engagement, and occupy Egypt herself.

In plain terms, Napoleon’s determination, which was manifest,
to make all Western Europe dependent upon France, necessi-
tated his insistence upon the doctrine that Western 4 vreach
Europe was no concern of Britain. The security inevitable.
of Britain necessitated her insistence upon her right to a voice in
the settlement of Western Europe, although that right had not
been formally asserted in the Treaty of Amiens. These two
incompatible positions must almost in any case have led to a
renewal of the war; but behind them lay the French convic-
tion that the British were actuated by hostility to France and
the British conviction that the French were actuated by hostility
to Britain, which made a rupture certain. By March 1803, the
Addington government was so convinced of the menace of war,

"that the king’s message to parliament called for military pre-
parations in view of the hostile preparations which were in
progress in the French ports.

Theresult of the king's message was an explosive scene between
the First Consul and the British ambassador, Whitworth, at the
Tuileries. The actual rupture, however, was still de- 1403  war
ferred for a couple of months. On May 12th diplo- declared,
matic relations were broken off; on the 18th war M&7:
was declared. Immediately afterwards all British subjects in the
French dominions were seized and thrown into prison as prisoners
of war, a violation of all recognised custom, which emphasised
the bitterness with which the renewed struggle was to be waged.
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Both in France and in England it was recognised at this time
that there must be a fight to a finish. The evidence of the whole
Napoleon's  career of Napoleon points to the conclusion that
alms. he regarded the British power throughout as the
grand obstacle to the achievement of his own ambition, which
was the establishment not merely of France as the ascendant
power in Europe, but of his own unqualified supremacy, and
that, consequently, the ruin of the British empire was the
primary object which he held in view. It is not easy to doubt
that it was his deliberate intention to use the Peace of Amiens
first for the consolidation of his control, as yet incomplete, over
Western Europe, and then to apply himself to the annihilation
of the British commercial supremacy, upon which rested the
power of the British empire. This was not apparent when the
Peace of Amiens was made, because it was assumed in England
that there were to be no further alterations in the map of Europe.
When Napoleon chose to treat that assumption as unwarranted,
it became practically impossible to doubt the fundamentally
anti-British character of his ambitions ; and it is impossible to
doubt them now, in the light of his subsequent operations. It
may be true that he did not intend to provoke war, as it is cer-
tainly true that the British government did not intend to pro-
voke war. But if so, it was only on the hypothesis that he would
be able to effect the ruin of the British empire without going
to war; and the British nation was fully determined to fight in
order to avert that catastrophe.

Yet it is one thing to declare war, and another to make war
effective. While each of the two combatants was fighting single-
Armies handed, each might bring painful pressure fo bear
and fleets. on the other, but neither could strike a crushing
blow. In the British isles, there were scarcely more than fifty
thousand troops available, though the material was there for rais-
ing a force of perhaps half a million for home defence. But
these were not troops which could be employed for striking on
land at France with her large armies of veterans under the com-
mand of the greatest of soldiers. It was equally impossible
for Napoleon to use his armies to strike at England, unless he

N ’
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could obtain at least a temporary command of the sea, and there
was no chance of his achieving that object by any direct blow to
the superior British fleet. In effect all that Britain could do
was to prevent French ships from coming out of French or
Dutch ports, and to take possession of French or Dutch islands
—since for all practical purposes Holland was now a part of
France. All that Napoleon could do was to shut British com-
merce out of French and Dutch ports, and endeavour to frighten
England by menaces of invasion.

On the other hand, there was no immediate prospect of move-
ment on the part of other powers. Austria might have taken
alarm at Napoleon's policy in Western Germany, gurope
yet her assent to it was already assurcd. The Tsar Quiescent.
was satisfied by the advantages which Napolcon had been care-
ful to secure to the states in which Alexander was personally
interested, Bavaria, Wiirtemberg and Baden.  Prussia’s acquics-
cence followed upon her hopes of compensation for herself in
Hanover. Russia, too, was annoyed by the British refusal to
evacuate Malta. Since France retained her hold on Otranto
in Southern Italy, the Bourbon king of the Sicilics was too much
afraid of her to make common cause with the British; and if
the Bourbon king of Spain was not unlikely to be seduced into
a French alliance for the same reasons as in the past, yect at the
moment Spain had no excuse for intervention and was not in a
due state of preparation for a maritime war.

I1. THE STRUGGLE: FIRsT Puasg, May 1803-JANUARY 1806

The war, when it opened, was on the part of Great Britain
a purely defensive one. She could not strike hard, howcver
earnestly she might desire to do so. She could wrnhe west
secure her domination in the West Indies by again Indies.
seizing St. Lucia, a position strategically of the highest value.
She could, and did extend her domination by occupying French
and Dutch islands, a process which involved considerable
expense and the dispatch of troops which, considering the small
numbers of her army, it might have been wiser to keep at home.
The principal gain in fact lay in the seizure of harbours which

i
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would otherwise have sheltered innumerable privateers engaged
in the harrying of British commerce.

But for Napoleon the grand object was to find an opportunity
for striking; for the British, to prevent him from doing so.
The army o Napoleon set himself to developing a grand scheme
Boulogne.  of invasion, the British to ensuring that any such
scheme should be abortive. At Boulogne and neighbouring
ports, Napoleon gathered flotillas of flat-bottomed boats for
transport, and troops to be ready for embarkation—in the vain
hope that they could be carried to England, and effect an imme-
diate conquest, if only the Channel could be cleared of British
warships for three days or even for twenty-four hours. That
‘if * was the vital point. For the British fleet was standing on
guard, and had no intention of allowing itself to be either forced
or beguiled into leaving an open passage.

It does not appear that the Admiralty at any time had a
shadow of doubt regarding the ability of the Navy to frustrate
The any possible attempt at invasion. But confidence
volunteers.  on the part of the Admiralty was no more sufficient
to satisfy popular anxiety than had been the confidence of
Elizabeth’s mariners in the days of the Armada. There must
be an army to meet the invader, if he should succeed in effecting
alanding. It was well that the naval authorities should be con-
fident, since they had the best of reasons for their confidence ;
it was well also that the nervousness of those who understood
the situation clearly should be allayed ; and it was emphatically
well that the manhood of the country should be zealous to
answer the call to arms, so long as the chance of invasion existed,
however infinitesimal. Volunteers were enrolled to the number
of three hundred thousand before the war had been in progress
for much more than three months.

"~ The Addington ministry possessed the advantage that the
king was on better terms with the prime minister than with any
1802.3. The Of his predecessors since North had quitted office
Adaington  in 1782. At the same time, by no stretch of

) imagination could the ministry be called a strong
one; its intentions were excellent, but it was surrounded by
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critics, of greater ability than most of its members, who resented
its existence. A feeling grew that the ¢ Pilot who had weathered
the storm ’ should return to his post. An abortive insurrection
in Ireland, headed by Robert Emmett, whose brother Thomas
had been one of the persons seized before the outbreak of the
Rebellion of ’g8, gives some point.to the view that Pitt ought to
have stipulated for the completion of his own Irish policy as a
condition of his return to office. Nevertheless he was probably
right in considering that the king would have remained obdurate
upon the point. That the king was hopelessly wrongheaded,
does not alter the fact that the thing had become with him a
matter of conscience, and he would have resigned his crown
rather than give way. Addington himself wished for Pitt’s
return, and had opened negotiations with him towards the end
of the year 1802. Pitt, however, required not only that he should
himself resume his old position, but that Grenville and others
who had resigned with him should also return to the ministry.
Grenville, again, made it a condition that Addington should retire.
Pitt’s terms were rejected in April 1803 by the Addington
cabinet, a month before the declaration of war.

Pitt’s relations with the ministry, which he had hitherto sup-
ported though only after a lukewarm fashion, now became in-
creasingly chilly. In the spring of 1804, his criti- 1804. Pitt
cism of the government began to sound a distinctly returns, May.
hostile note. By this time Grenville and Fox were uniting their
forces, and both supported Pitt. Ministers came near to being
defeated in the House of Commons. At the end of April, Pitt
submitted his own view of the situation to the king, who had
only just recovered from his third serious brain-attack. At the
same moment Addington resigned. George invited Pitt to
submit his plans for a new ministry; Pitt proposed a joint
ministry which should include both Grenville and Fox. The
king rejected Fox personally, and would only accept Grenville
if a pledge were given that the question of Catholic emancipation
should not be raised. Fox did not wish his own exclusion to
stand in the way ; but neither Fox’s followers nor Grenville and
his followers would join without Fox. Pitt, however, had come



10 The War with the French Empire

to the conclusion, first, that the Addington ministry under
Addington’s leadership was incompetent ; secondly, that it was
impossible under existing conditions to force Fox upon the king ;
thirdly, that the crisis demanded his own return to the helm. In
the new ministry which the king accepted, Pitt with his per-
sonal followers such as Dundas, now Viscount Melville, took the
places of Addington and his immediate followers, while others,
such as the chancellor, Iord Eldon, Lord Hawkesbury (after-
wards earl of Liverpool), Pitt’s brother, Lord Chatham, and
Castlereagh, remained. Pitt returned to office at the precise
moment when Napoleon was proclaimed no longer First Consul
of the French republic, but Emperor of the French (May 1804).

The war had now been in progress just twelve months. Apart
from the mustering of armies of invasion, the first definite step
watching  taken by France had been the occupation of Hanover.
and But since the days of George 1., British govern-
walting. ments had ceased to be susceptible to attacks upon
Hanover ; the object of the French was to enable themselves to
dangle the electorate as a bait before the eyes of the Prussian
king. For the rest, the army of invasion collected at Boulogne ;
volunteers in increasing numbers drilled and trained themselves
on the other side of the Channel ; and British fleets kept watch
over all the French ports in the North Sea and in the Channel,
on the Atlantic and in-the Mediterranean. Repeatedly in the
past from 1756 to 1797, the menace of invasion had frightened
British governments into complete or partial withdrawals from
the inland sea, but it had no such effect now when the British
naval force could maintain an adequate strength of ships in
every region. :

But another actor was coming on the scene. Doubts were
stirring in the mind of the Tsar, suspicions that Napoleon was
Tsar projecting designs against the Turkish empire, in
Alexander.  pyursuance of his old schemes for Oriental conquest.
It was more than probable that the kingdom of the Sicilies
would be made a stepping-stone. At any rate the tightening of
Napoleon’s grip upon Western Europe was ominous. The Tsar
began to think of alliances to hold the ambitions of France in

a3
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check ; and in the quarter where his own interests were directly
threatened British interests were threatened also. Neither
power could afford to see France in possession of the Sicilies.

Then, in March 1804, all Europe was startled by a tragedy. A
plot was framed in France against the emperor’s life. At the
bottom of it were the Breton Georges Cadoudal, Murder of
and Pichegru, the former general of the republic. the Due
Something of it was known to Moreau, the victor ¢Enghien, -
of Hohenlinden, who in military reputation stood ™
second only to Napoleon himself. The plot was discovered,
Cadoudal was executed, Pichegru was found dead in his prison,
and Moreau, who had refused to participate, was banished. But
matters did not end here. Napoleon believed, and had some
colour for the belief, that there was an extensive Bourbon plot
in which the British government was implicated. The Duc
d’Enghien, a prince of the blood royal, the direct representa-
tive of the great Condé, was in Baden territory. Presumably in
order to terrorise the Bourbons, the unfortunate duke was
kidnapped on neutral soil, carried over the French border, and
after a mock trial was shot for complicity in the plot. Napoleon
persuaded himself and France that the crime was a necessity of
state; he used the event as an argument for ending once for
all the vision of a Bourbon restoration, by establishing a new
dynasty and procuring his own acceptance by France as emperor.
But Europe was shocked by the outrage, and no one more than
Alexander. Even before it was capped by Napoleon’s assump-
tion of the imperial dignity, the Tsar had begun to negotiate
actively for a British alliance, hoping to include in it Austria,
Prussia, and the zealous but impracticable king of Sweden,
Gustavus 1v.

Now it had been proved in the war which terminated with the
Peace of Amiens, that Pitt was not, as his father had been, an
organiser of victories. But he was aware that to ;40,5
organise victories had become a necessity, that it Pitt and the
was not enough to remain on the defensive until Admiralty.
the struggle with Napoleon ended in a stalemate. Only through
concerted action with other powers would it be possible to win ;
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and though Russia must be credited with having made the first
move, before Pitt himself had come into power, Pitt was no less
zealous than Alexander himself, in the effort to organise a coali-
tion in which not only British fleets but also British armies
would have to take their share, and the partners would be largely
financed by British gold. It is also to be observed from the
outset that the British navy not only had the ships, the men,
and the officers, as she had in 1793, but also the naval organisa-
tion which had been attained in nine years of continuous war,
controlled by men who had a thorough grasp of naval strategy
in all its aspects. There is no fault to be found with its direc-
tion while in the hands of Melville, in spite of the poor figure he
had cut when directing the military administration at the begin-
ning of the previous war; and Melville was succeeded before
the most critical moment arrived by a man who had proved
himself a thorough master, Sir Charles Middleton, who was
created Lord Barham. Middleton was a veteran nearing his
eightieth year when Melville was at the Admiralty ; there is very
little doubt that the wisdom of Melville’s own measures was due
to the confidence which he reposed in Middleton’s advice ; and
there is no doubt at all that when Melville was forced to resign
on account of the personal attacks made upon him, and Middleton
as Lord Barham officially took his place, to Barham belongs the
credit for the perfection of the Admiralty plans in the critical
year 1805. But it is also to be observed that Pitt himself
during this period showed an appreciation of strategical con-
siderations which had not distinguished him in the earlier
war.

In the summer of 1804 Napoleon was becoming aware that a
new European coalition was threatening. It would seem also that
Napoleo’s  Nis confidence in his plan of invasion was weaken-
schemeof  ing. Whether he ever believed much in it except
invaston. by fits is doubtful ; at one time he asserted in the
most emphatic manner that the whole scheme had never been
anything but a blind. The British- Admiralty was obliged to
act on the hypothesis that the scheme was intended seriously ;
but its equanimity was never disturbed. Its arrangements
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provided always for adequate squadrons watching over all the
French ports, so linked up that they could always concentrate
upon the mouth of the Channel, if occasion arose, in such force
that no possible combination could successfully challenge an
engagement. Napoleon’s plans for invasion involved the hypo-
thesis that the Toulon fleet might evade the Mediterranean
squadron, escape through the Straits, evade the blockading
squadrons between Ferrol, where Spain had admitted French
ships, and Brest, and co-operate with the fleet blockaded at
Brest to crush the fleet blockading it; or else evade the fleet
blockading Brest and rush the Channel, which would be held
long enough for carrying the army of invasion over to England.
But for that purpose, the Toulon fleet would have required
to be stronger than the fleet blockading Brest; since a
blockaded fleet had practically no chance of getting out of
port in time to support the relieving fleet. As for the plan
of evading the fleet and rushing the Channel, the squadron
which attempted it might conceivably have got in, but it
would have had no possible chance of surviving. The whole
scheme in fact was chimerical, as the British Admiralty very
well knew.

Now whether or not Napoleon seriously believed in his scheme
of invasion, whether it was with a view to that scheme that he
originally devised his West Indian expedition, no 1404 pe
one will ever know. It is quite certain that in the West Indian
autumn and winter of 1804 the costly but always Sebeme:
inadequate arrangements made for the embarkation of the army
at Boulogne were allowed to fall into a state of complete dis-
organisation ; and at the turn of the year the Rochefort squadron
and the Toulon fleet had their instructions to get to sea if they
possibly could, and to make for the West Indies; apparently
with the single intention of creating what may be called a
colonial diversion, and paralysing the British for active naval
and military co-operation with the European states, of whose
coalition Napoleon was afraid.

The negotiations between the powers were pursuing a very
doubtful course. The Tsar’s mind was set upon three things
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which he wanted from Pitt: military co-operation in Italy, in-
volving the placing of British troops under Russian command ;
Russia, the British evacuation of Malta; and the British
Britain, and  concession of the old demands of the Armed Neu-
Austria. trality. For the first, Pitt was willing so soon as the
army could be raised in numbers and efficiency to a standard
which would make it possible to spare from England troops
available for an Italian campaign. But on the other two
questions Pitt was adamant. Malta was necessary to the
command of the Eastern Mediterranean; the British naval
command of the Eastern Mediterranean was necessary, not to
say vital, from a European as well as from a British point of
view. Britain could not surrender her maritime rights.. As for
the other powers, Prussia was obviously not to be tempted
out of her neutrality, and Sweden clamoured for impossible
subsidies from Britain as a condition of her joining the alliance.
Austria might come in for the sake of recovering her old posses-
sions in North Italy, but never took any hearty part in any
portion of a common programme which was not directed to
her own particular interest. She was in fact finally induced to
commit herself to the alliance by her alarm when the North
Italian republic resolved to turn itself into a monarchy, and
invited Napoleon himself to assume the ancient iron crown of
Lombardy, an invitation which he accepted and acted upon in
May 1805. The result of all these complications was that the
offensive and defensive alliance of Britain, Russia and Austria
was not finally ratified until after midsummer of that year.

At the close of 1804, then, there was no actual change in the
naval situation. Villeneuve at Toulon and Missiessy at Roche-
fort had not yet received their orders from the West Indies.
Spain. One event of importance, however, had occurred.
Spain had had warning from Pitt that if she persisted in giving
covert assistance to France, as exemplified by the presence of
the French squadron at Ferrol, she would be treated as a hostile
power. She did persist, and in October without any declara-
tion of war, Spanish treasure ships were seized. The effect was

to throw Spain definitely into the arms of FN to cause
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her to set about vigorous preparations for getting her fleet into
fighting order. Still there was no prospect of its being ready
for many months to come. Napoleon was anxious to separate
Great Britain from Austria, and sought to open distinct nego-
tiations by addressing, under his new imperial title, a personal
letter to King George. Pitt’s reply ignored the pitt declines
new title, and was a refusal to negotiate apart tonegotiate.
from the other powers. The tone of a note from Austria was so
pacific that Napoleon was balked of his intention of immediately
using his Boulogne army to threaten Austria, and thus excuse
himself for dropping the project of invading England—which,
as he had just informed his council, he had never really intended
to do. This, it has been conjectured, was the reason why, not
long afterwards, he resolved to turn his West Indian expedition
into a means for enabling his various fleets, including that of
Spain, to unite, and after all to carry out the old plan of invasion.

In January 1805 Villeneuve and Missiessy had their orders.
The latter, by combined luck and skill, escaped to sea under con-
ditions of weather which prevented the blockading 1s05. The
squadron from getting any clue to his destination. mh::mn
Villeneuve too slipped out of Toulon. Nelson, geets,
knowing that Sicily and the Eastern Mediterranean January.
were the sphere in which the French were likely to be dangerous,
directed his pursuit thither; but Villeneuve, finding that he
had been sighted by a couple of Nelson’s scouts, took discre-
tion to be the better part of valour, and retired to Toulon again.
It was only after this that we have the first intimation of a pre-
sumably new intention on Napoleon’s part to carry out the
grand combination of fleets in the West Indies, and to use it for
forcing the Channel.

On 30th March, Villeneuve with his fresh instructions, again
slipped out of Toulon. Nelson, still judging that the area of
first importance was the Eastern Mediterranean, g escapeot
had prepared a trap into which his adversary Villeneuve,
would have sailed if the East had been his destina- M27°h-
tion. But by good fortune Villeneuve picked up information
which enabled him to evade Nelson’s scouts and make his course
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to the westward : though he was in such haste to escape from
Nelson’s reach, that he barely gave himself time to pick up
some Spanish battleships at Cadiz before hurrying off to the
West Indics. Nor could Nelson at first discover what had
become of him, and for a time the English admiral held himself
bound to maintain his watch over the regions where he was
entitled to expect Villeneuve ; until at last he got the definite
information which showed that his adversary had departed
through the Straits—and at the same time other news, in the
circumstances of an alarming character, of which he would have
had early and timely information but for the loss of two dispatch
boats.

At the moment when Villeneuve was moving from Toulon,
and the Russian ambassador, though not the Tsar himself, was
The Malta  agreeing to Pitt’s terms, an expedition was sailing
expedition.  from Portsmouth, carrying six thousand troops to
Malta, with a view to an Italian campaign, and taking with it a
convoy of merchantmen. In the ordinary course, that expedi-
tion would have passed along ‘the linked line of blockading
squadrons from Brest to Cadiz, till it passed under the care of
Nelson. But Villeneuve was out through the Straits. Orde,
driven off from Cadiz by the unexpected approach of Villeneuve,
had fallen back to join Calder, who was watching Ferrol; but
though he had done his best he had failed to keep touch of Ville-
neuve, and no one knew where the great French fleet had
gone ; it was quite possible that the Malta expedition would
fall into his hands. As a matter of fact, Villeneuve had made
for the West Indies, but the pressing necessity was the protec-
tion of the Malta expedition from a probable very serious danger.

Nelson himself was thoroughly alive to the vital importance
of securing the Sicilies, and it was only when the safety of
Nelson the expedition was insured, a sufficient portion of
pursues his fleet detached to command the Mediterranean,
IV““‘"W"» and the last doubt banished from his own mind

a3 that the West Indies were Villeneuve’s objective,
that he was able, with a smaller fleet than Villeneuve’s, to start

in pursuit, A
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Napoleon’s plan of combination had already failed. The
- Brest fleet, as well as those from Rochefort and Toulon, was to
have come out if it could get to sea without fight- gopapge
ing a pitched battle; but it had failed to do so. ofthe-
Missiessy had failed to accomplish anything on hig SCmPvination.
own account in the West Indies; and since Villeneuve failed
to arrive in accordance with the original plan which had been
foiled in January, Missiessy, not having received the fresh in-
structions which were on their way, acted on his first instruc-
tions, and sailed for home. By the end of May the British line
of blockade, disturbed by the events of April, was again com-
plete—still in perfect readiness for a concentration upon the
Channel should that be called for; and the returned Missiessy
was again shut up in Rochefort.

Villeneuve had a month’s start of Nelson; but according to
his instructions he was to wait for Ganteaume from Brest before
driving the British out of the West Indies. By The chase
the beginning of June it was not Ganteaume, but after
Nelson who reached the West Indies. Nelson’s Villeneuve,
fleet, combined with Cochrane’s West India squadron,
though smaller than that of the combined French and Spaniards,
was more than Villeneuve cared to meet in a pitched battle,
and the Franco-Spanish fleet started to sail home again on
1oth June. Cochrane had remained undisturbed by the French
at Jamaica. There Nelson left him, having formed his own
conviction that the French were making for Europe, and once
more started in pursuit five days behind his quarry.

He judged that Villeneuve would make for the Mediterranean,
whereas Villeneuve was actually making for the Bay of Biscay.
Hence the pursuer did not overtake the pursued. The end of
But the dispatch boat sent direct to England the chase.
sighted the French, and on 8th July, Barham had warning of
the course Villeneuve was taking. He had fully expected that
the arrival of Nelson in the West Indies would send Villeneuve
home again. His object then was to intercept the approaching
fleet; and the blockade of Rochefort was raised in order to
strengthen Calder off Ferrol. Calder succeeded in finding

Innes's Eng. Hist.—Vol. 1v. B
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Villeneuve, whose fleet considerably outnumbered his own. The
fight was in itself successful; but Calder, not knowing what
the Rochefort fleet might do, did not follow up his victory, and
the French and Spaniards went to Vigo. They had not been
broken up, but Napoleon’s scheme of combination had gone
completely to pieces. A fortnight later, while Calder was watch-
ing for the Rochefort fleet, which had seized its opportunity,
slipped out, and disappeared into space, Villeneuve got into
Ferrol. The combined fleet there was so large that Calder’s
blockade could no longer be maintained. Meanwhile Nelson
reached the Mediterranean, and since it was clear that this
had not been Villeneuve’s objective, he made fresh arrange-
ments for possible contingencies, left Collingwood still in com-
mand, and carried his own squadron round to join Admiral
Cornwallis before Brest; the presumption being that the
objective of the French fleets would be the Channel.

The Channel concentration was completed in the middle of
August, but was not maintained. Villeneuve from Ferrol
Barham anda Might attempt to strike either northward or south-
Cornwallls.  ward. Cornwallis had no hesitation in reducing
his own force to the lowest point which he considered necessary
for defensive operations, and again dispatched Calder, with a
force sufficient to paralyse an active offensive on Villeneuve's
part, to watch Ferrol. The same view of the situation was taken
by Barham independently, and Cornwallis received instructions
to do precisely what he was doing—although severe criticism
has been passed upon him by modern critics for breaking up the
concentration. Subject to the security of the Channel, for
which, in the view of the best judges at the time, adequate pro-
vision was made, it was imperative that the enemy should not
snatch superiority in the Mediterranean; the more so because
of the critical relations between Austria, Russia and Britain.
Tne Meai.  AS a matter of fact, Villeneuve with his thirty sail
terranean,  of the line was actually at the moment sailing for
September.  Cadiz. There Collingwood, who with his small
squadron had fallen back on his approach, quietly renewed the

blockade on 21st August, reckoning with juﬂnﬁdence,
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that the enemy were in too demoralised a condition to be imme-
diately dangerous. Within the next few days the political sky
had so far cleared that the coalition had taken definite shape,
Napoleon had abandoned the whole scheme of invasion, and the
Mediterranean had once more become the vital area. Nelson
was again dispatched to take the Mediterranean command with
an increased fleet and a free hand.

Nelson had no doubt about his power of preventing Villeneuve
from taking an effective offensive; but his extreme anxiety
was to bring the enemy to battle and annihilate gyenenve
him—a very different thing from merely paralysing leaves Cadis,
him. Villeneuve had no mind to tempt fate; and 18th October.
Nelson had inspired him with the same sort of fear as Drake
had inspired in Queen Elizabeth’s days. Left to himself he
would have remained in Cadiz. But the emperor had chosen
to attribute the failure of his scheme of invasion to his admirals,
and especially to Villeneuve, who was driven to desperation by
the expectation of immediate supercession. On the night of
18th October he put to sea, for Nelson was holding off with his
main fleet, with the express object of enticing him out. The
intended movements of the two fleets were complicated by
changing winds, and it was not till the 21st that Nelson found
his adversary in the Bay of Trafalgar.! The British were numeri-
cally inferior, but had a large supply of the three-deckers which
appear to have been reckoned as equivalent to two pgase16 of
two-deckers apiece, and there was no comparison
between the personnel of the two fleets. The
enemy’s fleet was stretched in a line heading northwards. Nelson
with a north-west wind came down approximately at right
angles in two lines upon the French centre, pierced it at two
points, enveloped the centre and rear, and annihilated it. The
victory, though won at the cost of the life of the greatest of all
seamen, was absolutcly and completely crushing. After
Trafalgar, there was no more question of balancing British
fleets against naval combinations ; the united fleets of Europe
could not have wrested the naval supremacy from the British.

Trafalgar,
21st October.

1 See Note TRAFALGAR and diagram at end of volume.
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The brilliancy of Nelson’s career so outshines all others, that
in thinking of the Trafalgar campaign, we are apt to forget the
Some oon- complete mastery of the situation shown through-
siderations. out by the Admiralty, and the admirable manner
in which every move of the game was played by admirals and
captains, and above all by the octogenarian director of the
whole, Lord Barham. The action of two officers only has been
seriously criticised, that of Orde when Villeneuve escaped through
the Straits, and that of Calder after his engagement off Finis-
terre. Orde’s defence was apparently complete; he did the
best that it was possible for him to do in the circumstances.
Calder was court-martialled and censured ; not, however, for his
conduct in the battle, but because he did not renew the attack.
The worst that could be said of him was, that he committed an
error of judgment in not hanging on to Villeneuve—owing to
his mistaken impression that, having forced that particular
adversary away, it was his main business to prevent the fleet
from Rochefort, the blockade of which had been raised, from
joining the squadron at Ferrol. Nelson’s glory is his own, but
the honour due to others ought not to be forgotten.

That Barham was at the Admiralty was due to the resigna-
tion of Lord Melville, consequent upon a vote of censure on him,
Impeachment Which was carried in the House of Commons only
of Melville. Ly the casting-vote of the Speaker. The matter
charged against him was the misuse of public funds when he
was treasurer of the navy, during the previous war. He had,
in fact, been culpably careless, but had not misused public
money for his own ends; and when the vote of censure was
followed by an impeachment he was acquitted. Some changes
in the ministry followed, which placed Castlereagh in the office
of secretary ‘for War and the Colonies’; the Colonies having
recently been separated from the Home department, with which
they had previously becn associated.

At the moment when Villeneuve sailed for Cadiz, instead of
attempting to carry out the emperor’s design of a naval con-
centration upon the Channel, the coalition for which Pitt had been
working was at last brought into line. An Austrian advanced
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army was collected at Ulm ; the intention was that the Arch-
duke Charles should conduct a campaign in Northermn ltaly.
Russian troops were massing on the cast, and it gog coatttion
was imaginad that, before Napoleon could move,  formed,

the legions of the coalition would dominate the AWt
situation. Never was a more erroncous calenlation made,
Napoleon when he was dealing with fleets was an amateur, who
never understood the working of the British system or the con-
ditions of naval warfare, and always appears to have supposed
that the particular foolish thing which would best suit his plans,
* the thing he would like the cnemy to do, was the thing they
would do; and he had nothing but reproaches for the naval
experts who endeavoured to explain to him that the things he
wanted his admirals to do would be merely suicidal.  But of
warfare on land he was a past master; as compared with any
adversary he had yet encountered, a giant amongst pygmies,
The instant he abandoned his design of crushing Britain by an
invasion, his plans took shape for crushing the coalition before
any concentration of its forces could be accomplished,

For a time his intentions remained obscure, and the Austrians
were hardly perturbed. Then suddenly his armies were sweep-
ing across Germany, and on the day before Trafalgar, gye
20th October, the whole of the Austrian force at Austeriits
Ulm, thirty-three thousand men, found itself in a campaign.
trap from which there was no escape, and was compelled to sur-
render. The capitulation of Ulm left the road to Vienna open,
On 13th November the French army entered Vienna; on 3rd
December Napoleon, who had marched to meet the Russian
army and the Austrian troops which had joined them, won perhiaps
the most brilliant of his victorics at Austerlitz. The coalition
was shivered to atoms; Austria lay at Napoleon's mercy;
Russia recoiled from the terrific blow which had been struck,
angry because Austria had proved a broken reed, angry also
because Prussia made haste to seck the friendship of the victor,
French troops advancing upon Ulm had violated Prussian
territory, and Frederick William had been thereby almeost stirred
into joining the coalition, but found Austerlitz convincing., The 8
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Treaty of Pressburg surrendered to Napoleon’s kingdom of Italy
all that after Lunéville had remained to Austria of Italy and
Theocoalition the Adriatic coast. Napoleon’s protégé, the elector
shattered, of Bavaria, was rewarded with Swabia and the
December. Tyrol—a transfer of sovereignty to which the
Tyrolese themselves were to have something to say. With
corresponding liberality Napoleon made a present of Hanover
to Prussia, by the Treaty of Schonbrunn.

Under the tremendous strain, Pitt’s health had been breaking
down. Great as was the triumph of Trafalgar, for him Austerlitz
1806, Death Was a crushing blow. ‘ Roll up the map of Europe,’
of Pitt, 28rd  he said ; ‘it will not be wanted again for ten years.’
January. A few weeks later, on January 23rd, his indomit-
able spirit passed away. Almost, but not quite, within three
months the statesman and the sailor, who most of men had
checked Napoleon’s career and shaken his power, were removed
from the scene of struggle. Trafalgar, Austerlitz, and the
death of Pitt mark a definite epoch in the history of the
war.

But before we enter upon the second phase we must turn to
another region, where another side of the struggle was being
fought out.

The Marquess Wellesley had won in England unqualified
approval by his destruction of the hostile power of Mysore. His
Lord subsequent proceedings had been viewed with less
Wellesley favour. His doctrine that the British must assert
in India. themselves as the paramount power, and ought to
extend the territories under their direct control whenever the
thing could be done legitimately, was in flat contradiction to
the recognised theory that intervention in the native states was
only desirable when British interests were directly endangered,
and that every extension of territory was a burden rather than
an advantage. There was also serious friction between the
India House or the East India Company at home and the
governor-general for other reasons. The India House regarded
patronage as its own perquisite; Wellesley made excellent
appointments on his own responsibility without consulting the
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i biiaHouse; and the fact that his selections included Kinamen
! | ad connections of his own made matters worse from their point
I dview.  Still the power of his personality made itselt etiectively
} kt; and when the irritated governor-genetal tendered s e e
. mtion in 1802 it was not acceptal,

' With the Peace of Amiens, Wellesley received instuuctions (o

restore to the French the stations which had, as a matter of o,
been seized during the war. But Welleslev Wae ypoa gioten
ot satisfied with the situation, and helil on to von of the
them pending further instructions, very much . Fronchtowne.
the Addington government held on in Matta and Alexandin
His prescience was demonstrated when the war broke ont apam,
and when it was found that the official sent from France b fore
the end of the peace to take over the French towns hald it
tions to intrigue with the native powers,

It must not be forgotten that from the hepiuning to the vl
of Wellesley's career in India, he had Napoleon's ambitionm
his mind. With a vigilant government there was
about as much chance of the French getting i foot-  mahrattas
ing in India as there was of their getting i footing ;:2::::;:»"".
in England, but there was precisely the same kind _
of reason for the perpetual vigilance and precautions in the
absence whereof such a chance existed.  As yet it win quile
conceivable that if the Mahrattas really combined, they we ikl
not be content to share India with the British, but would make
a bid for an inclusive empire. It was certain that they would
welcome French help if they could get it ; and it was prf»lmhl-f
that such help would make the Mahrattas the more fe »rllll‘h"'_l'.':
and would bring concurrent advantages to the French cmpire
in its struggle with the British empire,  Hence, just as w«-ll«'-.sl--y
on his first arrival in India had at once insisted that thtf Nizam
and Tippu must dismiss all Frenchmen {rom their service, and

cease holding communications with the French :u-)y\lwlu.erc' :111:‘1‘
eryw i licy was directed to inducing 1€
M e o acmant Smine o And in like manner

Mahrattas to accept similar conditions. . o
he was anxious to procure with them his favourite arrangemen

of maintaining a British force theoretically for the security of
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the Mahratta govemment but actua.lly serving also asaguarantee
against Mahratta aggression.

Now at the moment when Wellesley had landed in India in
1798, the Mahratta menace was not imminent because of the
Mahratta divisions and feuds then prevailing amongst them.
dissensions. The pressing danger came from Tippu of Mysore ;
and Tippu was crushed, while the Nizam, by perfectly friendly
methods, was practically reduced to the position of a dependent
prince. The governor-general after this might have acted
on the presumption that if the Mahrattas were left alone
they would devour each other, so that the British ascendency
would have nothing to fear from them—an application of the old
principle divide et impera. But in his view India required to
have peace—imposed on it, if necessary, by the strong hand.
He did not want to see the Mahrattas fighting each other and
devastating half India in the process, with the possibility in the
background, that they might at any moment effect a reconcilia-
tion among themselves and turn against the British—and also
with the other possibility that the French would establish incon-
venient relations with them.

Theoretically, the he# of the whole Mahratta confederacy,
the five Mahratta powers, was the Peshwa at Puna, who at this
Baji Rao time was Baji Rao. Wellesley vainly endeavoured to
peshwa. persuade the Puna government to follow the example
of the Nizam, to accept a subsidiary alliance ceding territory
for the maintenance of a British contingent in Puna territory,
and to submit the control of foreign relations to the British
government. But no native state was willing to become a
vassal of the British until it felt that British protection was
necessary to its own preservation. So it had been with Oudh
and with Haidarabad. So it was now with the Mahrattas. But
since the death of the great Madhoji Sindhia in 1794, no one
endowed with his diplomatic powers had arisen to manipulate
Mahratta affairs. The new Sindhia, Daulat Rao, was still a
young man. The succession in Holkar’s dominions had only
just been decided after much fighting in favour of the reigning
Holkar, Jeswant Rao. At the turn of the century, Sindhia

PN
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and Holkar were quarrelling to get the mastery over the Peshwa
Baji Rao. In 1802z Holkar routed the forces of Sindhia and
Baji Rao undcr the walls of Puna ; and the Peshwa, who made
his own escape, decided that the time had come to place himself
temporarily under British protection. He accepted 1808

the proposals which he had before rejected, and on Treaty of
the last day of the year the Treaty of Bassein was Bassein,
signed by the official hcad of the Mahratta con- De°®™™
federacy. In May 1803 he was reinstated, with the governor-
general’s brother, Arthur Wellesley, at his elbow to take care
of him.

Now Holkar was for a time kept out of count by his disagree-
ments with the other two great Mahratta princes, Sindhia and
the Bhonsla of Nagpur. The Gaekwar in Gujerat also kept
quiet. But the Bhonsla was hard at work trying to form a
combination of powers against the British; and the Peshwa
was only too ready to desert his British allies and masters if he
could get his own position secured without their assistance. He
was helpless in the hands of the young soldier, who was to be
known in later days as the Iron Duke. But though he was
reinstated at Puna, Sindhia and the Bhonsla were still in his
territory at the head of masses of troops which they showed no
disposition to withdraw, though called upon to do so by
the British Resident. If they did not withdraw, war must
follow.

In August, the British agent with Sindhia was recalled; and
thus war was practically declared with Sindhia and the Bhonsla.
Central India was in effect shared between the 1495 1pe
Bhonsla, Sindhia and Holkar, while Sindhia's terri- Mahratta
tories ran up north, so as to include the western war.
portion of the Ganges and Jumna Doab, bordering upon the
provinces recently acquired from Oudh by the British. In this
northern region Sindhia, who was in person in Central India,
had a large force, partly of troops under the command of, and
organised by, the Frenchman Perron. There were thus two
theatres of war, the northern in Upper Hindustan, and the
southern, where Sindhia and the Bhonsla were operating together
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in Central India. In the southern area, Wellesley gave the
command to his brother, whose military capacities had been pre-
viously tested in the Mysore war. In the north theoperations
were entrusted to General Lake. On 23rd September, General
Assaye, Wellesley routed the Mahrattas at Assaye. Lake
Beptember.  defeated the Mahrattas and captured Delhi, and
with it the person of the old Mogul, Shah Alam ; then he cap-
tured Agra, and finally crushed Sindhia’s second army at Laswari
Laswari, on 31st October. During November Arthur
October. Wellesley inflicted a second decisive defeat upon
the Bhonsla at Argaon, and then captured his principal fortress
at Gawilgarh.

So decisive were the two campaigns that in December, only
four months after the war began, Sindhia and the Bhonsla made
their submission. Sindhia ceded the district north of the river
Chambal, so that the headquarters of the Mogul empire, and
the Mogul himself, passed under British instead of under Mahratta
protection, and the British were thenceforth able to act as the
or representatives of the titular Lord of India, whose

eaties
with Sinania legal supremacy every one professedly acknow-
;‘:::;’-:el;“v ledged. The Bhonsla ceded the province called

' Berar, which was transferred to the Nizam, and
also Cuttack on the east coast, which had hitherto broken
the land connection between the Bengal and Madras presi-
dencies. Both the Mahratta princes surrendered their old claim
to the tribute called ckauth, agreed to accept British arbitration
in disputes with other powers, and dismissed all French officers.
This in effect completed Wellesley’s work ; for now the British
held the whole east coastal territory continuously, from Calcutta
to Cape Comorin, the whole of the Ganges and Jumna Doab
from Allahabad to Delhi, and the control of the Mogul himself.
Every one of the larger states was pledged to submit to British
arbitration in the event of a dispute with a powerful neighbour,
and every one was pledged to employ no French officers, and
to hold no communication with France. By the beginning
of 1804 the paramount position of the British authority was

completely established.
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Yet trouble was not over. Holkar had stood aloof while the
war was going on ; but he was not convinced by the fate which
had befallen Sindhia and the Nagpur rajah. His ;g0
attitude became so aggressive that during 1804 it Holkars
was necessary to attack him ; and the campaign was defiance.
one of the most unfortunate in our Indian annals. Colonel
Monson was dispatched against him with an inadequate force.
Holkar adopted sound tactics, evaded a pitched battle, harassed
Monson’s communications, cut off his supplies, and finally drove
him into a helpless and ignominious retreat, so that the unfor-
tunate commander only struggled back to Agra with a remnant of
his men, while Holkar gathered his forces and made a dash upon
Delhi. The moment was one of extreme danger ; had the crisis
been continued a very little longer, the whole of the Mahratta
forces would have been in the field again. But Holkar was re-
pulsed at Delhi, and then by the vigorous action of General
Fraser was driven out of the Doab. He would undoubtedly
have been completely shattered if at the critical moment the
direction had not been disorganised by the peremptory recall of
the great governor-general, whose vigorous policy had at last
proved too much for the home authorities.

In July 1805 Cornwallis reappeared as governor-general, bent
on carrying out his own old policy of avoiding intervention with
the native powers except under dire necessity. jgqs,

He was too strong a man not to have realised in a Cornwallis
very short time that the conditions had changed Fe*"r2&
since 1793 ; but he survived only three months after his arrival,
and the acting governor-generalship was entrusted to the hands
of an Indian official, Sir George Barlow, who was 1806. Barlow.
an extreme adherent of the non-intervention policy. The result
was that although Lake was not prevented from driving Holkar
from pillar to post, clean out of his own dominion, the peace or
treaties which were concluded in 1806 restored his posses-
sions ; and ‘also most unfortunately withdrew the protection
which the British had promised to the princes of Rajputana,
who were left as before to the tender mercies of Holkar and
Sindhia.
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One more event must be recorded in connection with this first
phase of the great war. It was almost the last act of William
1606 Pitt to dispatch an expedition which again took
Cape Colony  possession of the Dutch colony at the Cape, in order
occupied, that it might not be used by the French as a half-
’ way house for war upon the communications
between England and India. In January 1806, less than a week
before the grecat minister’s death, the Dutch surrendered to the

British, in whose hands the Cape has remained ever since.

III. TuE CONTINENTAL SYSTEM, 1806-1808

To the last the whole burden of the administration had rested
upon Pitt’s shoulders; deprived of him, the ministry was far
250e ‘The from strong, and contained no dominating per-
ministry of Sonality. Lord Hawkesbury (afterwards earl of
::‘l::& Liverpool) was in later years to prove a minister

’ of the same type as Henry Pelham, an adept in the
art of persuading antagonistic personalities to act in concert if
not in perfect harmony. But as yet he was not prepared to
undertake the task of leadership. In the circumstances, the
king found himself obliged to turn to Grenville. Grenville and
Fox were now in an alliance too close to be severed ; and al-
though Fox had been in opposition for thirty years past, except
during two months of 1782 and eight months of 1783, he had
been in all men’s eyes Pitt’s sole rival in political stature. Both
he and Grenville were now of opinion that the first necessity
was to form a ‘ national’ government including all the best men
available. Fox had displayed a fine magnanimity when the
king rejected Pitt’s wish to include him in the ministry in 1804.
It was no longer possible for the king to withhold his countenance,
however reluctantly, from him; and the ‘ministry of all the
talents ’ was formed, with Grenville at its head, Fox as foreign
secretary, Sidmouth (Addington) and Ellenborough to repre-
sent the Tories, with Grey, Spencer, Windham and Moira among
its other members. In the seven months of life which remained

».
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to him, Fox was destined to realise that his faith in Napoleon’s
honesty of purpose was vain. He himself strove hard to procure
a peace upon a permanent basis, but learnt by wgpe1ast
direct personal experience that peace without honour Whig ad-

or security for Britain was all that the emperor Ministration.
would condescend to concede. The Grenville ministry lasted
for little more than a year, ending in March 1807 ; and its place
was taken by the Tory ministry of the duke of Portland, wherein
no section of the Whigs was represented. From that time the
Whigs as a party remained in the wilderness for more than twenty
years. During those twenty years the domestic policy of the
government was of a consistently reactionary order; varying
only in the same sort of way as Whig ministries varied from
each other during the old era of the Whig supremacy, when the
Tories had formed no more than an insignificant minority in the
House of Commons and the House of Lords alike.

The Grenville administration can claim credit for one single
achievement ; it passed the Act which abolished the slave-trade.
The interests involved had for a long time stood
in the way of a measure which Pitt himself had abolition of
advocated for years, and which had steadily been the slave.
gaining the support of all persons of enlightenment. *
Even as late as 1804 the Lords rejected an Abolition Bill which
had been passed in the Commons ; in 1806 the resistance of the
House of Lords was giving way. A general election after Fox’s
death practically made no change in the distribution of parties
in parliament ; nevertheless the bill abolishing the slave-trade
was accepted by both Houses on 25th March 1807, the Oppo-
sition vote in the Commons numbering only sixteen.

The fall of the ministry, almost at the same moment, turned
not upon the war or foreign policy but upon a constitutional
question. Pitt had given his promise to the king pay ortne
that he would not himself again raise the Catholic ministry,
question. The Grenville ministry were under no M&ro®- .
such obligation, and proposed to extend to the Roman Catholics
in England as well as in Ireland, where the concession had already
been made, the right to hold colonels’ commissions in the army.
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The king refused consent, and the proposal was dropped ; but the
cabinet, at a meeting from which the anti-Catholic members
were absent, drew up a minute which was submitted to the king,
stating that they reserved the right of again advising him in the
same sense in the future. George replied by requiring them in-
dividually to pledge themselves never again to tender such ad-
vice. They refused to give the pledge and resigned, claiming
that under no circumstances was it legitimate for ministers to
bind themselves by any pledges as to what advice they might
tender to the king in the future. That principle passed into
one of the recognised axioms of constitutional government ;
but at this time, when reactionary ideas were dominant, it was
so far from appearing axiomatic that resolutions embodying it
were shelved in parliament.

The British supremacy on the seas had been established beyond
all possibility of challenge in the hour when Nelson fell. Napo-
1806, leon’s supremacy on the Continent had been estab-
Napoleon’s  lished a few weeks later at Austerlitz. The treaties
SUPremacy.  of Pressburg and Schoénbrunn with Austria and
Prussia left no power prepared to defy his might save Russia.
The attempt at a combined British and Russian movement in
Southern Italy had come to nothing, leading only to the over-
running by the French of the Italian half of the Sicilian kingdom
and the flight of King Ferdinand to the island of Sicily, where
British fleets rendered him secure. Austria was shorn of great
portions of her territory, which were appropriated either to
Napoleon’s Italian kingdom or to his obedient protégés of South
Germany. Prussia had purchased what amounted to little but
a contemptuous toleration by promising to close the Prussian
ports to British trade, and in effect to declare war against the
emperor’s most obstinate enemy ; for which she paid the penalty
by finding her ports blockaded. The Austrian emperor formally
dropped his title as the successor of the Casars and of Charle-
magne ; the Holy Roman empire ceased to exist. The empcror
of the French had taken over the heritage of the Ceasars and of
Charlemagne ; he was the true King of Kings, and he emphasised
the fact by setting up one of his brothers, Louis, as king of

s~
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Holland, and another, Joseph, as king of Naples. Also he com-
bined his German vassals under his imperial protection in the
Confederation of the Rhine.

Even while these things were going on, Fox was making his
great effort for pacification. But Fox, like Pitt before him,
refused to treat apart from Russia; nor could sug- peathofFox,
gestions for the restoration of Hanover tempt him 8eptember.
to agree to the restitution of the Cape and of Malta. Before his
death on 16th September, he knew that his generous dream was
a dream and nothing more.

Whatever may have been Pitt’s defects as a war minister,
there was assuredly none better to take his place. The policy
of isolated expeditions, so persistently employed by pgyy of
the elder Pitt in the Seven Years’ War, had a very small
definite purpose, thoroughly approved by the ®XPeditions.
greatest soldier of that time, Frederick the Great. Those expedi-
tions served as diversions perpetually confusing and hampering
the operations of the French army in Germany. In the war
with the Republic, the younger Pitt had followed his father’s
practice, but without the same strategical motive which had
been its one justification. In the war with the emperor, he had
again prepared an expeditionary force, which had been dis-
patched to Malta in 1805, but this time it had been with the
definite purpose, partly strategical and partly political, of co-
operating with Russia in securing the Two Sicilies, lest Napoleon
should seize them and use them for operations in the East.
Moreover, the scheme had been essential to the creation of a
new coalition., But the Grenville ministry reverted to the plan
of miscellaneous expeditions with forces too small to effect any-
thing. Thus an army was sent to Calabria under Sir John
‘Stuart. It fought and defeated an army of French veterans
at Maida, which showed, as Abercromby had shown 1s06. Maida.
in 1801, that French veterans were not invincible, and that
there were no better troops than British infantry. But Stuart
could not conquer Calabria, and was obliged to retire to Sicily.
Another expedition was sent to South America, where, after an
initial success under Beresford, it met with utter disaster under
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the miserably incompetent General Whitelock, at Buenos Ayres.
This disaster befell at the beginning of 1807; and about the
1807. same time, Turkey being at the moment domi-
Buenos Ayres nated by French influence, a force was dispatched
and BgyPt.- {5 Egypt, and a squadron to the Dardanelles,
with no results except those of forcing the Porte into the arms of
France and of a complete fiasco in Egypt, ending in capitulation
and evacuation.

All these operations were merely illustrations of inefficient direc-
tion at headquarters. They would have served no great purpose
if they had been successful ; they wasted men and money; they
dissipated energies which ought to have been concentrated ; and
their general effect was damaging. Still they did not materially
advance the projects of Napoleon. The decisive events of 1806
Prussia. did not have their source in England, but in Prussia.
The policy of that power had been vacillating in the extreme,
directed exclusively by selfish considerations, and even from
the selfish point of view singularly short-sighted.  Before
Austerlitz there were influences, increasing in strength, which
were opposed to the policy of neutrality and opposed to Napoleon.
1f the French emperor’s onslaught upon Austria had been delayed,
the Prussian war party would have gained the upper hand, and
Prussia would have joined the coalition. Austerlitz turned the
scale, and Prussia made her humiliating and dishonourable
treaty with the victor. But in the course of the ensuing months
she found first that her commerce was cut off, and then that the
French emperor was bargaining with Fox for the restitution of
Hanover to Britain; whereas the acquisition of Hanover by
Prussia was the bait for which she had sold herself. Since the
death of the great Frederick, Prussia had not progressed ; she
was living on her old reputation, and imagined that, because
1806. Jena, Frederick had won Rossbach, her armies were a
October. match for those of the French emperor. The dis-
closure of the negotiations about Hanover turned the scale
again ; the war party gained the upper hand. Prussia declared
.war upon Napoleon, and called upon Russia and Britain to aid
her, while she flung herself single-handed against Napoleon.

——
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Neither Russia nor Britain could render immediate assistance.
On 14th October the Prussian armies were shattered to pieces
at the two battles of Jena and Auerstadt, and Napoleon very
soon entered Berlin.

No one but Bliicher attempted to resist the advance of the
victor, whose terms grew more and more merciless, as he saw
how completely his adversary was prostrated. prom yona to
They were too humiliating even for Frederick Tilait, July
William, who retreated with such fragments of the 8"
army as could be collected to join the Russians in East Prussia.
The rest of the states of Western Germany, including Saxony,
were forced to join the Confederation of the Rhine, while a few
of them were combined to form the kingdom of Westphalia for
the emperor’s youngest brother Jerome. Then Napoleon ad-
vanced against the Russians, and in the battle of Eylau learnt,
as Frederick the Great had learnt before, of what stubborn stuff
Russian troops were made. Eylau was the first real reverse
sustained by the all-conquering Corsican, and Eylau was only
a check. More would have come of it if the British had acted
with vigour in the Baltic; but they were wasting their energies
elsewhere, the French were able to reduce the fortresses on the
Baltic which were still holding out, and the Tsar was filled with
wrath at what seemed to him our cowardly desertion. Before-
midsummer of 1807, Napoleon had gathered an immense force
and after a desperate struggle, accompanied by frightful carnage
on both sides, inflicted a defeat upon the Russians at Friedland
on 14th June. Eleven days later Napoleon met Alexander in a
conference at Tilsit, held upon a raft in mid-stream in the river
Niemen, and the two autocrats became for a time allies instead
of enemies. '

On 7th July the peace was signed. Russia deserted her allies ;
in effect the treaty was an agreement that Napoleon should be
emperor of the West, and Alexander emperor of Treaty of
the East. Prussia reaped the reward of her selfish Tilsit.
vacillations, the vacillations not of a people but of a thoroughly
incompetent government. She was deprived of Prussian Poland,
which was transformed into the duchy of Warsaw, and delivered

Innes’s Eng. Hist.—Vol. 1v, C
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over to the now subservient king of Saxony; her western
provinces were incorporated in the kingdom of Westphalia.
The great port of Danzig in the Baltic was declared free and
was virtually annexed by France. But, what was of the first
importance from Napoleon’s point of view, Russia was to come
in to his system of closing European ports to British commerce,
and was to bring in the small powers which still stood outside,
Denmark, Sweden and Portugal.

Meanwhile, however, a few weeks after the battle of Eylau,
the Grenville ministry in England had fallen. The figurehead
1807 of the new ministry was the duke of Portland,
The Portiana Castlereagh returned to the ministry for war, and
mﬁh George Canning went to that for foreign affairs.

Neither Canning nor Castlereagh could dominate
the government, and most unhappily an intense personal anti-
pathy prevented them from working in concert, The govern-
ment continued to suffer from the want of consistent and deter-
mined direction by a single head; the plans of one minister
were frequently thwarted by the open or secret antagonism of
one or another of his colleagues ; but both Canning and Castle-
reagh were at least bent upon vigorous action.

Canning had no sooner come into office than he sought to take
energetic measures for a Baltic expedition ; but before Britain
Copenhagen. was ready, the battle of Friedland had been won
and lost, and the Tsar had definitely gone over to France. Infor-
mation reached Canning which left him no doubt that the Treaty
of Tilsit was directed against Britain, and that a plan was on
foot similar to that which had been frustrated by Nelson six
years before at the battle of the Baltic. Canning repeated the
counterstroke. Denmark was at peace with Britain, but an
expedition was dispatched to Copenhagen, which demanded the
transfer of the Danish flect, to be held by Britain till the close
of the war. The Danes refused, Copenhagen was bombarded,
and Denmark was forced to submit and surrender her fleet,
though she was rendered thereby bitterly hostile to Britain
during the rest of the war. The action was a breach of inter-
pational law, to be excused on the sole ground of sheer necessity.
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The alternative was to allow the Danish flect to pass into the
hands of hostile powers, and to be brought into play against
Britain when it suited their convenience.  But in fighting
with Napoleon there was the further excuse that the emperor
never hesitated for a moment to set international law at nought
if he could gain anything by doing so. Of that fact he was on
the point of giving very emphatic illustration ; though he
denounced the treachery and general iniquity of Canning’s
action in most unmecasured terms. Nevertheless, though
Napoleon was the last person who had the shadow of a right to
pose as the champion of international rights, it may be ques-
tioned whether Canning’s action was really justificd, whether
the military necessity was as great as he claimed.  The British
fleet had little to fear from all the fleets of Europe, and the
seizure of the Danish flect in time of peace gave colour to the
impression that Britain was as reckless as Napoleon himself
in disregarding the rights of others when her own interests were
concerned.

Napoleon’s wrath was extreme, not because his moral sensi-
bilities were shocked, but because he had calculated upon decisive
results from the scheme which was foiled by Can- e
ning’s stroke. Unable to strike at the British ocontinental
power on the sea by means of hostile fleets, he had *Y*%™
developed his scheme for cutting off the sources of that power
by destroying British commerce through the closure of the con-
tinental markets. The British empire was strong because it
was rich ; it had fought French aggression in Europe by filling
the war-chests of its continental allies. If British commerce
were killed, there would be no more British wealth and no more
British power. If British commerce were shut out completely
from Europe it would be killed, therefore every European port
was to be closed to it. This was the scheme to which Napoleon
gave the name of the Continental System, and this was the scheme
which he hoped to carry to completion by the Treaty of Tilsit.

The perfect working of the system rested upon the two funda-
mental assumptions that sea-borne goods were not needed in
Europe, and that the entire coastline of E“t:ould be sealed
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up; or failing these two, upon a third assumption, that Europe
could get the sea-borne goods she required without the help
The fallacy. of British commerce. All the three assumptions
were actually falsified in the event; British commerce was not
ruined at all by his project, but expanded in spite of it. The
coastline never was sealed up; Europe could never do without
British goods; neutral commerce was all but annihilated, and
virtually it was only from Britain that the Continent could
procure the sea-borne goods she needed.

But this was not the event which Napoleon anticipated. He
had never grasped the truth that France suffered more than
Sealing tne  Dritain by the exclusion of British goods from
Buropean  French ports and ports under French control.
porte. His continued exclusion of British goods during
the Peace of Amiens had been one of the most significant marks
of his scarcely veiled hostility to Britain. After the war was
renewed and Spain was drawn into it, every port in Western
Europe was closed, from the Texel to Civita Vecchia, except those
of Portugal. In 1806 the closure extended to all the Italian
ports except those of the papal states, and also to the West-
phalian and Prussian ports until Prussia threw down the gauntlet
so disastrously for herself. It was then that Napoleon believed
1506, his hour had come for stamping out British com-
The Berlin Mmerce. After Jena, on 21st November, Napoleon
g::mim issued the Berlin Decree, which declared that all

*  British ports were in a state of blockade, prohibited
France and all the vassal states from commerce with them, and
incidentally pronounced that all British merchandise in the
ports of France and her dependencies was forfeit, and that all
the British subjects therein were prisoners of war. Russia,
Sweden, Denmark, Portugal, the papal states, Austria and
Turkey were still outside, but Napoleon was confident enough
that it would not be for long. He himself soon afterwards saw
to the closing of the papal ports; while Tilsit secured Russia,
and was intended to secure Sweden, Denmark and Portugal.

Napoleon failed to realise that if he could hit Britain hard
by closing markets to her, she could hit still harder. - The Gren-

P,
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ville ministry retorted by the Orders in Council. issued in
January 1807, which declared all the ports of France, of her de-
pendencies, and of states which recognised the Berlin
Decree, to be in a state of blockade; which meant yue Orders
that any neutral vessels sccking to trade to any 1 Ceundl,
of those ports would be treated as blockade-runners Jeanasy.
In other words, where British commerce was not admitted, no
commerce should be admitted. Both parties sufficiently
ignored the doctrine of * eficctive blockade '; but of the two
the British were much the better able to ¢nforce the penaltics,
since French ships could not even make a pretence of blockading
British ports, whereas it was by no means easy for neutrals to
trade between French and allied ports without being captured.
After Tilsit fresh Orders in Council stiffened those of January,
and the Berlin Decree was stiffened by the Milan Decrec in the
following December. On the one hand, owing to the superior
efficacy of the British in enforcing the Orders in Council upon
neutrals, the irritation of neutrals as such was greater against
the British than against the French; and this some con-
presently led to war between Britain and the United ®equences.
States. On the other hand, it was not the Orders in Council
but the decrees of Napoleon which reduced Europe to dire
straits, by depriving her of the goods which had become necessary
to her; therefore the irritation in Europe against the author of
the decrees grew constantly stronger. And at the same time an
immense and highly lucrative if dangerous smuggling traffic
arose for the illicit importation into Europe of the goods which
were openly prohibited. Nor were Napoleon’s eyes opened,
even when he found that he himself was under the necessity of
clothing his own soldiers in British overcoats, and of issuing
licences for the importation and sale of prohibited goods. The
destruction of the British power by the complete sealing up
of the Continent remained fixed in his mind as one primary
object in all his designs.

After Tilsit, the one great gap in Napoleon’s barrier was
Portugal. Possibly the French emperor was already contem-
plating the transformation of the Spﬂninsula into two
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more vassal kingdoms under brothers or brothers-in-law of his
own. Portugal may for the moment have been intended for a
Napoleon’s sister and her husband, now duke of Tuscany, which
designs on  hewished toabsorb in hisownkingdom of North Italy.
Portugal, But the matter of first consequence was to compel
Portugal to desert the neutrality, for permission to enjoy which
she had already paid a high price, and to close her ports to the
British trade. The course which he followed, however, leaves
no doubt that he intended from the outset to eject the house of
Braganza, and to employ the subjugation of Portugal as an
excuse for filling Spain itself with French troops, which would
and Bpain.  enable him to carry out the annexation of Spain
in one form or another. For the Spanish government had in a
moment of extraordinary rashness before Jena shown ominous
signs of believing that it would soon be time to change sides,
though the minister Godoy had lost no time in returning to a
cringing attitude when he saw what a mistake he had been
making. Spain, however, was kept in the dark as to Napoleon’s
intentions ; Godoy, indeed, was led on to a comfortable belief
that Portugal was to be dismembered, that he himself was to
have a principality carved out of it, and that his imbecile master,
Charles 1v., was to be dignified by the title of ‘ Emperor of the
Two Indies,’ with half the Portuguese colonies added to his
dominion. Such in effect was the promise of the Treaty of
Fontainebleau (October 1807) with which Napoleon cajoled
him.

But while the emperor was playing with Godoy, he was coercing
Portugal. The prince regent, who was ruling on behalf of an
1807 insane mother, would have submitted, not without
Napoleon reluctance, to an order to close the ports to the
a}::'ml;"wnr British, though it would have spelt ruin. But when

’ he was ordered further to declare war against
Britain, he struggled enough to provide the emperor with an
excuse for dispatching a force to Lisbon under General Junot.
Portugal was wholly unable to resist ; but the prince, the court,
and some thousands of other persons were able to betake them-
selves to the British ships which were lying in the Tagus, and

A
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were by them conveyed to Brazil, the great Portuguese colony
in South America. The prince nominated a provisional govern-
ment which he left behind him, but for all practical purposes
they were simply at Junot’s orders.

In Spain, Napoleon found his opportunity in the jealous hos-
tility of the crown prince, Ferdinand, to the minister who
dominated his parents. Godoy was detested in the yq9q,
country, and as a natural consequence, the prince The Spanish
was credited with all sorts of good qualities which "™
he was very far indeed from possessing. We need not give the .
sordid story of court intrigues in detail. Godoy found occasion
to alarm the old king and queen with a tale of treason on the
part of their son. The son was imprisoned, disgraced, and
released again. Napoleon’s battalions were moving across the
border into Spain, on the pretext that Portugal was offering
resistance with British help. In February 1808 they actually
seized Pampeluna. A few days later, they had evicted the
Spanish garrisons from San Sebastian on the north coast, and
Barcelona in the Mediterranean. There was a popular impres-
sion that the French were coming to remove Godoy. In March
there was an émeute at Aranjuez directed against the minister ; he
escaped, but the old king was terrified and abdicated in favour
of his son—to the immense joy of the populace. Napoleon had
entrusted the management of affairs to his brother-in-law, the
brilliant cavalry officer Murat. There came a period of futile
intriguing ; Charles betook himself to France, declaring that his
abdication was not voluntary, but had been forced upon him ;
Ferdinand was enticed over the frontier to the presence of the
emperor who was at Bayonne; and there the king and the
prince were both compelled formally to resign the Spanish
crown, which an obedient group of Spanish notables who had
also been brought over the frontier, invited the emperor to
bestow upon his brother Joseph, the king of the Two Sicilies.
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IV. THE PENINSULAR WAR, 1808-1814

Napoleon was the victim of two misconceptions which proved
fatal to him. He never realised that the British sca power could
not be broken except by superior fighting fleets ; geq power
and being wholly without national sentiment him- and
self he never suspected that the sentiment of BAtonalism.
nationalism was a force which needed to be taken into account.
Therein no doubt his misconception was shared by the great
majority of European politicians ; it had never occurred to any
chancellery in Europe that provinces might not be handed over
from Spain to Austria, from Austria to France, passed from one
sovereign to another like shuttlecocks, without any considcration
for the feelings of the population. No national sentiment had
entered into the struggle terminated by the Peace of Amiens;
the interests involved had been those not of nations but of
dynasties. Yet it was to the awakening of national sentiment
that Napoleon owed his downfall, and the first sudden and
startling expression of that sentiment was evoked by his treat-
ment of the Spanish people.

Before Joseph Bonaparte was proclaimed king of Spain, before
the month of May 1808 was out, the flame of insurrection had
been kindled, and every individual province of tme Spanish
Spain was rising in arms on behalf of the Bourbon problem.
prince who was supposed to be a patriot. Among the Spanish
provinces there was very little concert and no real central con-
trol ; each had its own provincial junta, or governing council,
acting on its own responsibility, regardless of the central junta
which had no real authority. It is not surprising that Napoleon
should have imagined that no serious difficulties were to be
anticipated from such an insurrection. The armies of Spain
were unorganised and undisciplined. Austria had been twice
brought to her knees by one crushing blow, at Hohenlinden and
at Austerlitz ; Prussia had collapsed at Jena. Much less would
be required for the subjugation of Spain. It was not perceived
that Spain was not an organism with a heart which could be ,
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struck at. Every separate province required to be held under
by a great permanent garrison. A concentration in one quarter
which reduced the garrison in another only gave insurrection a
fresh opportunity of making head. The lines of communication
ran across mountain ranges and over rivers where they were
perpetually exposed to the raiding of guerillas. The roads were
few and for the most part bad ; and no army could move without
carrying great stores of food which could only be accumulated
with great difficulty. The very conditions which would have
made it the simplest of tasks to crush a dynastic resistance in
Spain made it all but impossible to crush a determined popular
resistance. .

Napoleon received his first lesson promptly enough. In the
north Bessiéres seized and secured the main line of communi-
1808, cation with Madrid, the road passing from Bayonne
Baylen, through Burgos. But in Aragon, Saragossa defied
July. attack ; Catalonia throughout the war remained
an isolated theatre where the French could never establish
control. Southwards, the column dispatched against Valencia
was repulsed ; the column which advanced under Dupont into
Andalusia was surrounded and compelled to capitulate at Baylen
in July, at the moment when King Joseph was entering Madrid ;
and the emperor’s nominee was obliged to retire hastily beyond
the Ebro. And in the meanwhile Portugal was taking example
by Spain, and it was extremely doubtful whether Junot with his
25,000 men would find the task of holding it in subjection an
easy one. '

The liberation of Portugal was of the utmost importance to
the British government, which was prompt also to ally itself
The with the official Spanish government of the central
Peninsular  junta, disregarding of course the usurpation of
r:;u‘:?“v Joseph Bonaparte. With British command of the

sea, Portugal was an open gate, and thither a force
was dispatched of 13,000 men under the immediate command of
Sir Arthur Wellesley who had rendered brilliant service in India.
Unfortunately, however, he was to be followed by two senior
officers, Sir Hew Dalrymple and Sir Harry Burrard. Sir Arthur
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landed at Mondego Bay, and having driven back at Rolica a
smaller French force sent by Junot to hold him in check, pushed
southwards towards Lisbon. On 21st August he won a decisive
victory over Junot at Vimiero. Burrard, however, vimiero
had now arrived upon the scene, and though he left and Ointra.
his subordinate to win the battle and take the credit of it, he
refused to allow the pursuit which would have made the victory
a completely crushing one. Then Dalrymple arrived to take
the supreme command, and he proved no less cautious than
Burrard. Hence the fruit of Vimiero was the so-called Con-
vention of Cintra, which caused great wrath both to Napoleon
and in England. Junot with the whole of his troops evacuated
Portugal ; they were conveyed to a French port in British ships,
while a separate convention was concluded with the Russian
squadron, which was at the time lying blockaded in the Tagus.
All three generals who had a hand in the convention were recalled
for inquiry ; and the command of the British troops in Portugal
was passed on to Sir John Moore who had been withdrawn from
Sweden, whither he had been sent in the vain hope that he would
be able to co-operate with the hopelessly impracticable monarch
Gustavus 1v.

Hitherto the réle of Britain had been that of a naval not of a
military power. Outside of India the only military operation
she had passed through with credit during the whole yap0100n's
of the previous war had been the Egyptian cam- operations,
paign of 1801. Since 1803 she had nothing to her Nevember:
credit except Stuart’s fruitless victory at Maida. In Napoleon’s
eyes military intervention on the part of the British was a folly
which need not disturb his calculations, though it might be turned
to account when he should have leisure to wipe them off the
board. The immediate business on hand was to put an end to
the annoying insurrection in Spain. It was not so simple as he
had imagined ; that was proved by the disaster at Baylen. He
would take the command himself and employ an overwhelm-
ing force of veterans instead of trusting to second-rate generals
and young troops. His plan of campaign was masterly. The
Spanish central junta was utterly incompetent and incapable
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of organising any general plan, while it left the several chiefs
of the several forces without any directing head. In November
Napoleon had reached Madrid, delivering crushing blows to the
Spanish armies on his way. They were scattered and seemed
powerless to make head against him ; it only remained to sub-
jugate Andalusia and to leave his subordinates to finish off the
work in the two northern corners of the Peninsula, Galicia and
Catalonia. '

Yet the whole plan was foiled by the factor which he had
thought he could ignore. Sir John Moore in Portugal despaired
st Jobn of rescuing Madrid when he saw how little reliance
Moore’s could be placed on Spanish assistance. His opinion
;"::*b";' was already formed that the task which had been

" laid on his shoulders was utterly hopeless, that the
Spaniards were spiritless, that Portugal was indefensible, that
there was nothing for it but withdrawal. He had already issued
orders for a retreat to the coast ; then he formed the resolution of
first striking one blow, and flung himself suddenly with his 20,000
men upon the French line of communication in the north where
Soult was in command. The effect of this unexpected move was
decisive. Napoleon sped northwards in force, intending to over-
whelm Moore. This was. just what Moore had desired. As the
great French army approached he began his retreat. The with-
drawal of the troops to the north made it quite impossible for
the emperor to carry out his plan for the immediate subjugation
of Southern Spain and a march upon Lisbon. Napoleon, finding
that the British army had eluded him, and not caring to engage
in person in a pursuit which could carry with it no great credit
and might damage his prestige, left Soult to complete the opera-
tions and betook himself to France ; nor did he again set foot in
1809, the Peninsula. Moore made for Corunna, where he
Corunna, expected to find transports to carry his troops back
16th January. 4, England. Soult, following hard on his track,
only overtook him at Corunna itself, where the French attack
was beaten off after a brilliantly fought battle in the course of
which Moore was himself killed (16th January 180g). The French
were unable to interfere in any way with the embarkation of the
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exhausted troops. With little more than 20,000 men Moore had
successfully dislocated the whole scheme of operations of an
army numbering about a quarter of a million men under the
leadership of the greatest captain in the world.

It was at this time that Castlereagh came to the momentous
decision, from which he never wavered, of maintaining an army
in Portugal under Wellesley’s command to secure Wellesley
that country and to co-operate with the Spaniards sent to
in the deliverance of Spain. Wellesley came out Fertusal
of the inquiry into the Cintra Convention with flying colours, and
was reappointed to the Peninsula command. He expressed to
Castlereagh his own conviction that 30,000 British troops would
be able, if the Portuguese themselves were tolerably organised,
to defend Portugal against any armies of less than 100,000 men,
and that so large a force could not be detached by the French for
Portuguese operations. What a British force might do in the
way of helping the Spaniards would depend very much on the
Spaniards themselves. Further, as Wellesley judged the situa-
tion, if the French should attempt to employ more than 100,000
men against him they would find it impossible to provision such
an army—as a shrewd judge of war had remarked long before,
Spain is a country where a small army will be beaten and a large
one will starve. This was the entirely sound hypothesis upon
which Sir Arthur Wellesley conducted the Peninsular War.
There was, however, a strong body of opinion, with good military
authority behind it, that the Peninsular War was a mistake ;
and the general was always hampered by the disconcerting
knowledge that one disaster would certainly lead to his own
recall, and not improbably to withdrawal from the Peninsula.

After the évent we can see that Wellesley was right. The
presence of a British army under his command practically had the
effect of keeping a quarter of a million of Napoleon’s ggect of the
best troops and half his best generals locked up Peninsular
in the Peninsula for four years. But at the time it "™
was not unnatural that critics should have doubted the ‘ Sepoy ’
general’s capacity for defeating marshals of the highest reputa-
tion, or should have suffered from Napoleon’s own persistent
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illusion that the Spanish resistance would collapse, and the
British troops be driven ignominiously into the sea.

The events of 1809 scarcely had an encouraging appearance.
When Wellesley arrived at Lisbon in April, Soult had entered
Soult ex- the north of Portugal and taken possession of
pelled from Oporto. Cradock, the British general, left in com-
?:Wn mand with 10,000 troops, had necessarily con-

v tented himself with taking up a defensive position
at Lisbon. General Beresford had already been entrusted
with the task of reorganising the Portuguese army. Wellesley
had to be prepared for an attack from the east by the French
marshal, Victor, and for the advance southward of Soult. He
resolved to take the offensive at once and to deal with Soult
before Victor could move, leaving the Portuguese to hold him
in check in case of accidents. The passage of the Douro was
effected by a daring surprise, and Soult was driven headlong,
before May was half over, across the borders into Galicia ; where
for the time he was certain to find the attentions of the insurgent
commander, La Romaifia, sufficiently embarrassing.

Wellesley fell back to Abrantes on the Tagus. The next step
was to strike a blow if possible at Victor in Central Spain, in
Talavera, conjunction with the Spanish forces. It was some
s7thJuly.  time before he could move, and he was misinformed
as to the forces in the north at the disposal of Soult, who had
withdrawn from Galicia A junction was effected with the
Spaniards under Cuesta. On 27th July Wellington, with some
20,000 British, and Cuesta, with 30,000 Spaniards, were facing
Victor with something under 50,000 men at Talavera, where a
two days’ battle was fought, which ended with the decisive
defeat of the French. The burden of fighting borne by the
sections of the allied army may be estimated from the fact that
while the French lost gooo men the British lost over 6000 and
the Spaniards one-fifth of that number. There were Spanish
regiments which ran away and others which stood their ground
manfully ; the fault lay much more with the commander than
with the troops. Talavera taught Wellesley once for all that
for practical purposes Spanish troops under a Spanish com-
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mander could not be reckoned upon in the ficld. Not only was
i{ it impossible to follow up the victory, but it was absolutely
necessary to withdraw the British army away into a safe posi-
tion. British losses could not be replaced with  wettestey
ease as could those of the French; and Wellesley rotreats.
only now learnt that Soult was at the head of 50,000 men,
and that to escape him he must take the southward route back
to Portugal by Badajoz. Talavera increased the prestige of the
British arms and the British gencral, to whom also it brought
the title of Viscount Wellington, but in other respects it was
froitless. Before the end of the year, it seemed as though the
. French would overrun all Spain except the fastnesses of Galicia
1 and Catalonia.

But the Peninsula was not the only theatre of war. When
Napoleon withdrew to France in January, it was to prepare for
a renewal of the European conflict. The example gyrope
of Spain was already exciting a new fecling of arising;
nationalism ; if Prussia had been humbled, the *PFins:
skilful and vigorous administration of the great minister Stein
was reorganising the whole Prussian system after a fashion
which was presently to bear splendid fruit. It seemed that
even in Western Germany, a German feeling was arising very
unlike the old particularism of every petty principality. An
Austrian minister was in power, like-minded to Stein, if inferior
to him in ability and fire. The acquiescence of Austria in the
existing order was exhausted, and in March she was inviting
British co-operation, which was promised so soon as the British
army should be brought up to a standard making it possible to
dispatch a powerful expedition. In April Austria declared
war upon Bavaria, the ally and protégé of Napoleon; her own
army had been reorganised by the archduke Charles, the one
commander who had hitherto succeeded in achieving a high
reputation while the Tyrolese, led by the patriot Hofer, rose
in arms against the Bavarian domination.

But before the end of April Napoleon had split up the Austnan
forces, smiting them in five successive battles, on successive
days, and on 13th May he was in Vienna. A week later he
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suffered a reverse at Aspern-Essling. His position appeared to
be critical, but he succeeded in extricating himself from it with
The Wagram €Xtraordinary skill, and on 6th July gained a hard-
campaign; won but by no means overwhelming victory over
Summer. the Austrians at Wagram. Though the Austrian
army was far from being crushed, and retreated in good order
into Moravia, Austria threw up the struggle. Hostilities were
suspended; though the definite Treaty of Vienna was deferred
till October, while the combatants awaited the outcome of the
British operations.

Talavera was fought three weeks after Wagram ; and Talavera
was followed by Wellington'’s retreat to Portugal, which implied
The the practical failure of his campaign—though that
Walcheren  Was no fault of his. Much more disastrous was the
:mﬂ“: . second of the British operations in this year. In

UEUSS  accordance with the promise to Austria, it was
designed to send a great expedition to capture Antwerp. It
would doubtless have been wiser to concentrate upon the cam-
paign in the Peninsula, where Wellington could presumably
have accomplished more with a larger British force at his dis-
posal. Nevertheless, the plan of a diversion against Antwerp
had much to be said for it. If the attack had been made at
the moment when Napoleon found himself in fact free for the
campaign on the Danube, the seizure of Antwerp would have been
a serious blow, which might have gravely hampered Napoleon’s
movements.

But the expedition was too late. Forty thousand soldiers,
under the command of Lord Chatham, were landed on the Scheldt
Its mis- three weeks after the battle of Wagram had been
management. fought. It wasaccompanied by a naval force under
Sir Richard Strachan. The French fleet which was at Flushing
ought to have been seized, but was allowed to escape up the
Scheldt to Antwerp. That city, of which the defences were at
the moment weak, since the attack had not been anticipated in
this quarter, would have fallen if it had been attacked at once.
Instead, Chatham wasted time in securing Flushing, which did not
fall till the 16th. The blundering was recorded in a popular rhyme.

.



The Peninsular War 49

¢ Lord Chatham with his sword drawn,
Was waiting for Sir Richard Strachan.
Sir Richard longing to be at ’em,
Was waiting for the Earl of Chatham.’

The result was that the defences of Antwerp were put in com-
plete repair, the expedition found the capture impossible, and
most of the troops, already attacked by sickness, were with-
drawn. But 15,000 of them were left to hold the island
of Walcheren, where they soon began to die like flies from
malaria and the lack of medical requirements. Before the close
of the year the wretched remnant was carried back s wotul
to England. Such was the miserable end of the end.
Walcheren expedition. If it had been ready to sail in April,
its arrival might have turned the scale in North Germany, and
have changed the whole character of the campaign which ended
at Wagram. At that stage there was reason in the view that
North Germany was a more useful field of operations than the
Peninsula. But after Wagram it was too late, though even then
the capture of Antwerp might have had a material effect on the
" situation. From the moment, however, when it became clear
that Antwerp would not be captured, it ought also to have been
clear that no more men and no more money should be wasted
in that quarter; as it turned out both men and money were
merely squandered.

The effect of the failure took shape in October. Austria
humbled herself by the Treaty of Vienna, in which she sur-
rendered her last ports in the Adriatic, deserted the wreaty
Tyrolese who had shown such stout loyalty to the of Vienna,
house of Hapsburg, and was shorn also of so much
of Poland as she had acquired in the previous partitions. It was
part of the policy of Napoleon to pose as the friend of the Poles,
on account of strategical considerations in relation to Russia.
The French emperor was tightening the fetters upon Western
Europe, though by absorbing the duchy of Oldenburg he created a
cause of friction with his distinctly lukewarm ally Alexander. The
humiliation of Austria was completed when the Tsar in effect
declined Napoleon’s proposals that he should marry a Russian

Innes’s Eng. Hist.—Vol. 1v. D
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princess and the Austrian emperor permitted an Austrian
princess to become empress of the French, wife of the Corsican
upstart who divorced his former wife Josephine to marry her.
The Walcheren expedition was also mainly responsible for
ministerial changes in England. The antagonism between

Perceval Canning and Castlereagh, intensified by misupder—
mo“ standings, came to a head. Both the ministers
ster.

resigned, and there was a duel between them in
which Canning was slightly wounded, and which for the time
made it practically impossible for either of them to return to
office. Portland, the ministerial figurehead, resigned at the same
time, and the ministry was reconstructed under the leadership
of Spencer Perceval, the Marquess Wellesley taking Canning’s
place at the Foreign Office, while the earl of Liverpool, the
former Lord Hawkesbury, took Castlereagh’s secretaryship for
war. It may be noted that the minor office of ‘secretary at
war’ was given to young Lord Palmerston, who retained it for
twenty years. The ministerial changes, however, produced no
practical change in the policy of the government ; nor was it
affected when late in the following year, 1810, the old king was
incapacitated once more, this time permanently, and the Prince
of Wales became prince regent at the beginning of 1811.

In the Peninsula too there was a lull so far as the British were
concerned. The Walcheren fiasco prevented Wellington from
1810, receiving adequate reinforcements, and the practical
Position »  failure of the Talavera campaign had proved the
ir:m ula, hopelessness of any attempt to take the offensive

on the basis of effective co-operation by Spanish
armies. For the time the French were engaged in the endeavour
to master Spain itself. The Spaniards were able to secure Cadiz,
but Soult and Victor were dominating Andalusia in the south,
and Suchet was establishing himself in Aragon, though Catalonia
remained as always defiant. As yet the frontier fortresses of
Portugal, Almeida and Ciudad Rodrigo in the north, and Badajoz
in the south, were in the hands of the Portuguese and the British.
But an invasion of Portugal was sure to come, and it was for this
that Wellington was preparing,
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Napoleon too was preparing his stroke. Occupied himself
with his projects for a marriage which should formally recognise
his dynasty as being on an equality with the oldest Busaco, 27tn
in Europe, he organised an immense force which was 8eptember.
to conquer Portugal and drive the British into the sea under
the command of Masséna, the marshal whose reputation stood
highest. In May Masséna’s advance began. Wellington could
only wait and watch. He could not even venture to attempt
the relief of Ciudad Rodrigo and Almeida, which fell in July.
Wellington had only some 50,000 troops, British and Portuguese.
With these he offered battle to Masséna at Busaco on 27th Septem-
ber, when after a desperate struggle the French were repulsed.
But Lisbon was Masséna'’s objective, and Busaco was only a check,
since there was a route by which he could march round the
opposing force.

Wellington fell back; and then Masséna suddenly and un-
expectedly found himself facing the impregnable lines of Torres
Vedras, stretchihg from the Tagus to the sea The lines
and completely blocking the entry to the Lisbon of Torres
peninsula. The British general had prepared those: Vm;
lines so that it was a sheer impossibility to force ’
them. He had drawn in the Portuguese population behind
them, and not only the population but all the supplies, of which
he had completely denuded the country. Behind him the sea
was open; before him lay Masséna with his great army in a
country which had already been stripped of everything which
could give it support. From November to March Masséna lay
at Santarém, his troops gradually starving, perpetually harassed
by the Portuguese guerillas who intercepted dispatches and cut
off foragirig parties, while Wellington waited grimly immovable.
From the south, Soult, under orders from Napoleon, moved up
from Andalusia into Estremadura and captured and garrisoned
Badajoz, but made no attempt to reinforce Masséna. A force of
Spaniards and British was transported by sea from Cadiz to
Algeciras, in order to take in the rear the forces under Barrosa.
Victor which were blockading Cadiz. But for the mismanage-
ment of the Spanish commander the movement might have
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forced the raising of the siege; as it was, a complete disaster was
only averted by the brilliant conduct of the British troops at
Barrosa, and the siege was not raised.

In March Masséna began his retreat to the frontier with Welling-
ton hanging on his rear. In April there was a sharp action at
1811 Sabugal, in which only a part of the troops were
Fuentes engaged and the British light division covered itself
@ofioro, May. with glory. In May Wellington attacked Almeida ;
Masséna attempted its relief but was defeated in a very critical
and very sanguinary battle at Fuentes d’Ofioro (5th May). Al-
meida was taken, but the French garrison cut its way out, having
blown up the fortifications and stores. In the south, Beresford
had been detached with a small force to attack Badajoz; Soult
marched to its relief, and a few days after Fuentes d’Ofioro was
Albuera. fought the desperate battle of Albuera, in which
the British lost more than a third out of their 10,000 men,
the Portuguese taking but a small part in the struggle. Soult
lost 6000 men out of his 23,000 and drew off ; but it was quite
hopeless for Beresford to attempt Badajoz. Wellington hurried
south in person to give his directions, but the assaults were
beaten off and the siege was abandoned. In the autumn the
French were still in possession of both Ciudad Rodrigo and
Badajoz, and Marmont had taken the place of Masséna in the
northern command. Aragon, Castile, Estremadura, Andalusia,
with the exception of Cadiz, were so far mastered by the French
that no Spanish armies were in the field to resist them.,

And yet circumstances were working in favour of the patient
captain whose soldiers trusted him infinitely though they did
winter: tne DOt love him at all.  There was no Spanish field
situationin army, but it had dissolved itself into bands of
Spain. guerillas who did not fight pitched battles but did
intercept communications which left the French generals with-
out information, cut up small detachments, cut off convoys, and
cleared off supplies; so that co-operation between the French
armies was extremely difficult. Moreover the French generals
were jealous of each other, none would willingly help another ;
even when they professed to act together it was without cor-

i
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diality. Napoleon was still stormily angry with the men who
failed to carry out what were to them impossible orders, and still
regarded the Peninsula only as an irritating distraction from his
more ambitious designs. For his rclations with Russia were
more than strained. All Europe was groaning under the weight
of the continental system. Napolcon's own brother wapoleon
Louis in Holland refused to be bound by it, and and the Tsar.
Holland was annexed to France in order that the embargo on
British goods might be enforced.  Sweden obstinately refused
to come into the system, and Sweden, though nominally ruled by
Charles x11., the uncle and successor of Gustavus 1v. who had
been deposed, was actually governed by the French marshal
Bernadotte, who had been nominated as his heir ; who, morcover,
had elected to identify himsclf with the interests of the kingdom
which was to be one day his own. Then the Tsar Alexander
declared the Russian ports open to ncutral trade, which gave yet
another entry for British goods to the Continent. For this
reason Napoleon was now concentrating upon preparations for
an attack upon Russia which should break down the one con-
tinental power which had never given way to him, and force it
into the system by which Napoleon still believed he could ruin
his island foe. The plain truth was that the only hope of crush-
ing Wellington lay in Napoleon taking the field himself and con-
centrating all his efforts on that one object—and even then it
is not absolutely certain that he would have succeeded. Instead
he concentrated his own attention on his projected Russian cam-
paign, one of the most tremendous tragedies of history; and his
armies in Spain were weakened instead of being strengthened.
In 1811 then Wellington had done little beyond driving the
French out of Portugal ; he was as far as ever from any apparent
prospect of taking the offensive in Spain. Never. 3415 0tudad
theless his hour was near at hand. In January Rodrigo,
1812, before Marmont suspected what was happening 2%
he sprang suddenly upon Ciudad Rodrigo, carried it by assault,
and secured it. Marmont had begun to move but was too late.
None of the French commanders was prepared for the sudden
and tremendous energy developed by Wellington. With the
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north secured he flung himself south upon Badajoz. The fortress
was magnificently defended by its commandant Philippon ;
Badajoz, but before Soult was ready to come to the rescuc,
April. Badajoz too had been stormed with desperate valour
which overcame the desperate valour of the besieged. Once
more the two gateways into Spain were in Wellington’s hands.
The British soldiery were learning to believe that they, not
Napoleon’s veterans, were the real invincibles. In their. hour
of triumph it is grievous to record that they broke loose utterly
from all discipline and disgraced themselves unspeakably both
at Ciudad Rodrigo and still more at Badajoz, though the aber-
ration was only temporary.

Badajoz was captured in April. There Wellington of neces-
sity remained until the fortifications were thoroughly restored.
Almaraz. It was vain to tempt Soult into an engagement ; the
cool-headed marshal had no mind to challenge the British troops
in the full flush of their victory. But meanwhile the north could
not be left to Marmont ; as soon as Badajoz could be left, Wel-
lington hastened thither with his troops, dispatching General Hill
to close the one route of communication between Marmont and
Soult by seizing the passage of the Tagus at the bridge of Almaraz,
an operation brilliantly carried out.

Then for a couple of months Wellington and Marment were
manceuvring against each other with armies fairly equal in
Salamanca, numbers. Wellington’s was somewhat the larger,
23nd July. but more than half of them were Portuguese, who,
though they fought well, could not be relied upon like the British
in a crisis. Each of the generals wanted to fight, but each was
equally anxious not to do so except on his own terms, and with
the chance of winning a crushing victory. At last, however,
the manceuvring brought on a pitched battle before Salamanca
on 22nd July, under conditions which made it practically certain
that whichever way the battle went it would be decisive. The
decisive moment came when Marmont, extending his left in an
enveloping movement, intended to cut off the British right from
retreat, left a gap between his columns which was instantly
detected by his adversary. Wellington seized the opportunity,
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hurled his forces against the weak point, split Marmont’s
army in two, and rolled up his centre and left wing. In forty
minutes the battle was lost and won. In the French army of
40,000 men there were 15,000 casualties. Marmont himself was
wounded ; the honours of the skilfully conducted retreat belonged
to Clausel, on whom the command devolved. Yet the destruc-
tion would have been far greater if the Spanish allies, who had
been posted to cut off the retreat, had not entirely neglected
their allotted task. Marmont’s army fell back further north to
join the troops nearer the French frontier.

Three weeks later, Wellington was in Madrid, hailed on every
side as the saviour of Spain. Yet even now the delivery was
incomplete. Magnificent as was the victory of one more
Salamanca, Wellington was not in command of a Tetreat.
force which could crush Soult in the south or drive the northern
army over the Pyrenees. Between those two armies it was still
possible that he might be crushed. Still, one more blow was
to be attempted. Wellington turned north. If he could seize
the fortress of Burgos, he would virtually command the gate of
Castile. Unwisely perhaps he made the attempt; but he had
not the necessary siege train with him. Though he entered the
town, the citadel defied assault; he was obliged to raise the
siege after a month, and for the last time to fall back to the
Portuguese frontier at Ciudad Rodrigo. Soult, however, had
been drawn to the north, and Southern Spain was in effect clear
_of the French armies.

All this time Wellington had been conducting his campaign
under immense difficulties, very insufficiently supplied from
home either with money, which was urgently re- wenington’s
quired to pay Portuguese and Spaniards, or with dificulties.
reinforcements. There were never more than 40,000 troops
at his disposal, and he lived under the perpetual necessity
of achieving something which would reassure the doubters at
home, and the perpetual consciousness that one serious failure
might cause him to be recalled. In the circumstances there
was more reason to admire the audacity with which he took risks
than to criticise him for over-caution. His brother at the
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Foreign Office did his best for him, but resigned just before the
Salamanca campaign, because he could not induce his colleagues
to give Wellington adequate support. Castlereagh, however,
who returned to office and took his place, was as determined as
Wellesley, as confident in the merits and the wisdom of the man
Liverpool in whom from the first he had placed his trust.
prime In May the prime minister, Perceval, was assassin-
:lmm, ated, and the ministry was reconstructed, without

v any material changes, under the leadership of
Liverpool, who remained prime minister for fifteen years.

Before Wellington fought Salamanca, Napoleon had started
upon his Russian campaign. All Europe west of Prussia and
of Austria, with the exception of the Spanish Peninsula, was
under his direct dominion or in practical dependence upon him.
1813. Moscow. Neither Prussia nor Austria dared to refuse him
their nominal alliance though neither would actively participate
in the war. We need not here tell the story of that tremendous
tragedy. Of the 400,000 men who began the Russian march
in June, only some 40,000 ever came back. The disaster was
followed by the national uprising of Prussia. So amazing was
the power of Napoleon and the capacity of France, that
May again saw him at the head of a great army and victorious

1813, over the allied Russians and Prussians at Lutzen
goitl;;ig, and again at Bautzen. Even then it seemed that
C T,

he might have retrieved his fortunes, but he made
the mistake of agreeing to a two months’ armistice. By the
end of the two months Austria had joined the coalition; so
also had Sweden under the guidance of Bernadotte. In August
Napoleon won a great battle at Dresden, but Dresden was no
crushing blow. Napoleon could not follow it up, the allies
continued to mass in vast numbers, and on 16th October at
Leipzig in the ‘ Battle of the Nations’ Napoleon’s forces were
overwhelmed and driven in retreat over the Rhine.

The necessities of the desperate struggle had compelled
Napoleon still further to reduce the forces in the Spanish Penin-
sula. The British government gave Wellington a more vigorous
support than ever before. At the end of May he was over
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the Portuguese frontier. On 21st June Wellington faced the
French army, under the command of King Joseph and Marshal
Jourdan at Vittoria. There was fought the battle .44
which virtually ended the war in the Peninsula. Vittoria,
Wellington’s victory was complete. The great f1st June.
defeat became a rout and a flight to Pampeluna. Enormous
spoils fell into the hands of the British and their allics. Napoleon
had called away Soult to Dresden, but now dispatched him in
haste to take supreme command of all the troops at Bayonne
and within the Spanish frontier. So skilful and vigorous were
his arrangements that it was only by hard fighting ;44
that he was prevented from relieving Pampeluna. Wellington
San Sebastian, however, fell on 31st August, Yet %24 8out
it was only after a series of stubborn engagements that Welling-
ton forced his way over the frontier in December. And still
Soult stood at bay, nor was he driven from Bayonne till February.
The last desperate action of the war was fought before Toulouse
on roth April. It would be hard to say that it was a victory
either for Wellington or for Soult ; and as it happened it was
altogether needless, for before it was fought Napoleon abdicated.
The emperor’s audacity and resourcefulness had never been
more brilliantly illustrated ‘than in the French campaign in the
first months of 1814, when he was still struggling Napaleon's
to hold in check the deluge of European armies andication
rolling over all the land frontiers of France. But :'I':n'ﬂ“v
while Soult was disputing every yard of Wellington’s
advance in the south-west and Napoleon was himself threaten-
ing the communications of the allies on the east, the northern
armies swept upon Paris itself. When Paris fell, Napoleon
found his marshals with one voice insisting that to struggle
longer was in vain, and he accepted the terms dictated by the
allies. The emperor, still retaining his title, was to be relegated
to the island of Elba off the coast of Italy, to be held by him as
a toy principality. The Bourbon monarchy was to be restored
in France, and a congress of the powers was to arrange the affairs
of Europe, in which the exile at Elba was to have no voice at all.
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V. THE END:OF THE STRUGGLE

In the course of the war practically the whole of the French
colonial possessions had been seized; since after Trafalgar
Capture destructive privateering attacks upon British com-
of French merce had been the only form of maritime warfare
colonies. open to the French. The Marquess Wellesley had
been balked in his desire to seize the French islands of the
Mauritius, which lay on the flank of the route from India to the
Cape; but Lord Minto, who became governor-general of India
in 1807, effected their capture in 1810, and that of the Dutch
island of Java a year later.

In 1812, however, Britain had become involved on her own
account in a separate war with the United States. It was re-
The United marked that the commerce of neutrals suffered
statesana  severely from that aspect of the struggle between
::’cm:‘i the Napoleonic and the British empires which was

inaugurated by the Berlin Decree and the retalia-
tory Orders in Council of the Grenville ministry. The Orders in
Council were certainly a justifiable and probably a necessary
retort to the emperor’s decrees ; but it was the Orders in Council
which pressed most directly, most conspicuously, and most
offensively upon the neutrals and especially upon the United
States, because of the enforcement of the right of search. The
most acute grievance was the British claim to search American
vessels for naval deserters, who escaped thither in large numbers.
Before 1812 there was a growing antagonism to the Orders in
Council in England itself, owing to the grave extent to which
British commerce was suffering, As early as 1810, the strict-
ness with which the Orders were put in execution was consider-
ably relaxed; but Perceval, the prime minister, regarded them
as of vital importance. After his assassination in 1812 they
were suspended, but as far as America was concerned it was
already too late.

An approaching presidential election and the exigencies of

¥
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American party politics, which pointed to a war with Britain
as a popular move, led to a declaration of war, at a moment
when the British were entirely preoccupied with 144 ne
the struggle against Napoleon, and Salamanca had American
not yet been fought. The war was a singularly "™ A
unhappy one; it should have been well within the power of
diplomacy to avert it, and there was nothing material for either
side to gain by it. It left a legacy of ill-feeling on both sides of
the Atlantic which survived for more than two generations, and
its conduct reflected no great credit on either side apart from
two or three episodes.

The Americans reverted to their old scheme for a conquest
of Canada. There they failed completely : Canadian loyalty to
the empire and hostility to the republic was deeply canadtan
rooted, both in the British United Empire Loyalists loyalty.
and in the French Canadians, whose French sympathies were
with the French loyalists and the old Bourbon monarchy, not
with the French republic or the new empire. The defeat of the
United States forces was due to the vigour and the valour with
which the Canadians rallied to the call when invasion was at-
tempted. One American force of 2500 men was reduced to
capitulate at Detroit in August 1812, and another of nearly
1000 met the same fate at Queenstown in October; while a
third attack in November was repulsed in the neighbourhood
of Niagara. It is somewhat surprising that no adequate fleet
should have been sent to the American waters, where no general
engagements took place, but in several isolated fights the
American ships proved the stronger. In 1813, varying fortunes
attended the fighting upon the Great Lakes, but wne contest
when an invasion of Lower Canada was attempted during 1813.
the Canadians again distinguished themselves by defeating the
Americans at the Chateaugay River and at Chrystler’s farm in
‘October and December; and in June the credit of the British
navy was vindicated by the famous fight between the Shannon
and the Chesapeake, two vessels of equal strength in which the
British captain Broke brought the enemy to surrender after an
engagement which lasted for fifteen minutes,
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The Americans were not fighting as allies of Napoleon, and the
war went on through 1814. The termination of the Peninsular
Operations  War released British troops; and an expedition
of 1814. to the Chesapeake under General Ross defeated the
American troops at Bladensburg and captured Washington,
where the public buildings were burnt down. Ross, however,
was killed in an unsuccessful attack upon Baltimore; and in
January 1815 British troops from the Peninsula, led by General
Pakenham, suffered a complete disaster in making a frontal
assault upon impregnable entrenchments before New Orleans.
The battle was a sheer waste of blood, since peace had been
Peace, 24th  signed at Ghent between the belligerents a fortnight
December.  earlier on 24th December 1814. In the course of
the struggle each side had inflicted serious losses upon the com-
merce of the other; both had been guilty of outrages; neither
had gained anything, unless we reckon it as a British gain
that Canadian hostility to the American republic had been in-
tensified. The peace arranged for a delimitation of frontiers,
but left unsettled the questions as to right of search which had
been at the bottom of the whole dispute.

On the abdication of Napoleon it became the immediate
business of the powers to effect the settlement of Europe. It
1814, was a foregone conclusion that the Bourbons should
:;’:5::‘:::“ be restored to the French throne in the person of
of Burope.  Louis xvIIL, the brother of Louis XvI., a less hot-
May. headed person than the younger brother Charles of
Artois. Under pressure from the Russian Tsar who was an
eccentric idealist except when his ideals happened to clash with
his personal interests, and of Britain which clung to the prin-
ciples of the English Revolution of 1688, Louis was obliged to
concede something in the nature of a constitutional government.
France was permitted to retain her boundaries as they had been
when the monarchy was overthrown in 1792. The rearrange-
ments of territory in Germany, Italy, and Poland were to be left
for settlement by a congress of the powers which was to assemble
in Vienna in the winter. Meanwhile the house of Orange was
reinstated in Holland and the independence of the Swiss republic

~
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was restored. Though Britain had fought through the war
from beginning to end; though the victory of the allies and
indeed the formation of the last coalition would pogeration
never have been possible but for the Peninsular of British
War of which she had borne the weight on her own ®im
shoulders ; though she alone had won French territory from
France ; she displayed a magnanimity which the.other powers
were in no haste to recognise. Of the French colonies she
claimed to retain only Tobago and Santa Lucia in the West
Indies, and the Mauritius. Of what she had taken from the
Dutch she retained only Demerara in one hemisphere and the
Cape Colony and Ceylon in the other, paying for the Cape a
substantial indemnity. The rest she was willing to restore,
contenting herself with the insertion of a clause in the treaty
directed to the suppression of the slave-trade jointly by the
powers. The Treaty of Paris was concluded on 30th May.

The congress which met at Vienna did not turn seriously to
business until the beginning of November. It had been agreed
among the four powers which together had over- gopgregs
thrown Napoleon—Britain, Russia, Austria, and of Vienna,
Prussia—that they should reserve to themselves Nevember.
the final decision upon vexed questions, of which there were
plenty ; but Talleyrand, who had really managed the Bourbon
restoration in France and was Louis’s foreign minister as he had
been Napoleon’s, succeeded in placing France on an equality
with the other four powers as one of the arbiters of the European
settlement. Britain was represented by Castlereagh. There
were plenty of complicated problems to be dealt with, and it
was not easy to find any general principle for guidance. To the
disgust of Ferdinand of Sicily, Napoleon’s brother-in-law
Joachim Murat was confirmed in the Italian kingdom of Naples
to which he had succeeded when Joseph Bonaparte had resigned
the crown for that of Spain. This was his reward for deserting
Napoleon after the Moscow campaign. He in his turn was dis-
pleased by the restoration of the Pope’s temporal authority in
the papal states, which he had hoped to annex. :

If Stein had represented Prussia instead of the less effective
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Hardenberg, he might have succeeded in carrying the principle
of arranging the redistribution of territories on nationalist
Legitimism. lines; but the general principle which was adopted
instead, under the guidance of Talleyrand and Metternich, was
that of legitimism. The most serious questions were those of
Saxony and Poland. Russia and Prussia on the one side proposed
the annexation of Saxony to Prussia and the erection of Poland,
as it had stood before the final partition, into a constitutional
kingdom under the Russian Tsar. Austria was afraid of any-
thing which should aggrandise either Russia or Prussia. Castle-
Castlereagh. reagh appears at first to have favoured the northern
powers, but then to have been drawn over by Metternich and
Talleyrand, working upon his fears of Russian ambitions and
of Alexander’s visionary advocacy of Jacobin ideas. The three
- powers actually agreed upon a defensive alliance pledging them to
defend in arms jointly the principles upon which they agreed.
In February the substitution for Castlereagh of Wellington,
upon whom a dukedom had recently been conferred, might have
1815, had a conciliatory effect ; but it still seemed far from
Re-entry of impossible that the outcome of the peace congress
g::"l”n' ~ would be another European conflagration, when the
TUATy: quarrels of the powers were suddenly checked by
the news that Napoleon himself had intervened. Slipping away
from Elba at the end of February he landed at Cannes, and
issued proclamations announcing that he had come to remove
thé Bourbon monarchy—which had'been rendering itself ex-
tremely unpopular—and that he himself would rule not as a
despot but as a constitutional monarch. For a moment his fate
seemed to hang in the balance when the government troops
marched to arrest him. But the troops were carried by his
appeal, and hailed him as emperor once more. He began what
was a triumphal march towards Paris. Those of the marshals
who had never pledged themselves to the restored monarchy
came in ; those who had identified themselves with it had to take
hasty flight. Ney, who had declared himself for the Bourbon,
marched with an army to capture Napoleon, making loud pro-
fession, honestly enough it may be, of his loyalty ; but when he
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came in contact with his old chief the old sentiment swept him
away and he joined the emperor instead of attempting to cap-
ture him. On 13th March the powers at Vienna, tne powers,
their quarrels hushed for the moment, proclaimed March.
Napoleon the public enemy of Europe; on 19th March King
Louis took flight to Ghent.  On the 25th the four powers had
resolved that there could be no parleying with the breaker of the
European peace, in spite of his offers to accept the Peace of Paris,
and they pledged themselves to place in the ficld 150,000 men
apiece. On 3o0th March Napoleon was at the Tuileries.

For Napoleon it was.of the first importance to strike before
the armies of a united Europe could be reorganised for war and
hurled against him. In his favour he had his own g,
unique genius and the immense advantage of the Blicher and
single directing mind. It must be long before w
either Russia or Austria, slow movers at the best of times, could
bring up their forces. Prussia was comparatively ready, and her
forces were soon gathering under Bliicher’'s command upon a
line stretching from Liége to Charleroi, numbering 120,000 men.
By the beginning of June Wellington was in Belgium with a
very heterogeneous force under his command. The Peninsula
veterans had not yet got back from America; most of his
30,000 British troops were raw recruits. He could count upon
the German legion which had distinguished itself in the Penin-
sula, and upon the Hanoverians, who made up another 20,000.
Most of the balance of 40,000 was composed of Dutch and Belgians
on whom no great reliance could be placed. In May Murat did-
his brother-in-law no service by attacking the Austrians who had
reoccupied the old Austrian territories in North Italy. He was
soundly beaten and was obliged to take flight to France,
where Napoleon had nothing for him but reproaches for his
blundering.

Meanwhile Napoleon himself had been with titanic energy
gathering and organising upon the Belgian frontier an army of
125,000 men which included corps of his own wmapoleon’s
seasoned veterans, as well as a large proportion of army.
untried conscripts, Wellington and Bliicher should have

A
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strained every nerve to complete their connection and present
an unbroken front. But before they did so, Napoleon, whose
activity had surpassed all their calculations, had launched his
thunderbolt. On 12th June he left Paris for the front. On the
15th. 15th he drove the Prussian advance guard in from
Oharlerol.  Charleroi, while Wellington’s officers were dancing in
Brussels at the duchess of Richmond’s famous ball. The Anglo-
Prussian concentration had never been carried out. Bliicher
pushed up his troops to Ligny.! The main road between Brussels
and Charleroi is crossed by another main road at Quatre Bras,
leading south-east in the rear of Ligny, but Wellington had
expected that Napoleon would direct his march north-west
so as to throw himself between the British force and the sea,
whereas Napoleon’s real intention was to crush Bliicher before
Wellington could come to his assistance, and then to crush
Wellington himself.

Accordingly upon 16th June the emperor flung his main force
upon the Prussians at Ligny, dispatching Ney to seize and hold
16th. Quatre Bras. Thus he calculated that Ney would
Lignyand  be able to contain the British advance, and to turn
Quatre Bras. the Prussian right and complete the destruction of
Bliicher. The attack at Ligny was successful. Bliicher was
defeated and was driven off the field. But Ney found that the
duke of Saxe-Weimar with some of the allied troops was before
him at Quatre Bras. There was some delay in the attack;
through the day British regiments were being hurried to the
front, and the allies held their ground. All day a corps under
D’Erlon wasted its energies hovering between Ligny and Quatre
Bras; and if Ney succeeded in containing the British advance,
he was able neither to carry the position nor to carry out the
second part of the programme and strike at the Prussians. The
result was that Bliicher though defeated was able to draw off in
good order under cover of the dark, and also to mislead Napoleon
as to the direction he was taking. For it was naturally supposed
that he was falling back upon his base of supplies to Namur and
Liége, whereas, in fact, he was wheeling north-eastwards towards

1 See Map 1., ke Netherlands War area.
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Wavre in the hope of still being able to co-operate with Welling-
ton and to form a junction with him.

On the morning of the 17th Wellington learnt definitely that
the Prussians were retreating on Wavre and resolved to make
his own stand covering Brussels at Waterloo. yqun  prigien
Napoleon’s entircly misleading information was to concentration
the effect that a part of Bliicher’s force was making *t Waterloo.
for Namur, and the main body was on the way to Li¢ge. He
accordingly detached Grouchy, an officer who was not accus-
tomed to independent command, to follow up the Prussians
whom he imagined to be in a demoralised condition after their
heavy losses at Ligny ; while he himself turned to crush Welling-
ton. The British general was able to draw back his forces from
Quatre Bras though the French were in hot pursuit; and that
night his army had taken post along the ridge of Mont St. Jcan.

Wellington had with him 67,000 men. In round numbers
24,000 were British, there were 6000 of the German legion, and
17,000 Hanoverians and Brunswickers, the balance gpyen
being Dutch and Belgians. He had early infor- position at
mation that the Prussians from Wavre intended “hterieo.
to converge upon the French right, and he hoped to be able to
hold on to his position until their arrival. If he should be com-
pelled to retreat, the forest of Soignes on his rear would make
pursuit difficult ; but it was of vital importance that he should
hold on, because if he were defcated the Prussians would inevit-
ably suffer a more serious disaster than at Ligny. His army lined
. the crest of a slope, steep and well covered on the left. On the
slope in front of the centre was the farm of La Haye Sainte, not
too well prepared for defence; and covering his right was the
chiteau and wood of Hougoumont. These posts were occupied
by small detachments of the German legion and of the Guards
respectively. At the bottom of the valley was an undulation.
Behind the crest of Wellington’s ridge a dip was formed by a
cross road which enabled Wellington to conceal the movement
of troops. Napoleon’s forces were arrayed on the crest of the
opposing slope with the right resting upon Planchenoit. With
74,000 men, he was stronger than the British, especially in the
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artillery and cavalry arms. He had never met British troops
before and relied upon the method which had habitually proved
Napoleow’s  successful against other continental armies, of pre-
position. paring the way by a storm of artillery fire and then
hurling masses of troops in column against the enemy’s weakened
line ; and he paid no attention to the warnings of Soult—who
knew Wellington and the British troops by experience—that the

British line was not to be broken by column attack. The prin-
ciple of the superiority of the line against the column, not only
for defence but also for attack, at least when British troops were
engaged, had been first illustrated at Maida, and then conspicu-
ously and repeatedly demonstrated in the engagements of the
Peninsular War. Napoleon’s plan then was to pierce the British
line at its weakest point, the centre, to which end it was necessary
to capture La Haye Sainte and also to secure Hougoumont so as
to prevent a flank movement on the British right,

b,
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A drenching rain had destroyed the surface of the ground for
the purpose of the cavalry charges on which Napoleon counted,
when the two armies faced each other on the morn- 1gth. The
ing of Sunday, 18th June. For thisreason Napoleon, battle opens.
confident that the Prussians were out of the game, postponed
opening the attack till almost midday. The artillery opened
fire to cover an assault by Jerome Bonaparte upon the wood of
Hougoumont. Jerome was not content to occupy the wood,
which was all that was required of him, but made desperate
attempts to capture the chiteau itself, all of which were repulsed
with equally desperate valour by the small body of the Guards
which held it. The defence of Hougoumont is one Hougoumont.
of the heroic episodes of the great battle. But Hougoumont
was not the real point of attack. This was to be delivered upon
La Haye Sainte in the centre at 1.30. It was just at that hour
that the first indications were received of the approach of a
Prussian corps from Wavre—much later, it should be remarked,
than Wellington had anticipated. Napoleon, however, was not
disturbed, because he supposed that only a division of the
Prussian army was moving, and that it was marching to its own
destruction at the hands of Grouchy.

Accordingly at 1.30 he opened fire from a tremendous battery,
under cover of which D’Erlon’s division swept down to the
valley, a part of it attacking La Haye Sainte on its wpe grat
left where the Germans offered a stout and suc- grandattack
cessful resistance, while the rest drove up the slope repulsed.
and topped the ridge, sweeping back the Dutch troops which
held it in a hasty flight. Here, however, Ponsonby’s Union

- Brigade—the First Royal Dragoons, the Inniskillings, and the
Scots Greys—were hurled upon them, drove them in rout down
the slope with immense slaughter, and crashed up the opposite
slope upon the French guns; where they in turn were charged
and swept back by Napoleon’s cavalry, and were perhaps only
saved from destruction by a countercharge of Vandeleur’s horse.

This was the blow which ought to have pierced the British
centre, but was foiled by the charge of the Union Brigade. But
hitherto Napoleon had hardly brought his cavalry into plays»
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While Wellington was reinforcing his depleted lines with
fresh troops from the reserve, new attacks were made
The cavalry upon Hougoumont and La Haye Sainte, where
attack. the reinforced Guards and Germans maintained
their obstinate resistance. But this and a renewed storm
of artillery fire were the prelude to a tremendous cavalry charge
in the centre. For this, however, the British were prepared,
and falling back behind the ridge for cover from the artillery
fire, formed squares which received the onslaught of the horse
with withering volleys; the gunners, who had worked their
guns with murderous effect to the last moment, dismantling
the guns and taking shelter in the squares. Against the squares
the cavalry hurled themselves in vain, never even getting to
hand strokes. As they reeled back the British cavalry fell upon
them and hurled them down the slopes again. Again they
formed up to the charge, reinforced by fresh regiments; again
they swept up the slope and again they were shattered by the
storm of fire from the batteries, and the indomitable firmness
of the squares. And yet for the third time they formed and
charged, only to be shattered again for the third time.

It was now six o’clock. Those cavalry charges ought to have
been supported by infantry. They were not so supported
The because as the afternoon advanced the Prussians
Prussians  were approaching and there was no sign of Grouchy.
approaching. Th.¢ commander had failed in his task, whether
through his own fault or Napoleon’s we need not here inquire,
and had misdirected his movements so that he gave no effective
aid to his chief. The approach of the Prussians, as early as
4.30, necessitated the drawing off of 8000 men to check them who
would otherwise have advanced to support Ney and his cavalry.
Large numbers also were still held engaged by the stubborn
resistance at Hougoumont and La Haye Sainte.

At last, however, Ney was ordered to hurl himself upon La
The attack  Haye Sainte; and even the heroism of the Germans
of the could no longer hold it against the storm. But
Guard. the advance-guard of the Germans was forcing
*jits way into Planchenoit. At seven o’clock Napoleon made his
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final effort. The masses of the Imperial Guard, the soldiery
who were accounted invincible, were launched upon the British
centre ; but Wellington had drawn in his troops from the wings
to strengthen it. As the advancing column rolled up the slope,
the line on the right was wheeled forward and poured a flank
fire upon its dense masses. Still it rolled on over the ridge,
only to find itself faced by the Guards who were lying under
cover and received it with a murderous fire. As they reeled
back, the line of the Guards swept forward driving them down
the hill. Yet a second column rolled forward only victery. . ;
to be met by the Guards’ fire in front, and volleys poured into
the whole length of their left flank by Colborn, who then charged
on them and swept them away. For a moment they reformed ;
but the whole British line swung forward. By this time the
Prussian army, not merely the Prussian advance-guard, was
overwhelming the French right. Napoleon’s great army broke
and scattered in a wild and helpless flight, pursued far through
the night by the storm of Prussian horsemen, thirsting after a
final vengeance for Jena. The British were too exhausted to
join in the pursuit.

On 21st June, Napoleon was in Paris. Even then he unagmed
for a moment that all was not lost. But all men fell away from
him, and the ministry, headed by Fouché, held the rne end
control in its hands. Bliicher and Wellington were ©f Napoleon.
advancing on Paris, Bliicher thirsting to glut his hate, Wellington
chiefly anxious to restrain his colleague’s rage. On 15th July
the fallen emperor placed himself in the hands of Captain Mait-
land on H.M.S. Bellerophon at Rochefort. On 31st July he learnt
the decision that had been reached. The conqueror of Europe,
by the decree of the powers, was to pass the remainder of his days
on a rock far away in the South Atlantic. Only so, it appeared,
could Europe feel itself safe from his restless ambitions.



CHAPTER II. THE ERA OF TORY RULE

I. THE SETTLEMENT OF EUROPE

' THE ‘ Hundred Days ’ made a difference, though less than might

have been expected, in the settlement of Europe. The pro-
1816, visional government in France which had taken
L":‘:?:;‘d over the control and induced Napoleon to abdicate
Paris, before he surrendered himself at Rochefort, effected
November.  the restoration of Louis xviir., who had now fully
realised that the old régime could never be restored. On zoth
November, five months after Waterloo, the second Treaty of
Paris was signed. Poland, Napoleon’s grand-duchy of Warsaw,
was transferred to Russia except for a small portion which was
handed back to Prussia, and Prussia was compensated for her
losses by a portion of Saxony and of what had been Jerome
Bonaparte’s kingdom of Westphalia. She became a purely
German power, destined by her acquisitions to the leadership
of Germany, though Austria did not abdicate her claim to the
first place till another half century had passed. Belgium was
added to the kingdom of Holland under the house of Orange;
Hanover top was henceforth to take rank as a kingdom. The
Bourbons were restored in the kingdom of the Two Sicilies and
in Spain; the western German states were formed into a loose
confederation. France was to pay a heavy indemnity, and
the troops of the allies were to remain in occupation for a term
of years. Owing chiefly to the determination of the Tsar and of
Wellington, Bliicher was balked of his desire to humiliate her
further, and she retained with very little alteration the bound-
aries fixed by the first Peace of Paris. Austria and Sardinia in
cffect recovered their old positions in North Italy.

The British government made no fresh demands for territorial

70
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aggrandisement, or other compensations for the enormous burden
she had borne. Even her disinterested insistence upon the sup-
pression of the slave-trade, a question which had laid tne rewara
an extraordinarily firm grip upon the national of Britain.
conscience, produced nothing more than a general declaration
denouncing the traffic. But, as a matter of fact, -heavily as she
had suffered and cruel as the strain had been, she had yet rela-
tively gained very much by the war. The last prospect of her
disturbance in India by the French had vanished. The ac-
quisition of the Cape Colony and the Mauritius put in her hands
the outposts from which it had previously been possible to
threaten the route to the eastern seas. The possession of Malta
and the protectorate of the Ionian islands secured her ascend-
ency in the waters of the Mediterranean ; development of her
trans-oceanic empire became a matter of course. The war had
not only given her a fighting ascendency on the seas, but had also
given her a monopoly of transmarine commerce which left the
‘rest of the nations almost mere gleaners of the commercial har-
vest. Her isolation had enabled her to develop the new methods
of manufacture, which had been out of the reach of every con-
tinental state, and to obtain thereby a lead so huge that even its
diminution seemed almost unthinkable. She had spent enor-

mously, but she had been creating wealth all the time ; the other |

nations had been exhausting their resources without creating
fresh wealth. There was indeed another side of the picture,
which we shall examine when we come to the inquiry into her
economic and industrial development. But, broadly speaking,
although the moderation of her claims in the moment of her
triumph excited a general wonder which was rather contemptu-
ous than admiring, ghe had emerged from the war with her im-
perial destinies assured and with a relative increase of power and
wealth and prestige greater than any state in Europe.

When the powers undertook to settle Europe, the great rulers
intended not merely to arrive at satisfactory territorial arrange-
ments which took little if any account of the pre- Tsar
judices or susceptibilities of populations, but also Alexander.
to guard against any more cataclysmic disturbances of the

~v
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divinely appointed social order. They did not concur in the
British view that the states should be left to organise and alter
their own governments after their own fashion. The Tsar, who
had always been a theoretical advocate of the principles of
liberty, was anxious to see those .principles as he understood
them recognised in a Europe restored to order after twenty-
five years of upheavals. The reinstated princes were all en-
couraged to make promises of constitutions which were to be
granted to their subjects, more or less based upon the British
model. For Britain and Russia were the only two powers
which had never bowed the knee to Napoleon, and the success
with which Britain had resisted him was attributed in some degree
to the merits of the British constitution. So also the Tsar con-
ceded a constitution to Poland. But the Tsar’s conceptions of
liberty were superficial ; his idea of autocracy was fundamental.
It was good for the peoples to be permitted to take a share in
the government ; but kings derived their authority not from
the peoples but from God, whose vicegerents they were, and to
whom alone they were responsible. The prince was the father
of his people ; he was bound in conscience to rule them for their
good ; but he was to judge, not they, to what extent he was to
be guided by their wishes and their judgments; nor had they
any right to rebel against his decrees whether as a matter of fact
these decrees were beneficent or no.

So the Tsar bound his brother potentates of Austria and
Prussia in a Holy Alliance by which they pledged themselves to
The Holy act up to his own ideals. All Christian princes of
Altance. Europe were invited to join the alliance ; the in-
vitation was not extended to the sultan, because he was not a
Christian prince. The princes acceded cheerfully, with the ex-
ception of the British prince regent—the old king, now hopelessly
and permanently insane, obviously could not join, and it was
pointed out politely that in fact no king of Great Britain could
enter such an alliance because as a constitutional monarch he was
in the hands of parliament and could not follow his own devices.
Moreover, the Holy Alliance pledged itself to maintain the lawful
authority of monarchies by joint action against revolutionary
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subjects; and although the British government had not yet
recovered from the nightmare fear of Jacobinism, the British
people could not see any reason why other people should not
follow the example which they had themselves set in securing
the right of constitutional government. Their sympathies were
certain to be in favour of what they recognised as strictly con-
stitutional movements. The Tsar and the king of Prussia were
both .quite honestly convinced that they were actuated by the
highest motives, a deep religious sense of their responsibilities.
But there were two sides to their programme. One was bene-
ficent government, the other the upholding of authority ; and
the weak point of the whole position was that joint action was
to apply only to the second part of the programme, but not to
the first. Consequently, since the rest of the European princes
and their ministers felt no obligation to carry out sentimental
pledges, the Holy Alliance practically degenerated into a league
for the joint suppression of popular movements wherever they
might arise and the absolute authority of any potentate within
his own dominions might appear to be threatened.

Now the French Revolution and the Napoleonic wars had
sown all over Europe seeds which were not to be eradicated,
seeds which were germinating and developing all pemoctacy -
through the nineteenth century. The Revolution and
had given birth to a democratic movement three- nationalism.
fold in character, political, social, and economic, and the
Napoleonic wars to a nationalist movement. The settlement of
1815 was antagonistic to both. Being dynastic, it ignored the
claims of nationalism, treating as a unity such a heterogeneous
empire as that of Austria, which included Germans, Slavs,
Magyars, and Italians, while in Germany it prevented the uni¢
fication of a German nation by preserving the particularism of a
crowd of petty principalities. Being absolutist, it opposed the
development of any form of popular government except on the
initiative of the monarchs themselves. A system antagonistic
to political was almost inevitably antagonistic also to social
and economic democracy. Consequently the internal history
of every state in Europe during the nineteenth century is to
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a great extent the history of the struggle against the settlement
of 1815; a struggle in which both nationalism and democracy
play their parts, sometimes independently and sometimes in
alliance. In that struggle the sympathies of the reigning
monarchs in Europe were habitually enlisted on the side of the
settlement. But the sympathies of Britain, which had long ago
won constitutional liberties, were always on the side of consti-
tutional movements; and since England and Scotland had
solved for themselves their own problem of unification and
nationalism, British sympathies were also invariably favourable
to nationalist movements in Europe. We shall find therefore
that British statesmen, while habitually adopting the line of
non-intervention in the domestic affairs of European states, so
far acted up to the national sympathies as to advocate and
sometimes to insist vigorously that the rule of non-intervention
should be observed by others as well as by themselves. British
intervention in short was limited to ‘ keeping the ring’ when
contests were going on, with greater or less vigour according to
the character of the minister who directed foreign policy.

While the European settlement was antagonistic to political
emancipation, seeking so far as it could to revert to the system
The Concert as it had been before 1789, wherein it was fighting
of Burope.  against progressive forces too strong to be crushed
out, it has another side which is deserving of praise. The con-
gress of Vienna was the first tentative effort at formulating the
idea of a European concert, of a community of European interests,
of common consultation and action for the preservation of the
general peace. If we look at our own history, we see that Great
Britain was at war with France, and frequently with Spain as
well as with France, during one half of the years between 1689
and 1815. In all but one of those wars Austria was also habitu-
ally engaged, and frequently Prussia. These were wars between
the powers for possession of territory. For forty years after
Waterloo there were practically no wars between European
powers; the wars which took place were insurrectionary,
between rulers and their subjects. The international peace was
preserved till another Napoleon was emperor of the French.
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A European conflagration continued with short intervals from
1688 to 1713, another from 1733 to 1738, another from 1740
to 1748, another from 1755 to 1763, and another from 1792 to
1815. But from 1815 to the Armageddon of 1914 there has been
no European conflagration, though there have been great conflicts
between individual powers—Prussia and Austria, Germany and
France, and twice between Russia and Turkey, French and
British intervening in the Crimean War ; and only recently the
concert availed to localise the struggle in the Balkans, though
the great conflagration was only postponed. Till 1914, Britain
has been involved in no war in Europe except that in the Crimea.
Here is a very striking contrast between the last century and the
hundred and twenty-five years which preceded it, to go no further
back. And it cannot be questioned that the contrast is in part
at least due not so much to the actual settlement at Vienna as
to the idea of the European concert which was then formulated.

II. CASTLEREAGH, 1815-1822

The Holy Alliance came into being in September 1815. It
was not joined by Britain, formally because it was an agreement
between sovereigns to which it was impracticable ppq
for the British sovereign to become a party, actually Quadruple
because the British ministers either regarded it as
visionary or distrusted the sincerity of the Tsar’s intentions. In
November however a quadruple alliance between Russia, Austria,
Prussia and Great Britain was formed which, rather than the
Holy Alliance itself, was the progenitor of the European concert.
Expressly the four powers guaranteed the second Treaty of
Paris and the principles of the preceding treaties, united to
preserve the public peace, and agreed that congresses should
meet at intervals to consult upon the common interests. In the
nature of the case the three autocrats of the East were in closer
correspondence, and as their absolutist tendencies became more
marked their proceedings were popularly associated with the
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Quadruple Alliance, and Castlereagh was commonly accused of
lending them his support; though as a matter of fact he was
primarily responsible for restraining their energies to a very
considerable degree. Canning, when he succéeded to the Foreign
Office in 1822, was more uncompromising in his insistence upon
non-intervention, and less afraid of taking the risk of bringing
on war by that insistence; but, in fact, there was less danger
from Canning’s vigorous methods in the years when he was in
office than there would have been at an earlier date, and also
the objectionable features of the pohcy of the autocrats were
more pronounced.

In the first years after Waterloo, however the problems of
foreign policy were less prominent. Home affairs. occupied the
Economic leading place. Peace appeared to be more disas-
disturbance. {rous than war. Europe was too much impover-
ished to provide at once an immense market for British goods.
The reduced demand for war materials was bad for the iron and
steel industries, and there was much unemployment. In the
natural course of events the influx of foreign corn would have
brought down the price of bread, and so far the condition of the
poorer classes would have been relieved. But events were not

- permitted to take their natural course. The agricultural interest
had flourished greatly upon the war. The country had been
obliged to live upon home-grown supplies, and every acre upon
which crops could be raised had been-brought under cultivation.
It paid the farmers to do so when they were getting war prices
for what they produced—the enormous war prices of the last
years. If war prices were not maintained, a quantity of land
would go out of cultivation because it would no longer pay.
Numbers of agricultural labourers would be thrown out of work.
The country would cease to produce sufficient corn to feed itself
with its growing population, and the next war would bring
hideous disaster. Incidentally, landowners and farmers would
have to curtail the rate of living to which they had become
accustomed ; in a word, the agricultural interest would be
ruined.

All the peers and the majority of the members of the House
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of Commons were landowners to whom these arguments ap-
pealed forcibly ; and the Corn Law of 1815 was passed which
prohibited the import of corn except when the price the 1818

of wheat was above 8us. Even that did not save OornLaw.

a good deal of the land which had been brought under the
plough from reverting to waste ; but on the other hand it kept
the price of bread portentously high, though not as high as in
the worst years. Unemployment, its inevitable concomitant of
low wages, and the high cost of living, had combined to drive
the working classes to unreasoning desperation, since men are
not given to reasoning calmly upon empty stomachs. In their
eyes, labour-saving machinery was a thing that robbed them of
employment and took the bread out of their mouths; it was
useless to tell them that its effect would be to provide increased
employment to the next generation after they themselves were
dead of starvation. Mobs of labourers clamouring for employ-
ment which they could not get, for higher wages, for cheaper
bread, smashed up machinery and burnt down Riots.
barns and ricks, Apart from the Corn Law, which kept up the
price of bread without saving the farmers from collapse after
the recent inflation, the causes of the distress were economic,
and could not be laid to the door of the government ; but
popular opinion held ministers and the governing classes re-
sponsible. A year after Waterloo the mob smashed the duke of
Wellington’s windows ; but because Castlereagh was the most
prominent personality in the government, it was upon Castle-
reagh that its unpopularity centred.

It was a matter of course that the populace should attribute
their distress to political instead of to economic causes. It was
hardly less natural that the government attributed ggyernment's
disturbances born of acute distress to political agi- policy of
tators who of course fomented them. From 1791 ™
onwards the rulers of the nation had been convinced that the
one answer to political agitation was forcible repression. There
are times when forcible repression becomes a stern necessity if
order is to be preserved at all; but the mere fact that it has
become necessary is in itself a proof of the presence of an evil
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which force cannot cure, and for which a real remedy must be
found. The fault of the Liverpool administration lies in the
fact that it looked to repression alone without making any ade-
quate attempt either to alleviate distress—which like the use of
force is of only temporary utility—or to find a remedy for the
causes of distress.

This attitude of the government in its turn intensified the
popular conviction that the cause of the distress was political,
Popular that the governing classes were guided solely by
demand for the determination to guard their own class interests,
Political and that the remedy for all the troubles was to be
power. found in the acquisition of political power by the
masses who did not possess it. Intelligent leaders like Cobbett
might pin their faith to constitutional agitation and demand
parliamentary reform which should give to the masses a real
representation in parliament ; but the government saw no dis-
tinction between such persons and the unintelligent agitators
whose cry appeared to be ‘ Down with everything.’

In December 1816, the Spafields riot, headed by demagogues,
confirmed the alarmist fears of the authorities, though the rioters
1817, were very casily dispersed. In March 1817, bills
Repressive  were passed for the suppression of seditious meet-
Teasures.  ings, and the Habeas Corpus Act was suspended for
four months, Derbyshire became the scene of great disorder and
lawlessness, and the unrest in the neighbourhood of Manchester
caused it to be regarded as a revolutionary centre. Sidmouth
as home secretary was directly responsible for the repres-
sive activities of the government, though there was no diver-
sity of opinion in the ministry, which now included Canning,
who joined it in 1816 as president of the Board of Control, and
was now working in harmony with Castlereagh. Extreme in-
dignation was excited by an instruction issued by Sidmouth to
the magistrates that persons charged on oath with seditious
libel might be apprehended and held to bail. The government
gained nothing because the prosecutions which followed were
rarely succeeded by convictions ; and a bookseller named Hone
was acquitted on three several charges by juries, in spite of the
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obvious efforts of the Chief Justice, Lord Ellenborough, to obtain
convictions.

A rich harvest in this year alleviated the distress, and the
ferment in 1818 was less. A general election increased the
strength of the Opposition. The transfer of fifteen 1818,
votes, counting thirty on a division, was more sig- Peterloo.
nificant than it appears to us, since only some hundred elections
were contested. But in 1818 there occurred the singularly un-
fortunate incident of Peterloo, otherwise called the Manchester
Massacre. The magistrates permitted an immense assembly
to gather in St. Peter’s Fields, and then attempted to arrest the
leaders, employing the military for the purpose. The result was
that the crowd was dispersed ; but although only some half-
dozen persons were actually cut down, several more were killed
in the crush and some hundreds were seriously injured. Obvi-
ously the magistrates had blundered grossly in their methods,
and a storm of indignation was excited ; but ministers upheld
their action uncompromisingly, and thereby increased their
own unpopularity.

Then they went on to pass a drastic code known as the Six
Acts for the suppression of disorder and sedition. On the govern-
ment hypothesis that there was a serious danger of The 8ix Acts.
armed insurrection, three of the six were entirely reasonable,
being directed chiefly to the prevention of arming and drilling.
A fourth was insignificant. A fifth, directed to the suppression
of seditious publications, was little more than a dead letter from
the beginning. But the sixth, which prohibited any large
assemblies unless summoned by the principal authorities of the
county or the borough, was a practical denial of the right of
public meeting and free speech. Such a measure could only
be justified in a very extreme emergency as a temporary ex-
pedient for the immediate prevention of civil war. The govern-
ment believed that such an emergency had arisen; but the
general verdict has entirely refused to endorse that extreme view.

While government had failed to suggest any remedy for the
unrest except stringent repression so far as concerned the prole-
tariat and their interests, and sought to protect the landed and
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agricultural interests by the Corn Law, the commercial classes
"too were suffering seriously from the disturbance of equilibrium

' consequent upon the change from a state of war
1819. . o
Resumption to a state of peace, while measures were still in force
of cash which had been adopted in order to meet the con-
payments.  Jitions of the former stage. Even while the war
was going on, the suspension of cash payments by the bank was
recognised by financial experts, though not by the government,
as a cause of financial instability. It was not till 1819 that the
whole question was investigated by a Bullion Committee under
the chairmanship of Robert Peel. In accordance with the report
of that committee the gradual resumption of cash payments was
resolved upon, to be completed in 1823. The wisdom of that
measure was fully demonstrated by the fact that two years
before the stipulated time the bank was able to undertake the
payment of gold for its notes at sight.

The revolutionary spirit which, however much it may have
been exaggerated by panic, was undoubtedly present in the
The royal country, was fostered by the character and position
family. of the royal family. The moral character of the
prince regent was about as bad as it could be; moral scandals
of varying magnitude were associated with the names of nearly
all his six brothers. The royal family was in fact held in general
contempt ; and the respect for the institution of monarchy was
proportionately lowered. Politicians might regard the monarchy
as a necessity, but loyalty was centred upon one person, the prince
regent’s daughter Charlotte, the sole representative of the royal
family in the next generation. There were great popular re-
joicings when a husband was found for her in the person of Prince
Leopold of Saxe-Coburg ; but in November 1817, within a year
of her marriage, the Princess Charlotte died. Large as was the
family of George 111., there was every prospect that within a few
years there would be no legitimate heirs of his body living.
Hence, in 1818, the three unmarried sons, William, duke of Clar-
ence (afterwards William 1v.), Edward of Kent, and Adolphus
of Cambridge took wives, and in 1819 there were fresh rejoicings
when a daughter, Victoria, was born to the duke of Kent, the

-
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fourth of the series of brothers. For the fifth, Ernest, duke of
Cumberland, was so detested that his accession to the throne
might very possibly have precipitated a revolution and perhaps
the overthrow of the monarchy.

In 1820 the old king died. During the last years of his life
insanity and blindness had withdrawn him entirely from the
public eye. For practical purposes the accession of 20
the prince regent as George 1v. made no difference. aecession of
For the past eight years he had been discharging GeorgeIv,,
the regal functions, and his reign had virtually January.
begun when he became prince regent.

George 11. died in January. In February, the world was
startled by the discovery of what is known as the Cato Street
conspiracy. Simple assassination plots directed The Cato
against the reigning monarch and associated with gtreet
the idea of general insurrection had been familiar conspirscy,
in English history only in the two reigns of Eliza- ’
beth and William 111.  But the Cato Street conspiracy was a plot
to murder all the members of the ministry at a cabinet dinner,
an exploit which was to be the signal for revolution. For the
revolution itself there were apparently no serious preparations ;
among the conspirators there were no persons of any consequence, -
even no prominent demagogues. The ministers received timely
information ; they did not assemble to dine at the appointed
place; and the conspirators themselves were surprised in a body
at their rendezvous in Cato Street, from which the whole affair
takes its name. Eleven of them were captured after a fierce re-
sistance, of whom five were executed ; the death sentence on the
other six was changed to transportation for life. Therest escaped.
The whole affair pointed to no widespread or deep-seated design.
It was nothing more than an insane plot on the part of a few
desperadoes; but it would never have been concocted if the
desperadoes themselves at least had not believed that the
country was only waiting for a spark to kindle a huge confla-
gration. The only practical effect was to enable ministers
to point to it as a proof that their policy of repression
had been dictated not by panic but by a really imminent danger.

Inmes's Eng. Hist.—Vol. 1v. F
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There was less danger to the monarchy from the plottings of
fanatics than from the discredit which the new king brought
1820-1. upon it. Married morganatically when a young
Thekingand man to a Roman Catholic lady of irreproachable
the queen.  yirtue, he had shortly afterwards publicly denied
that marriage and wedded the youthful Princess Caroline of
Brunswick. Then he and she had quarrelled. The lady’s con-
duct in, its most favourable interpretation had been frivolous,
indiscreet, and unseemly ; the husband’s had been absolutely
intolerable. Still the worst charges had not been actually
brought home to Caroline. For many years the royal couple had
lived apart ; but when George 1v. became king his wife came
forward to demand recognition as queen. The government
replied by introducing a bill in the House of Lords to deprive
her of the title and dissolve the marriage. She had always en-
joyed & degree of public sympathy ; public feeling ran extremely
high while the bill was under discussion, and Canning, whose
sympathies were with her, felt that he could no longer
remain in the ministry. The matter became to a great
extent a party affair; and when the government majority
in the House of Lords on the third reading fell to nine, the
government realised that the bill was certain to be defeated in
the Commons, and withdrew it. The queen lost a good deal of
her somewhat fictitious popularity by an extremely ill-directed
and unseemly attempt to insist upon being crowned with the
king at his coronation ceremony; which she survived, however,
only a few weeks. In the contemporary records the story looms
exceedingly large ; its real political importance lies only in the
increased discredit which it brought upon the Crown by the public
exposure and public discussion of the improprieties in the private
lives of royal personages.

In December the government was strengthened by the ac-
cession to it of the Marquess Wellesley, an advocate

};:?{,m of Catholic emancipation, who was appointed lord-
;::s:;r lieutenant of Ireland. Shortly afterwards, Sidmouth,

without leaving the cabinet, resigned the home sec-
retaryship, which was conferred upon Robert Peel. The former
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was a significant, and the latter an important change. But
another of still greater consequence was to follow. Castlereagh,
who had recently succeeded to his father’s earldom 182

of Londonderry, was on the point of leaving London peatn of

in August to represent the country at a European Oastlereagn,
congress, when the heavy strain and the bitter un- spust.
popularity which he had borne for so long broke down his brain,
and he died by his own hand. Lord Liverpool at once offered
the post of foreign secretary, together with the leadership of the
House of Commons, to Canning, who had just accepted appoint-
ment as governor-general of India. Not without reluctance
Canning resigned India and acceded to the offer, which made
him at once the central figure of the government.

The policy of Lord Liverpool’s government during the ten
years when Castlereagh was at the Foreign Office is to be identi-
fied, as it was in his own time, with Castlereagh. gagtiereagn’s
If he was not the prime mover in domestic affairs, domestic
the public at any rate always saw his influence in
the background and detested him accordingly. He was the
representative of the Toryism which feared mob rule above all
things, trusted in ‘ resolute’ government, and believed with in-
tense conviction not only that authority must be upheld, but
that it could not be upheld if it allowed itself to be subjected
to rancorous criticism. It may be contended that revolution
could be resisted only by the methods of reaction, that those
methods were in fact successful, and that their employment
was dictated not by any selfish consideration of class interest,
but by a genuine public spirit. After the victory of reform it
became almost impossible to look with sympathy upon the old
Toryism, even to attempt to understand it. Yet to men who
actually remembered the events of the French Revolution and
the Reign of Terror, Jacobinism did not present itself as a bogy,
but as a real, ever-present menace. They had seen the ardent
advocates of just reforms swept away and overwhelmed by the
revolutionary forces which they found themselves powerless to
restrain. This was what they feared in England, and it was this
which determined them never to suffer the revolutionary forces
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to be let loose. It is easy enough to see how the government
in those years did actually intensify instead of removing the
causes of the evils of which the revolutionary propaganda was
not the source but the symptom. For us it is not so easy to
recognise that the error committed was an error of judgment,
of diagnosis, not the outcome of malignant intention. If the
government had embarked on a course of social reform, it would
not have thereby opened the floodgates of revolution; but it
was misled by the precedent of 1789 into imagining that it would.
For that imagination it was not wholly without some reasonable
excuse. But until comparatively recent years Castlereagh was
judged with the judgment of the Opposition of his own day, which
dominated historical criticism for fifty years after the Reform
Bill, and it has only gradually become possible to revise the old
condemnatory estimates, to recognise that though he was a
reactionary he was a man of high principle, keen insight, and
strong determination, whose fate it was to control the helm of
state in one of the most difficult and complex periods of our
history.

Just as the key to the domestic policy of Castlereagh and the
Tory government is to be found in their dread of the forces
Principles of ©Of anarchy, so the key to their foreign policy is to
his foreign  be found in their dread of another European con-
policy. flagration. In the former case, the course they
adopted was that of an uncompromising insistence upon authority
at the expense of liberty, for which they have been not less
uncompromisingly condemned. But in the latter case they
have been condemned with less justice not for asserting them-
selves too much, but for not asserting themselves enough ; for
allowing themselves to be dragged in the wake of the Holy
Alliance. Posterity has confirmed the adverse verdict in the
first case; though with distinctly modified severity in recent
years, at least as regards the judgment passed on their motives.
But the condemnation of Castlereagh’s foreign policy has been
almost reversed, since it had been realised that the principles
uwpon which Castlereagh acted were the principles upon which
- Canning acted also; that Castlereagh’s efforts, like Canning’s,

.
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were directed to withholding the Holy Alliance from intervening
in the domestic affairs of other states; that his endeavours
were crowned with a very considerable degree of success ; and
that the apparent change under Canning only corresponded to
an increasing disposition towards intervention on the part of the
great monarchies.

In the three years which followed the settlement of 1815 the
restored governments were showing markedly reactionary ten-
dencies. In 1818 the five great powers met at the 1818,
congress of Aix-la-Chapelle. At that congress it congress
was the influence of Castlereagh and Wellington :L“*l}‘
which secured the withdrawal of the allied troops oo
from French soil, and the definite reinstatement of France no
longer as suspect and under surveillance, but as one of the five
powers responsible for the peace of Europe. Moreover, it was
British influence which at this congress definitely rejected the
idea that the great powers should form a league claiming the
right to regulate the domestic concerns of other states. The
same influence procured the agreement that congresses should
assemble not at regular intervals, but only to deal with specific
questions ; and that if such specific questions concerned primarily
minor states, the congresses should be held only on the invitation
of such states, which should themselves be admitted to participate
in the consultations of the congress.

But by 1820, the reactionary zeal of the governments in Spain,
Portugal, and the Sicilies brought about popular revolts. Metter-
nich, the real ruler of Austria, was determined to 440
intervene in Italy ; with some justification, because Congress
the Austrian dominion in North Italy might be ©fTroPPas
seriously affected by a revolution in the south. Alexander, with
no corresponding excuse, was eager to suppress the Spanish
revolt by force of arms. Castlereagh declared definitely that
any intervention on the part of the powers would be a breach
of the rights of sovereign states, and a contravention of the prin-
ciples laid down at Aix-la-Chapelle. Nevertheless, a conference
of the powers was assembled at Troppau. France did not partici-
pate. The British government cothself with a declara-
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tion that although it might be legitimate for Austria to intervene
in South Italy if her own interests were jeopardised, there must
be no joint intervention on the part of the powers. But Russia,
Austria, and Prussia issued a joint declaration under which they
bound themselves in effect to suppress, if necessary by force of
arms, revolutions in other states which set a dangerous example.
Although France expressed a general approval, Castlereagh re-
sponded by a very emphatic protest, declaring that the prin-
ciples enunciated could not be endorsed by the British govern-
ment, and could not be reconciled with the independent authority
of sovereign states. Still he was unable to restrain the inter-
vention of Austria for the restoration of Ferdinand’s power in
the Sicilies.

Then, in 1821, the Greeks revolted against the Turkish dominion,
and the French monarchy, with the approval of the Eastern
1831, The powers, was threatening intervention on its own
Greekrevolt. account in Spain. As concerned the Greek revolt,
it was palpably a revolutionary movement directed against the
Turkish government, and as such to be condemned. On the
other hand, the Russian interest in the dismemberment of Turkey
was a strong inducement to Russia to intervene on behalf of the
Greeks, and to turn the intervention to her own territorial advan-
tage. And at the same time the Spanish colonies in South
America were in revolt. Were they to be treated as rebels or
as belligerents ? A state of affairs had arisen which did clearly
demand a conference of the powers, which was summoned to
meet at Vienna and Verona in 1822,

Again Wellington and Castlereagh were to be the British
representatives. Castlereagh’s intentions were made clear in a
1023, memorandum drafted for the guidance of Welling-
Congress ton until he should himself be able to join the con-
of Veroma.  ference. Britain was to reject entirely the principle
of joint intervention ; the revolution in Spain was a matter to
be dealt with by Spain and Spain alone. As to the Spanish
Oastlereagh’s colonies, Britain claimed for herself the right to
memorandum. recognise as independent states the colonies which
in her opinion had established a de facto independence. But this
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was a matter of individual, not of concerted, action ; and none
of the powers would be warranted in helping either the revolts
or their suppression. The question of Italy was not to be dis-
cussed at all. As to the Eastern question, every effort was to
be made to reconcile the quarrel between Russia and Turkey,
but with regard to Greece there should be no joint action either for
the suppression of the Greck revolt or for the recognition of
Greek independence. It was precisely upon the principles laid
down in this memorandum that Canning acted when he became
foreign minister, and that Castlercagh was resolved to act, down
to the moment when he took his own life.

ITI. CANNING, 1822-1827

Although the epoch of reform was still some years away in
1822, that year may be taken as marking the close of the period
of reaction. Hitherto it had been possible, though 1g23,
not with justice, to reproach the government for 4 landmark.
giving moral support to the absolutist movement on the Con-
tinent ; after 1822 the only complaint that could be made of it,
except during a brief interval after Canning’s death, was that it
went too far in expressing its sympathies with populations which
were in revolt under constitutional or nationalist banners. Down
to 1822 it had seemed too much concerned with upholding the
majesty of the law to give adequate consideration to the justice
which the law administered ; after 1822, the Home Office under
Peel became engaged on an active reformation of the criminal
code. Until 1822 it had been singularly deficient in financial
ability, and to the last had clung to all the extremely unsatis-
factory financial expedients which had been forced upon Pitt
by the war; after 1822, Huskisson, at the Board of Trade, and
Frederick Robinson, afterwards Lord Goderich, at the Ex-
chequer, took up the tradition of Pitt’s progressive finance at
the stage where the war had diverted its course. The moment
had not yet come for reopening the question of Catholic emanci-
pation, but the coming event had been foreshadowed by the
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appointment of Lord Wellesley as viceroy and of William
Plunket as attorney-general in Ireland at the close of 1821 ;
while Canning himself, as a devoted adherent of Pitt, had been
its advocate from the beginning. Also by 1822, the period of the
most extreme distress, of manufacturing and commercial in-
stability and depression, was passing ; and with it was passing
also the lawlessness and disorder which had been its outcome,
though this last improvement was not unnaturally attributed
by the government to the firmness with which it had held down
the forces of anarchy. ’

There were two reasons for revising the criminal code. The
first was its barbarity, and the second its inefficiency. There
The criminal Were as many as two hundred offences, from petty
code. larceny up to murder, which rendered the criminal
liable to the death penalty. It was true that for most of these
crimes the death sentence was rarely carried out; yet trans-
portation, a terrible punishment for every one, but especially so
for youthful offenders, was a not unusual substitute. The code
was based not upon any apportionment of the penalty to the
magnitude of the crime, but upon the theory that crimes easy to
commit and offering strong temptation can only be checked by
Failure of a correspondingly painful deterrent. The system
the system. a5 3 deterrent was a failure, and at the same time
the conscience of the community was outraged when the penalty
paid was out of all proportion to the offence committed. The
system failed for two reasons. Juries declined to convict even
in the face of convincing evidence, because conviction would
carry with it perhaps death, and if not death at least a mon-
strously harsh penalty. And instead of checking minor crimes
the system encouraged the committal of greater crimes. The
man who knew that he would suffer death or transportation if
he were convicted for stealing, ran no additional risk if he
commifted murder in order to effect his own escape. Thomas
More in his Utopia had pointed out in 16f% how the brutality
~ of the criminal code defeated its own objects; and since 1615
the criminal code had been made not less but more Draconic.

For more than twenty years past, Romilly, and after Romilly

iR
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Sir James Mackintosh, had been striving persistently to awaken
the public conscience to the enormities of the existing system.
Except for nine months during 1827, Pcel was at peer's

the Home Office from 1822 till the end of 1830. revision.
During that period, half the capital offences were struck off the
list at one blow, and the number was still further heavily reduced.
The strange survival by which ‘ benefit of clergy ’ could still be
pleaded for criminal offences was finally abolished. Peel was
responsible also for sundry improvements in criminal procedure,
and in prisons; and for an invaluable preventive measure, the
establishment of the metropolitan police force, popularly nick-
named after him ‘ Peelers ’ or ¢ Bobbies,” in place of the ancient
watchmen known as ‘ Charlies,” whose cfficiency had scarcely
been increased since Shakespeare held them up to ridicule.

At the beginning of 1823, Vansittart, the extremely incom-
petent chancellor of the exchequer, resigned that post, to which
Robinson was promoted from the presidency of the guexiason
Board of Trade, where he was succeeded by William at the Board
Huskisson. Huskisson at once proceeded to. ex- of Trade.
tend those principles in the regulation of commerce which Pitt,
under the influence of Adam Smith’s doctrine, had begun to
apply during the years of peace between 1784 and 1792. The
root principle of the doctrine was that the development of trade
should be left to the self-interest, energy, and enterprise of in-
dividuals; and that in general at least state regulation should
be limited to taxation for the single purpose of a aiseipie of
providing revenue. That doctrine could not be Adam Smith.
applied suddenly and in its entirety without an exceedingly
violent dislocation of the existing system, which had been de-
veloped in every country in Europe, on the hypothesis that it
was the business of the state to make the country self-supporting,
to foster home production of every kind by the artificial exclusion
or partial exclusion of competing foreign goods, and in particular
to protect those employments, notably agriculture and shipping,
upon which the national strength depended. Pitt had not been
able to go far in the direction of removing protective duties,

because every protected trade saw itself threatened with ruin if
s
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faced by unrestrained competition. But on another side, Adam
Smith’s doctrine completely displaced that of the old mercantile
theory, and the regulation of trade with the object of increasing
the import and preventing the export of bullion ceased to be advo-
cated. On another side Pitt had developed the financial practice
of which Walpole and Henry Pelham had been effective exponents
long before Adam Smith, and had recognised the principle that
low duties realise a larger revenue than high duties, because high
duties are an inducement to smuggling, while with low duties
the bulk of the goods on which they are paid is increased.

Now, during the last thirty years a material change had taken
place. The protected trades and employments were as firmly
Progress of convinced as ever that they would be ruined by the
the doctrine. removal of tariffs. But new trades had grown up,
and expanded enormously with the development of machinery,
which absolutely defied foreign competition. Those trades did
not want to be protected themselves; and whereas the agri-
cultural interest procured for itself the protective Corn Law of
1815, the merchants of London and of Edinburgh were in 1820
presenting petitions urging that duties, being restrictions on
trade, should be imposed only for revenue purposes. Frec
imports, they argued, diminish the home production only of
those goods which can be produced more cheaply elsewhere ; the
production of such goods ought not to be artificially fostered, as
the real effect is to divert the productive energies of the country
from channels in which they would be more usefully employed ;
and further, competition has the wholesome effect of inducing
producers to search for cheaper methods of production. These
views were generally endorsed by a royal commission appointed
to inquire into the whole question.

The Navigation Acts were the most conspicuous of the checks
upon the free flow of commerce. They had been created essen-
The tially with a political rather than an economic object
Navigation in view, in order to develop British shipping and
:::: outof  British sea-power, and to diminish Dutch shipping

) and Dutch sea-power. Such in particular had been
the definite intention of the Commonwealth Navigation Act and

wsiin.
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the Navigation Act of the Restoration, the earlier Acts not having
been directed against any particular power. Within fifty years
of the Restoration, the English instead of the Dutch had become
the great maritime carriers, and it is at least difficult not to
attribute that change in a quite substantial degree to the Navi-
gation Acts.: An economist so convinced of the benefits of un-
fettered trade as Adam Smith himself was satisfied that the
development of shipping and of sea-power resulting from those
Acts had been invaluable politically and beneficial economically ;
the great acquisition of transmarine and oceanic trade having
been the outcome of fighting superiority at sea. Other critics,
however, have argued that the development of British and the
decline of Dutch sea-power in the latter half of the seventeenth
century were an -inevitable result of the conditions of com-
petition, and were not materially advanced by-the Navigation
Acts. On that point the data do not permit of a dogmatic pro-
nouncement. But when Huskisson came to the Board of Trade,
the Navigation Acts had done their work. British shipping
and the British navy had entirely distanced all competitors, and
no longer required to be fostered artificially.

Moreover, there was an attendant danger threatening. Every
state with a maritime commerce resented the embargo imposed
by the Navigation Acts, which excluded from every Rgetaliation
British port merchandise brought in foreign bottoms - threatened.
unless,produced in the country by whose ships it was carried.
There were warnings that unless the navigation laws were re-
laxed the Continent would retaliate by closing its ports to
British shipping. Napoleon’s continental system had indeed
shown that in time of war the peoples of the Continent would
suffer by such a process more than the British people; but in
time of peace the British fleets could not be brought into play,
and foreign ports which refused to admit British shipping could
not be blockaded. In a tariff war or war of exclusion the pro-
babilities perhaps were that victory would have lain with the
British, and the Continent would have found itself obliged to
yield ; but the result could not be looked upon as certain, and 4
in any case the victory would have been frightfully costly.
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Taking these various considerations into view, Huskisson, in
1823, carried the Reciprocity of Duties Bill, which authorised
the Administration to conclude treaties abolishing
1828, < L. . .
Reciprocity  the existing restrictions with any powers which gave
::f“““ corresponding guarantees. Between 1824 and 1829
fifteen such treaties were made, to which others
were subsequently added, although the Navigation Acts them-
selves were not actually repealed until 1849. There were as a
matter of course clamours raised that British shipping would
be ruined ; but the prophecies of evil were contradicted by the
event. In the course of the twenty years which followed Hus-
kisson’s Act, British shipping increased fifty per cent., whereas
between 1803 and 1823 it had increased only ten per cent.
With less success, Huskisson attacked the Corn Law of 1815.
Neither he nor any other responsible statesman would have ven-
tured to propose the total abolition of duties on
1838. : . . .
corn Law: foreign corn; protection of the agricultural interest
:Z:I:M"S appeared to be a necessity more imperative than
’ the provision of bread at the lowest possible price.
The object of Huskisson’s proposals was to effect a compromise
between the two interests at stake, those of the British producer
and the consumer, by applying a sliding scale in place of the
law which excluded foreign corn absolutely except when the
home price was above 8os. a quarter. Huskisson’s bill to
establish a sliding scale was introduced in 1827, passed by the
Commons, but rejected by the Lords under the influence of the
duke of Wellington. In 1828, however, when the duke wasactually
at the head of the government, he retreated from the position he
had previously adopted, and a bill was passed which placed a
duty of 23s. on corn when the home price was under 64s., and
reduced it by degrees to 1s. when the price was at or over 73s.
The Reciprocity of Duties Act was a stride towards Free Trade ;
the sliding scale was a very tentative step in the same direction.
Tarifr Between those two measures, Huskisson succeeded
reforms. in carrying the reduction of a number of duties,
always with the same tendency. Iron having become the raw
material of an immense amount of British manufacture, the
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duties on imported bar-iron were cut down by seventy per cent.
There was a similar reduction in the duties on imported cotton
goods, which did not trouble the British manufacturers, who
could produce better and more cheaply than any of their com-
petitors. Wool and woollens provide an interesting example of
a-case where the interests of two sets of British producers were
diametrically opposed. In the interests of the manufacturer
who wanted his wool as cheap as he could get it there was a long-
established  duty on exported wool, though at the Wool

same time there was a duty on the imported article. The wool-
grower naturally wished to be allowed to export free, but to have
the duty on imported wool maintained. The manufacturer
wanted to have the export duty retained and the import duty
removed. . Huskisson retained but reduced both; whereby
every one concerned benefited, for while the wool-growers found
they had as good a market as before, the amount of imported
wool increased largely, and both manufacturers and the revenue
benefited. At the same time, the duties on the import of
woollen goods were very much lowered without diminishing the
market for the British article. Silk met with similar treatment.
By almost removing the duty on raw silk—it was sik. °

actually reduced ninety-five per cent.—Huskisson enormously
diminished the cost of their raw material to the silk-spinners.
Thus he was able also to reduce the duty on imported spun silk
by fifty per cent. without hurting the spinners. This again
reduced the cost of the raw material of the silk weavers ; so that
again Huskisson was able to put a thirty per cent. duty on French
silks, instead of excluding them as heretofore. The silk manu-
facturers clamoured at this, as the spinners had clamoured at
the reduction of the duty on spun silk, yet as in the case of wool
every one benefited.. Hitherto the demand for French silks, of
which the importation was forbidden, had caused them to be
smuggled into the country in large quantities. Now they came'in
by legitimate channels and provided a revenue ; but at the same
time the enterprise of the British manufacturers was so stirred
by the legitimate competition that they set about improving
their methods, and in a very short time had all but beaten the
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French product out of the home field and were successfully
competing with it in foreign markets.

If in all this Huskisson was the prime mover, he had a useful
coadjutor in Robinson at the Exchequer, and the warm support
canning at  Of Canning, to whose special field of work we now
the Poreign turn. It was his business to give decisive effect to
Offtoe. . the principles laid down in the memorandum which
Castlereagh had drawn up just before his death. Those prin-
ciples may be summarised as British -non-intervention in the
private affairs of foreign states, coupled with insistence upon
non-intervention on the part of other foreign powers. The dis-
tinctive feature of Canning’s application of the principle is the
practical manner in which he enforced the second as being a con-
dition of the first, not a mere addendum, and the emphasis with
which he revealed his own sympathy with the nationalist and
constitutionalist movements.

In Spain itself, Canning found himself unable to prevent the
French intervention on behalf of the monarchy. But in his
Canning ana  OWn oft-quoted phrase he ‘ called the new world in,
the Spanish.  to redress the balance of the old.” The Spanish
oolontes. government, having ceased to rule the colonies de
facto, was neither able nor willing to protéct British ships from
perpetual outrages ; and Canning had full warrant for recognising
in rapid succession the independence of one colony after another ;
of Mexico, Buenos Ayres, Chile, Peru, and others. When France
threatened to intervene on the side of the monarchy, she was
warned both by Britain and by the United States that such
intervention would not be permitted. It was at this time that
the famous Monroe doctrine was formulated by the American presi-
dent, declaring that interference on the part of European powers in
order to control the destiny of states in the continent of America
would be regarded as an unfriendly act by the United States.

Similarly effective was Canning’s treatment of Portugal.
Thither King John had not returned from Brazil until 1821.
Canning Next year Brazil, havmg for a time enjoyed the
and Portugal. position of the superior partner instead of being
merely a dependency of Portugal, proclaimed itself an inde-
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pendent empire under King John's eldest son Pedro.  In Portu-
“gal, the reactionary and absolutist party, encouraged by cvents
in Spain and headed by King John's second son Miguel, appealed
to French and Spanish support; the constitutionalists, recog-
nising Canning’s obvious sympathics, appealed to Britain.
Canning refused to intervene, but by sending a squadron to the
Tagus he made it thoroughly clear that British non-interven-
tion was conditional upon French non-intervention. Through
Canning’s mediation, King John recognised his son Pedro as
emperor of an independent Brazil. On John’s death in March
1826, Pedro proceeded to grant a constitution to Portugal, and
at the same time resigned his own claim to its crown in favour
of his seven-year-old daughter Maria, proposing that she should
marry her uncle Miguel—for which there was ample precedent.
Miguel wanted the crown for himself, rejected the proposals, and
appealed to Spain to support him. Canning, with the utmost
promptitude, dispatched a force to Portugal ; whereupon Spain
retired. As the British were there to support what was both
de facto and de jure the government of Portugal, no exception
could be taken to Canning’s action by the Holy Alliance. During
the next twelve months comparative peace reigned in Portugal.
The Eastern question was still more complicated than the
Spanish and Portuguese questions. Russia was restrained from
intervening between Grecks and Turks; Britain 4944
and France abstained also. But in all three The Eastern
countries, for different reasons, there was a keen dUostion
feeling of sympathy with the Grecks, and large numbers of
volunteers, among them Lord Byron, were allowed to take part
in the struggle. The sultan called in the aid of Ibrahim, the son
of Mehemet Ali, pasha of Egypt, and feeling was aroused the
more by the savagery of his treatment of the Greeks. Early in
1823, Canning resolved to recognise the Greeks as belligerents
for the same reason as in the case of the Spanish-American
colonies. British commerce was suffering from piracy and viol-
ence, which the Porte could not or would not put down, while the
Greek Provisional Government could not be appealed to unless
it were first recognised. Next year, Russia again proposed
—
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common intervention in order to carry out a compromise of her
own, which would have placed her in a very strong position,
while it was objected to intensely both by Turks and by Greeks.
By the spring of 1825 the proposal was modified into a joint note
offering mediation, which was rejected by the Porte. Then the
Greeks offered to place themselves under British protection, and
asked for a British king. This Canning of course declined,
insisting that the British position was, and must be, one of
neutrality, however sympathetic.

At the end of the year the Tsar Alexander died, and was suc-
ceeded by Nicholas 1., a-hard-headed person with none of his

1835. predecessor’s peculiarities of temperament. In the
m Ias spring of 1826 Wellington, accredited to St. Peters-
succoeds burg on a special mission, proc treaty known
Alexander.  as the Protocol of St. Petersbr nder which the

two powers again offered to mediate on the basis of the con-
cession of complete self-government to the Greeks, subject to the
payment of a tribute to the Porte. The Porte still remained
deaf to mediation, with the result that Britain and Russia,
acting together, threatened to recognise the actual independence
as a sovereign state of any portion of Greece which should in fact
free itself from Turkish control. Austria, whose lead was regu-
larly followed by Prussia, was, on the other hand, entirely hostile
to the Greeks.

At the beginning of 1827 a paralytic seizure removed Lord
Liverpool from all further participation in active politics, though
1827 he did not actually die till some time later. The
Canning result was that Canning was himself called upon
m:m to take the lead of the administration. Wellington,

' Peel, and others who distrusted Canning, resigned,
thereby forcing Canning and his supporters to throw themselves
largely on the support of the Whigs, with whom on all questions
save that of parliamentary reform they were now in much closer
sympathy than with the true Toriatx It was the easier for
Canning to carry out his own policy, ahd in July France joined
with Russia and Britain in the Treaty of .London, wherein they
agreed jointly to enforce an armistice, and in effect to compel
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the belligerents to accept their mediation on the lines of .the
St. Petersburg Protocol. |,
Canning’s death in August pTan Robinson, who had recently
bécome Viscount Goderich, at the head of the gdmyinistration, but
“it had lost @l real strength with Canning’s death. gappings
Its bribf contjnuance was characterised by~a single deatn,
event of importance, the battle of Navarino,™ In Au8ust.
.accordance with the Treaty of London the allied fleets of France,
Russia, and Britain went to the bay of arino, where an
Egyptian fleet had recently joined the Tur ith Navarino,
the object of enforcing an armistice the British October.
admiral Codrington informed Ibrahim that his ships would not
be allowed to leave the bay. The Egyptians open e, where- /M;j
upon the whole fleet was annihilated (October 26
But Goderich was quite incapable of carrying on the govern-
ment. The ministry was dissolved, and in Japuary 1828 Welling-
ton'reluctantly acgepted the du,ty of forming an adninistrhtion,
with Peel as his right-hand man, and with practically no one but
Huskisson and Palmerston to represent the Canningites.

From 1812 to 1827 there had been no formal change of ministry.
Throughout the fifteen years, Liverpool remained its head with
only occasional variations in the personnel of his colleagues. They
all called themselves Tories, and they all regarded themselves as
Pitt’s disciples. But Pitt had been pre-eminently a practical
politician who, while he believed in progressive theories, declined
to apply them when the conditions appeared to him unfavour-
able. Consequently there were among his self-styled followers
men who were eagerly awaiting the opportunity to put in practice
the theories which he would himself have put in practice but
for the war; while there were others who entirely repudiated
those theories, as he had in effect repudiated them while the war
was going on. Consequently, in Liverpool’s cabinet there were
vast divergencies of opinion, and when Canning succeeded to
the Foreign Office on Castlereagh’s death, he, along with Hus-
kisson, Lord Wellesley, Robinson, and Palmerston were what we ,
may call Progressive Pittites ; while the Lord Chancellor Eldon, 1
the duke of Wellington, Liverpool himself, and Peel were of the ,
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reactionary school—in which Peel at least was very much out
of place ; for he was the victim of his own education, and spent
his whole life in gradual realisation that he had ceased to believe

in one after another of the doctrines which he had heretofore
strenuously maintained.

IV. THE LAST TORY ADMINISTRATION

What Wellington thought of Canning’s policy was shown
when he took the first opportunity to refer to Navarino as ‘ an
untoward event.” Both in the East and in Portugal
1838, ..
witharawal - the consequences of the change of ministry were
from forelgn goon manifested. The British troops were with-
drawn from Portugal, Miguel seized the control, and
Portugal was again plunged into wild reaction and civil war until
1834, when Miguel was compelled to retire. In the East Britain
under Wellington’s guidance stood aside, and in effect left Russia
to act by herself—which she did. Turkey declared war upon
her, and surprised Europe by her initial successes in the conflict ;
but in August 1829 the Russians were at Adrianople and were
able to impose their terms upon the Porte. Russia had accom-
plished single-handed the objects of the Treaty of London,
which it had been precisely Canning’s intention to prevent her
from doing by herself. She secured the independence of Greece,
though the final settlement with regard to that country was not
completed till some time later when Palmerston was at the
Advance of Foreign Office. But Russia had also gained what
Russia. Canning had not intended : a virtual protectorate of
the Turkish provinces on the north of the Danube, Wallachia, and
Moldavia. From this time to the end of the nineteenth century
British foreign policy was habitually dominated by the idea of
Russian aggression, which had first taken hold of the younger Pitt,
and had been active ever since the days of the Tsar Paul, who
was more than suspected of designs upon India.
Canning and the Canningites were not, so long as Canning still
lived, advocates of electoral reform. But Tories as such were
not antagonistic to Huskisson’s commercial policy until the Corn



The Last Tory Administration 99

Law came within its scope; their interest in protection was
almost exclusively in the protection of agriculture. Canning’s
foreign policy was in theory at least thesame as Castle- wrories ana
reagh’s. ‘Thus while Liverpool managed, the two OCanningites.
groups could be held together. They differed positively on the
question of Catholic emancipation, but so far it had been possible
to keep that question in the background. But when Liverpool
was incapacitated the differences came to the front. Canning’s
‘non-intervention’ was growing alarmingly like intervention on
behalf of the Nationalists and Constitutionalists, with whom he
sympathised. Of all living men there was none more intensely
averse from war than its greatest living master, the duke of
Wellington ; and in the duke’s view Canning’s excessive activity
was fraught with danger. When Huskisson as a member of
Canning's ministry proposed the corn sliding scale, it was the
duke who destroyed the measure in the Upper House. The
question of Catholic emancipation was becoming so acute that
its settlement could not for very long be postponed. When
Wellington, not without reluctance, consented to form a ministry
in. January 1828, it was-certain that a reconstruction of parties
was imminent, and all but certain that it would in effect take the
form of a coalescence between the Canningites and the Whigs.

.- The rupture between Tories and Canningites was not immedi-
ately complete. Huskisson was a member of the ministry, though
it was not long before he tendered his resignation, ;494 e
which was promptly accepted. The duke had his' sliding scale
way, as' we have seen, as concerned foreign policy ; *4°Pted:
but at the very outset he had to retreat from the position he had
formally taken up with regard to the Corn Law, and to adopt:the
sliding scale in its place. For Wellington had only taken up
the command at the moment when the whole series of the Tory
positions had become untenable. Wellington treated politics as
he would have treated a military problem. He had taken office
to defend the Crown, the constitution, and the Wellington,
country at large from what he conceived to be the dangers which
threatened them. Nothing was to be gained by exposing the
protecting force to annihilation ; if he saw that one defensive

—n—
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post was doomed he considered it his duty to fall back upon
another, instead of courting destruction by holding on to the in-
defensible position till it was too late to retreat. As between the
Corn Law and the sliding scale there was no question of principle
involved ; the change was merely a modification, a slight diminu-
tion of the amount of protection extended to the agricultural
interest, a slight concession to the counter-claims of the consumer.
Principle was more prominent in the next question which arose.

The Test Act and Corporation Act had remained on the
Statute Book ever since the days of Charles 11. ; always disliked
Test and by the uncompromising Whigs, but never repealed,
Corporation  because for fifty years after the Revolution the Whigs
Actarepealed. over dared to arouse the passion of religious contro-
versy which would have accompanied any attempt at repeal.
Walpole, after his own fashion, had adopted the more peaceable
method of devising means for their habitual evasion, by annually
passing a bill of indemnity for Nonconformists who had taken
office without fulfilling the conditions laid down by the law.
Nevertheless Anglican Toryism persisted in regarding the Acts
as the safeguards of the Church and the constitution. Latterly
they had been among the objects selected for attack by the Whig
Opposition. Lord John Russell, who had constituted himself
the champion of electoral reform in the House of Commons, in
favour whereof he had since 1820 moved resolutions session after
session which had been defeated with regularity, assailed also
these obnoxious Acts. In 1828 he carried a resolution in favour of
their repeal, against the government. The government accepted
the situation ; the sacramental test was abolished, and for it
was substituted a simple declaration that the candidate for
office would do nothing to subvert or injure the Protestant
Established Church.

In the next year came what the High Tories regarded as the
great betrayal. Catholic emancipation was a subject which
The question €XCited no enthusiasm in England, and more active
of Catholic  hostility in Scotland. But in Ireland it had assumed
emancipatlon. . imary importance. Irish Catholics had sup-
ported the Union chiefly because they had been led to anticipate

U,
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that Catholic emancipation would follow ; whereas it was prac-
tically certain that so long as a Protestant Irish parliament
existed Roman Cathelics would not be admitted to sne question
any share of political power. But Catholic emanci- in Ireland.
pation did not follow the Union, Catholics resented the Protes-
tant ascendency more bitterly than ever after the rebellion of
1798, and when the whole question was shelved by the action of
George 111, after the Union had been carried out, they felt that
they had been duped, and resented their position all the more.
The movement, which hitherto had been directed by the Catholic
aristocracy, was taken out of their hands, and its control was
assumed by one of the most remarkable of Irishmen—Daniel
O’Connell. In many respects a man of conservative paniel
instincts, O’Connell was endowed with a very excep- ©'Connell
tional power of moving masses of men by his emotional oratory.
Not less exceptional were his abilities as an organiser ; a trained
lawyer, he had an extraordinary skill in avoiding breaches of
the letter of the law ; he habitually preached against bloodshed
and violence, even while his harangues were calculated to in-
flame the passions of his hearers ; and he might almost be called
the creator of what has come to be known as * constitutional
agitation,’ as the grand method of attaining his political ends.
In England the Catholic question was so far academic that its
not infrequent discussion in parliament did not bring it pro-
minently before the electorate ; George 1v. and all ne catholic
his brothers were opposed to any kind of Catholic Association.
relief almost as obstinately as their father. But in Ireland,
when O’Connell took up the agitation, he made it an essentially
popular movement, sweeping in the masses of the Catholic
peasantry and calling in the vigorous co-operation of the Roman
Catholic priesthood, themselves for the most part sprung from
the peasant class. In 1823 he formed the Catholic Association ;
the large subscriptions, collected for the most part in very small
sums, were utilised partly for organisation, partly to enable the
peasantry to fight their landlords—often with success—in the
law courts. The association was suppressed in 1825 by a bill
carried for that purpose, though without support from the
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viceroy Lord Wellesley ; but only with the effect that the
association was reconstituted with alterations which placed it
outside the operation of the Act.

The parliamentary franchise had been extended to Roman
Catholics in Ireland in 1793, and forty-shilling freeholders
1838, The Clare €njoyed the vote. In order to strengthen .their
election, July. own position, many Irish landlords created a number
of forty-shilling freeholders on their own estates, reckoning on
being able to command their votes. But the influence of the
priest began to prove more powerful than that of the landlord ;
the vote of the forty-shilling freeholders defeated the Beresford
interest in Waterford immediately after the defeat of a relief
bill at Westminster in 1825. In 1828 Peel was already coming
to the conclusion that the state of Ireland demanded Catholic
emancipation in spite of his own aversion from that measure.
His lingering doubts were dispelled by the Clare election. The
member for Clare, Vesey Fitzgerald, was appointed to the Board
of Trade when Huskisson and the rest of the Canningites retired
from the ministry. The appointment necessitated re-election.
O’Connell, though as a Catholic he was debarred from sitting in
parliament, stood for the constituency and headed the poll.
The election was conducted in a perfectly orderly manner without
violence, though not without violent language.

Peel was satisfied that, in the face of such a demonstration,
the demand for emancipation could no longer be resisted. In
Conversion  the course of the next few months he had convinced
of Peeland  Wellington ‘that, unless Catholic emancipation
Welllagton.  ore conceded, there would be civil war in Ireland ;

T "mn was not prepared to face civil war. : Having.
conclusion that Catholic emancipation must be
judged also that it was his duty to conduct the
f. Peel had qualms about assuming responsibility
which hitherto he had consistently opposed, and
ssignation.” This he was induced to withdraw, but:
eat for the constituency which had elected him,
of Oxford, was defeated at the new election, and'
iother seat elsewhere. The king’s resistance gave
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way when he was faced by the resignation of the ministers, and
found that no alternative ministry could be formed.

In March 1829 Peel introduced the bill in the House of
Commons. Virtually it swept away all the disabilitics of Roman
Catholics in the United Kingdom, excluding them
only from the offices of Regent, Lord Chancellor of gathone
England, Viceroy of Ircland, and Lord Chancellor emancipation
of Ireland. Peel in the Commons defended the °
bill on the plain ground not that it was desirable in itself,
but that it would cffect the peaceable settlement of Ireland,
and that nothing short of it would do so. Wellington in the
Lords defended it on the plain ground that it was the only alter-
native to civil war. In the Commons the bill was carried by
majorities of about two to one. In the Lords, despite the resist-
ance of the old Tories, the third reading was carried by a majority
of 104.

That Catholic emancipation was a mecasure of simple justice,
that a religious creed is a matter of private conscience and private
conviction which ought not to carry with it political The political
disabilities, is now generally admitted. But in opposition.
judging the opposition to it, we must not forget that it was not
solely the outcome of religious bigotry. The intolerance of
papistry as distinct from any other creed rested primarily upon
the definitely political ground, that the Papacy had never re-
signed its claim to an allegiance overriding allegiance to the civil
power. The papal doctrine that subjects owed no fealty to a
heretic monarch had been the original ground of the penal laws
against Roman Catholics ; though in the nineteenth century any
real danger of the application of that doctrine was a thing of the
past, it was still possible to believe that it was a real danger
which might again arise in the future. But as concerned popular
hostility to Catholic emancipation in 1829, outside she popular
of parliament, there could be no doubt that it rested, opposition.
in Great Britain, on hostility to the Romanist creed and the
conviction that if the Romanists ever acquired a political pre-
dominance they would employ it for the persecution of Protes-
tantism. Popular imagination was still dominated by the fires
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of Smithfield and by the Gunpowder Plot, as it had been in the
days of Titus Oates. As far as concerns Great Britain, where
the Roman Catholics were and are only a small minority, these
imaginations were morbid. As concerned Ireland there had
before the Union been ample ground for fear that Catholic
emancipation, giving political ascendency to the followers of the
religion which for whatever reason had, as a matter of fact, been
harshly repressed for centuries, would be turned to account in
a vindictive repression of the Protestants ; but that danger had
been removed by the absorption of the Irish legislature in the
parliament of Great Britain. For Ireland as well as for Great
Britain the removal of Catholic disabilities was a mere measure
of justice involving no risk of papal ascendency either in legis-
lation or administration.

At the moment of the Union the concession of Catholic emanci-
pation would have been an act of justice not without some
The measure Magnanimity. It would have been felt as a measure
fails to of conciliation, a burying of age-long animosities, a
conclllate.  free concession granted from motives of generosity
and goodwill. But in 1829 as a healing measure it came too
late. It was given not freely but grudgingly ; according to the
open avowal of the head of the government, granted only because
it was the lesser of two evils—only because the alternative was
civil war. No gift so wrung from any government has ever
found gratitude. It was given, too, with an ill grace. O’Connell
himself was treated with what had at least the appearance of
petty spite when it was declared that he must be elected again
before he could take his seat ; and the government’s fear of ad-
mitting the Irish peasantry to any share of political power was
demonstrated by a simultaneous restriction of the franchise,
disfranchising the forty-shilling freeholder and substituting a
£10 qualification, whereby six out of seven electors at least lost
their votes. And still also the grievance remained that Ireland
maintained the endowments of a Church to which not one-fifth
of the population belonged, while the Church of more than four-
fifths was without endowment. Civil war was indeed averted,
but Peel’s belief that emancipation would provide an effective
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settlement for Ireland soon proved to be the vainest of dreams.
O’Connell came to Westminster not as the grateful recipient of
generosity, but as the victor who had only wrung a tardy frag-
ment of justice from the reluctant British government. The
agitation for Catholic emancipation was very soon replaced by
agitation for the repeal of the Union.

The Tory party was much shaken by the Emancipation Bill ;
those of them who voted for it with Wellington and Peel hated
it in their hearts ; those who voted against the government held
the duke and Peel guilty of betraying the principles 1830.
of the party. In the course of the year following the passing
of the Act the ministry almost confined itself to economies in
administration and reductions in taxation. In the summer of
1830 George 1v. died unmourned. He had never goorge 1v.
attempted to assert the powers of the Crown un- and.
constitutionally. 'What he might have tried to do if William IV.
the Whigs had driven the Tories out of office is another question.
His political activities were not employed injuriously ; so much
at least may be said for him. But his private life had lowered
disastrously the popular respect for monarchy. Fortunately
for the Crown, he was succeeded by his eldest surviving brother
Willjam, duke of Clarence; and the little princess Victoria,
daughter of the fourth brother, still stood between the fifth, the
duke of Cumberland, and the succession. William was not un-
popular; his life was not stained by flagrant scandals; his
sympathies were supposed to be more liberal than those of any
of his brothers ; it was in his favour that he was a sailor, who
loved his profession ; and although by na means brilliant he was
a man of sense. In the seven years of his reign he restored
a good deal of that prestige of the Crown which had been
dissipated by George 1v.

But the reign of the Tories was near its end. A month after
the death of George 1v. the parliament, which had been elected
-in 1826 and had known four successive prime gpqof
. ministers, was dissolved. Even in its last session the Tory
it was becoming clear that the great question of S°vernment.
parliamentary reform could not long be deferred. At the general
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election a number of ministerial seats were lost. When the
Houses assembled in the autumn, the attack was immediately
opened by the Opposition ; Wellington declared in the most un-
compromising terms that he regarded the existing constitution
as the best which could possibly be devised, and that he was
absolutely opposed to any kind of electoral reform. In France
a bloodless revolution in July had deposed the reactionary king
Charles x. and placed on the throne his cousin of Orleans, the
¢ citizen king,’ Louis Philippe. The ease and the freedom from
disturbance with which the revolution had been carried out were
extremely reassuring as a convincing proof that Jacobinism
and the guillotine were not inevitable accompaniments even of a
monarchical revolution. A government defeat on a motion
referring to the civil list gave Wellington the opportunity of
resigning upon a side issue ; and the formation of a new ministry
was entrusted to Earl Grey, the recognised leader of the Whigs.



CHAPTER III. EMPIRE AND PEOPLE

I. INDIA AND THE COLONIES

IN the direct course of the narrative dealing with European and
domestic affairs, only incidental allusions have been made to the
trans-oceanic empire from the time when Cornwallis returned to
India to die, leaving the government for the time being in the
incompetent hands of Sir George Barlow. We have noticed only
in connection with the struggle with Napoleon that the Cape
Colony passed permanently under British control in 1806, and
that the island of Mauritius was taken from the French in 181o0.
The imperial development during the first portion of the nine-
teenth century now claims our attention.

-In India the fortunately brief rule of Barlow was ended by the
appointment of Lord Minto as governor-general in 1807. Apart
from the ignominious termination of the Mahratta 494 mata:
war, it had been signalised chiefly by a mutiny the Vellur
among the Madras sepoys at Vellur; sympto- mutiny.
matic of the troubles which came to a head fifty years later in
the Bengal army. The mutiny was due to regulations which
had been imposed without due consideration of what the un-
taught European would term caste prejudices and the Hindu looks
upon as vital principles of religion. The natives, with tradi-
tional experience of forcible conversion by Mohammedan rulers,
conceived that the object of the regulations was to make them
Christians against their will by destroying their caste. The
mutiny was quelled by the prompt action of Colonel Gillespie,
and the sepoys were pacified by the wise attitude adopted by
Lord Minto, who recognised the reality of the grievance which

had been the cause of the whole affair.
A=
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Minto went to India fully intending to carry out the policy
of non-intervention ; but during his term of office he was much
1807-18. more active than was pleasing to the directors at
Lord Minto. home or to the British government in London. At
the moment of his arrival the Tsar and Napoleon had recently
come to their agreement at Tilsit ; if by this time England had
little to fear from the French emperor, the-same thing could not
be said regarding the Russian Tsar. Between India and Russia

India, there lay two buffers beyond the Indus, Afghanistan
Bn;lli’u, and Persia ; within the mountain barrier the Pun-
and Persia.

jab had recently been consolidated into a powerful
state dominated by the Sikh confederacy, whose head was the
Maharaja Ranjit Singh of Lahore Persia was already in col-
lision with Russia. Before Tilsit she appealed to Napoleon ;
after Tilsit the attitude of France and Russia towards each other
changed, and the circumstances clearly: demanded the im-
mediate establishment of friendly relations between the Shah
and the British. Unfortunately, the government of India and
the government in London each dispatched an envoy on its own
account. The government in London was annoyed by the
action of the government of India ; and it was chiefly due to the
diplomatic tact of Minto’s envoy, Malcolm, that the friction was
removed, and an arrangement was reached—satisfactory in so far
that the Shah undertook to resist the passage of European troops
through his territories, in return for which he was promised
military support if Persia should be invaded. But there was
another result, not perhaps altogether satisfactory. It was
understood thenceforth that the diplomatic relations with
Persia were the affair not of the Indian but of the home govern-
ment, which proved itself only too apt to forget that any
importance attached to them.

The Persian mission and another mission to Kabul had for
their object the extension of political relations with states outside
Ranjit singh India itself with a view to defensive arrangements
and 8irhind.  against European aggression ; but Lord Minto also
found himself compelled to intervene in the affairs of native
states in India with that kind of diplomatic pressure which in-
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volves an ominous moving of troops. Sikh sirdars or chiefs domi-
nated not only the Punjab but Sirhind, which is, roughly speak-
ing, the country between the Sutlej and the Jumna. Ranjit
Singh was by this time the acknowledged lord of the Punjab
Sikhs, and was anxious to extend his sway over the Sikhs of
Sirhind who appealed to the British government for protection.
Lord Minto was very anxious to placate the master of the Punjab
whose territories guarded the Asiatic gateway of India. The
astute Sikh was no less anxious for the friendship of the British
government, for he had thoroughly made up his mind not only
that the British were at the moment the strongest power in
India, but that they were destined to absorb the whole peninsula
under their dominion. He believed that they would crush him
if he challenged a combat, but that if he preserved their friend-
ship they would not interfere with his own ambition of develop-
ing the power of his own state outside their sphere. Therefore
he pursued the systematic policy of getting everything he could
out of them, making full use of every diplomatic advantage which
circumstances might provide, but always with a fixed resolve that
he would not fight them. Now, as it became clear that the re-
lations between France and Russia were becoming strained, he
saw that his own position was weakening, and made a great
favour of withdrawing his claims on Sirhind in deference to the
wishes of the British. So long as Ranjit lived—and it was
not till 1839 that he died—his convinced belief in the British
power was of constant service.

More pronounced was Minto’s intervention in Central India.
Holkar had encouraged the settlement in his dominions of a
host of roving freebooters, Mohammedan Pathan Amir Khan.
tribesmen from the hills, whose most powerful leader was named
Amir Khan, or miscellaneous hordes, mainly Mahratta, known
as Pindaris. Holkar had entered into alliance with the bold
adventurer ; but since his contest with the British the Mahratta
prince had become completely insane. Amir Khan, acting pro-
fessedly on behalf of Holkar, employed the masses of his mer-
cenary troops first to play havoc in Rajputana, and then to make
incursions into the Bhopsla’s territory. If Amir Khan and his
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mercenary hordes were allowed to get the upper hand, it was
evident to Lord Minto that India would be thrown into an in-
tolerable turmoil. The troops of the British government were
ordered to support the raja of Nagpur, and Amir Khan promptly
retired beyond the Nerbudda. No further action was taken
against him at the time, though the struggle was only deferred ;
but what Minto had done was more, not less, than was approved
in London ; and a good deal to his own surprise he was super-
seded by Lord Moira, who arrived in India in 1813.

Again the new governor-general was a man who took up his
office with every intention of carrying out the non-intervention
1818-23. policy, only to discover that non-intervention was
Lord Moira  a plain impossibility. He had hardly appeared on
(Hastings).  4he scene when he found himself faced by native
aggressors from an entirely new quarter. Along the whole
stretch of the northern mountains bordering upon Oudh and
Behar lay the state of Nepal, occupied by the hardy tribes of
mountaineers called Ghurkas. They were few in numbers but
exceptionally valiant and skilful soldiers, physically of an entirely
different type from Pathan or Mahratta, from the Rajput clans-
men of Hindustan or from the Sikhs of the north-west. Before
Lord Minto left India, these hillmen were pushing down into
the plains and occupying territories within the area of Oudh and
Behar. Moira (or the marquess of Hastings, to give him the
title which was soon conferred upon him) arrived at a moment
when it had become necessary to demand their withdrawal in
peremptory terms. Instead of retiring, they sent fresh troops
into the occupied districts, and the Ghurka war began in 1814.

The governor-general was a soldier of experience and capacity.
But war with the Ghurkas meant war conducted by officers and
1814-15. troops who knew nothing about hill-fighting, against
The Nepal  hillmen who were first-rate soldiers and understood
war. hill-fighting to perfection. Small as was the entire
force which ‘the Nepalese were able to put in the field in com-
parison with the forces sent against them, the opening cam-
paigns were so disastrous that half India was filled with the
expectation that the moment was coming when the British power

~.
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would be destroyed. Even Ranjit Singh at Lahore began to
waver. Butin 1815 the tide turned. By the skilful operations of
General Ochterlony, the ablest of the Nepalese commanders and
the best of his troops were isolated and forced to a most honour-
able capitulation. Although this stroke compelled Western
Nepal to submission, Eastern Nepal still refused to yield, and
another campaign was necessary before Ochterlony repeated his
previous success and again compelled the stubborn Ghurkas to
a capitulation. After that, the Nepalese government recognised
that further resistance was hopeless, and accepted a treaty by
which Western Nepal became British territory. The splendid
qualities displayed by the Ghurkas won the highest admiration ;
they had only been beaten after a very valiant fight against
overwhelming odds ; and having been fairly and squarely beaten
they were ready to make friends without any feeling of latent
vindictiveness. From the moment when the treaty was made,
the Nepalese government never wavered in its loyalty to the
power with whom it had formed an alliance ; and the Ghurkas
who had passed under British sway proved no less loyal to their
new rulers, in whose Indian armies there are to this day no troops
more absolutely trustworthy than the Ghurka regiments. -

The war, however, had given fresh opportunity to Amir Khan
"and his Pathans, and still more to the Pindaris under other
leaders, to break out in a renewal of their predatory 1ese.
and devastating excursions. Their suppression had The Pindaris.
become a necessity, the more because there could be no doubt
that all the western Mahrattas were conniving at their proceed-
ings. Hastings laid the position of affairs before the government
in London. Fortunately at this moment Canning joined the
Liverpool administration as president of the Board of Control.
After very short hesitation, he was convinced by the governor-
general’s account of the Pindari incursions, and gave Hastings
a free hand to act with the utmost vigour.. In another respect
the moment was favourable ; for the Bhonsla, who had always
refused a subsidiary alliance, died, and the regency, acting for
his imbecile son, accepted the subsidiary alliance, which enabled
the British to use Nagpur territory as a base of operations.

—_— -
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1n 1817 the war for the suppression of the Pindaris was opened
upon a scale for which there was no previous precedent, since it
1817-19. The Was only by the display of overwhelming force that
Pindari war. the Mahratta princes could be kept from open co-
operation with the Pindaris. Sindhia was paralysed for action
by the British troops on his northern frontier ; but in November,
first the Peshwa and then the new Bhonsla, who had succeeded
on the death of the boy for whom he had been acting as regent,
rose and attempted to wipe out the British contingents, with the
residents and other officials, at Puna and at Nagpur. At Kirki
and Sitabaldi the small British forces completely defeated the
Mahratta attack. In December and January 1818 Amir Khan
and Holkar’s government were forced to accept the British terms,
and the Pindari war became practically a pursuit of the scattered
parties of banditti. Still some months elapsed before the Peshwa
was captured, and it was not till April 1819 that the last of the
Bhonsla’s fortresses was reduced, he himself having escaped as
. afugitive to the Punjab.
" The general results were as follows. The Pindari hordes were
completely scattered, and all prospect of their combining together
The Manratta 282in was destroyed. Holkar accepted the sub-
confederacy sidiary treaty, and a portion of his territories was
broken WP-  4nnexed to the British dominion. Amir Khan was
allowed to enjoy a principality of his own at Tonk. Sindhia had
to submit to a revision of the treaty made by Barlow, and to the
extension of the British protectorate over the Rajput chiefs
whom that treaty had left at his mercy. At Nagpur another
member of the royal family, a minor, was established as Bhonsla ;
during whose minority the administration was taken over by the
British. The hardest blow was dealt to the Puna government.
From the beginning of his career Baji Rao had played the traitor
whenever opportunity offered. His dominions were now an-
nexed, although a separate independent principality was set up
at Sattara under the prince who was the nominal head of the
Mahratta confederacy, though absolutely powerless almost
throughout the last century—the representative of the house of
Sivaji, the original creator of the Mahratta power. Baji Rao,
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deprived of all political position, was handsomely endowed with
private estates and a very large pension for the term of his own
life ; and thus amply provided for, he retired into private life
in British territory, where he trained up an adopted son, the
infamous Nana Sahib.

With the fall of the Puna peshwaship the period of annexations
within the Indian peninsula came to an end. No fresh territory
was brought under direct British dominion by war rne Mogul
for more than twenty years. With somewhat 1snored.
doubtful wisdom the governor-general ignored the titular sove-
reignty of the Mogul, and bestowed upon the Oudh nawab the
title of padishah, or king, as a reward for his steady loyalty. A
like reward was offered to the Nizam, who rejected it, refusing to
ignore his allegiance to the head of Mohammedan India.

The India House objected to the government of Hastings very
much on the same grounds as those on which they had objected
to the government of Lord Wellesley. His wars, 49
however necessary, had cost money ; his annexa- Hastings
tions, however inevitable, increased their responsi-
bilities; and he persisted in making first-class appointments
instead of deferring to the selections which they made them-
selves, or wished to make for reasons quite irrelevant to sound
government. They did not venture to recall him, since he had
acted with Canning’s sanction ; but there was friction ; and when
Hastings tendered his resignation in 1822 it was accepted. Can-
ning himself had actually accepted the succession when the death
of Castlereagh summoned him to the charge of foreign affairs
and the leadership of the House of Commons.

Before Lord Hastings left India he received an astonishing
demand from the king of Burma for the ° restoration’ to that
kirigdom of a large portion of Bengal. The Burmese gora Amherst

" dominion was in fact cut off from India proper by aud Burma.
the mountain chains of the north-east and by the sea. Burma
never had owned any part of Bengal; but the ‘ Lord of the
White Elephant,’ dwelling apart, deluded himself with vain
imaginings and dreams that he was the mightiest monarch in
the world. The reply of Hastings assumed that the missive

Innes’s Eng. Hist.—Vol. v. H ’
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which he had received was not an official document but a forgery.
But when Lord Ambherst, the newly appointed governor-general,
arrived, a body of Burmese took possession of an island belong-
ing to Chittagong, which was part of the province of Bengal, but
borders on the Burmese province of Arakan. Lord Amherst
removed the Burmese and sent a warning protest to the Burmese
government at Ava. The warnings were ignored, and the
governor-general was informed that any communications he had
to make must be addressed to the Burmese general, Bandula,
as the Burmese court would give them no attention. Bandula
was collecting troops, and Ambherst found that war had been
forced upon him.

It proved to be tedious, inglorious, and costly. The country
was difficult, the climate atrocious, and for a considerable part
183¢.6. of the year military operations were impracticable.
First Burmese Invasion by way of the land frontier appeared un-
war. manageable ; so in May 182, an expedition con-
sisting of European troops and low-caste,\Madra.si sepoys was
dispatched across the sea to Rangoon—since the high-caste
scpoys of the Bengal army would lose their caste by crossing
what they called the ‘ Black Water.” Rangoon was occupied,
but the army had to depend for its supplies on Calcutta con-
tractors, the worst existing specimens of that kind. The rainy
scason came on, and any advance up the Irrawadi was rendered
impossible. In the early months of 1825 the British were able
to push forward slowly till the rains came on again. There was
another advance and a defeat of the Burmese ; but it was not
till 1820 that the Burmese court realised that the Burmese troops
could not stand up to the invaders ; and a peace was made by
which, as a necessary consequence of Oriental warfare, Burmaceded
the districts of Assam, Arakan, and Tenasserim, and agreed to
pay a heavy indemnity and to receive a British Resident at Ava.

The prolongation of this war over a period of two years once
more excited in the minds of some Indian potentates the recur-
1826, ring conviction that the British ascendency was
Bhartpur.  tottering to its fall; and the small Jat principality
of Bhartpur threw down a deliberate challenge, relying upon the
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supposed impregnability of its citadel. 1t had successfully re-
pulsed Lake’s attacks at the time when Holkar was defying the
British in 1804. Now, however, the illusion of its impregna-
bility was dispelled. In January 1826 Bhartpur fell; and its
fall was more convincing to the native mind than even the Pindari
war had been. Seventeen years passed before any native power
again ventured to throw down the gage of battle.

Ambherst was followed in 1828 by Lord William Bentinek,
who some time beforc had been governor of Madras, and so
added knowledge of India to a practical experience
of public affairs at home, and a sympathy with pentinex
those more liberal ideas which had been making m'.::
rapid progress in England, at least since 1822, At )
last the governor-general found himself free to give undivided
attention to the administrative reforms of which the story belongs
to another chapter.

Administrative reform on a large scale had not been practicable
while the Indian government was perpetually engaged in wars
great or small. In the period which we have been  gyq
here considering the most notable work was the ryotwari
land settlement in the south, in those districts sstilement,
which passed under British dominion through the Mysore and
Mahratta wars., Here the zemindari system?! had never been
established with the same thoroughness as in Bengal; and it
was comparatively easy to see that the zemindar was not a pro-
prietor, but only a middleman between the government and the
ryot or peasant who had a better title than any onc else to be
regarded as the real proprietor. The system adopted has the
name of ryotwari. The ryot paid to the government a fixed rent
for a term of years, modificd only as he allowed a portion of his
holding to go out of cultivation or brought fresh ground into
cultivation. The rent was fair, and was always considcrably
lower than that demanded under the native rulers, and the
peasant enjoyed fixity of tenure and the power of alienation.
The settlement differed from that in Bengal because the asscss-
ment was not permanent, but only for a term of years, and the

1 See vol. iii.
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ryot instead of the zemindar was treated as the proprietor of
the soil.

There was, however, another outcome of the annexations. The
conditions prevalent in some of the newly acquired provinces
Non. made it inconvenient to treat them in accordance
regulation  with the established regulations applied to all the
provinoes.  .,rovinces brought under British administration in
the first years of expansion. In some of these areas it was felt
advisable to entrust the administration to an officer—often a
soldier—with large powers of adapting the methods of govern-
ment to the peculiar local conditions ; and this gave rise to the
distinction between ‘ regulation ’ and ‘ non-regulation ’ provinces.
One more point only needs to be noticed here before we turn
from India. The charter of the East India Company was re-
newed in 1813 for twenty years ; but with the important altera-
tion that the company no longer enjoyed the monopoly of trade
except as concerned China. The Indian trade was virtually
opened to all comers.

The history of the colonies during this period, unlike that of
India, was not for the most part characterised by striking events,
The colontes. though certain marked tendencies are to be ob-
served in them.

In the two Canadas hostility to the United States was in-
tensified by the war of 1812; an episode which redounded to
Upper the credit more particularly of the United Empire
Canada. Loyalists in Upper Canada who bore the brunt of
the contest. In the years that followed, however, popular dis-
content developed for reasons which were not identical in the
two colonies, though there was some kinship between them.
In each there was an elective popular assembly and a nominated
legislative council, the executive being in the hands of the
latter, who practically commanded the ear of the governor.
Consequently both in Upper and in Lower Canada there was
antagonism between the assembly and the council owing to
the presence in the former of a popular party demanding an
increased control. Upper Canada was dominated by what was
called the Family Compact, a family group sprung for the most
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part from the United Empire Loyalists, who were shaping into
a kind of aristocracy from which the growing stream of immi-
grants was almost entirely excluded. The council and govern-
ment officers were practically all taken from among them. The
rest resented what was virtually their exclusion from power ;
apart from this the principal bone of contention was the treat-
ment of the ‘ clergy reserves.” These were lands which had been
set apart for the maintenance of the Protestant clergy by the Act
of 1791, and which the Anglican clergy had succeeded in appro-
priating to their own Church as the only Protestant Church
recognised by the state. They were, however, forced to admit
the claims of ministers of the Established Church of Scotland
to a corresponding share. Outside the Family Compact there
were numerous members of dissenting bodies who claimed either
that the clergy reserves should be impartially applied for the
benefit of all Protestant settlers, or that they should be secular-
ised and applied to educational or other similar purposes,

In Lower Canada the contest between the chambers was on
a different footing. In the assembly, as in the population
generally, there was a large majority of French; rower
but there also the administration was virtually Canada.
in the hands of a bureaucracy, an aristocracy of officials
who were nearly all British. The antagonism therefore tended
to run upon racial lines ; but the assembly, in its efforts to attain
practical power, followed the British precedent and fought to
obtain financial control. At the same time there was an in-
evitable tendency on the part of those who were outside the
bureaucratic connection to side with the assembly in demanding
that increased political weight should attach to the elected
chamber. The flow of immigrants, to a great extent members
of the industrial classes driven from England and still more
from Scotland by the economic depression, strengthened the
democratic element.

In the Cape Colony, taken from the Dutch and retained by
the British after the close of the war, there arose a gradual
accumulation of British settlers occupying the The Cape.
colony by the side of the old Dutch and French Huguenot
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inhabitants. The new-comers were planted chiefly in the eastern
regions between Capetown and the districts beyond the Fish
River occupied by the Kaffir tribes, which increased the danger
of collisions between negroes and whites. Within the colony
itself the non-European population was for the most part not
Kaffir (negro) but Hottentot. As in the West Indian colonies,
slavery was an established institution in South Africa. The
government was in the hands of a governor and a nominated
council. The laws and institutions of the Dutch, who had been
in occupation for two hundred years, were at first preserved ;
but with the increase of the British population there came a
disposition on the part of the government to modify them in
accordance with British ideas, much to the displeasure of the
Dutch, especially when British ideas were applied to the treat-
ment of the natives. The development of humanitarian views
which brought about the abolition of the slave-trade were re-
pellent to the Dutch, both in theory and in practice ; in theory,
because they retained the peculiar Old Testament religion of the
ancestors who had been persecuted by Alva, regarding them-
selves very much as the chosen people and the natives as Canaan-
ites ; in practice, because experience had implanted in them the
firm conviction that the natives could be controlled only by
the strong hand applied without hesitation and without mercy ;
whereas the humanitarians were shocked by any application of
the strong hand at all. It was by no means easy for any govern-
ment to grasp and act upon the true principle that the strong
hand should be applied with mercy, but without hesitation.
But as in Canada so at the Cape, dissatisfaction and discontent
had not yet come to a head.

Lastly, we turn to the new territory which Great Britain had
annexed in 1788. Colonisation in Australia was for many years
Australasia. very slow. The first occupation was for the pur-
pose of a convict settlement, and the first expansion was from
the convict settlements, by means of the establishment upon
the soil of convicts who had passed their term and preferred re-
maining where they were to returning to England, and a similar
establishment of the soldiers on the spot when they had served
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their time and earned their discharge. These settlers remained
under the control of a military governor; but emigrants from
England were not attracted by the prospect of a society consist-
ing of ex-convicts. Nevertheless, the growth was sufficiently
rapid for Tasmania to be constituted a separate government
from New South Wales in 1812. The development was largely
due to the energy of Governor Macquarie, who went to New
South Wales in 1809. He succeeded in obtaining some financial
assistance from the home government ; and that movement of
emigration which sent settlers to New Brunswick and Canada
began to find an outlet also in Australia, so that by 1826 New
South Wales had some thirty thousand inhabitants, of whom
a considerable majority were free settlers. Another convict
settlement at Brisbane in the north of New South Wales was
the beginning of what ultimately developed into the separate
colony of Queensland. Explorers opened out new fields mainly
for cattle and sheep farming ; and by 1829 the progress had been
such, and the attractions of Australia had become so far known
in Great Britain, that the new colony of Western Australia was
created with no convict settlement as its nucleus.

II. INDUSTRY AND COMMERCE

The great revolution in the methods of production was in full
operation some years before the close of the eighteenth century.
Machinery driven by water or by steam had already
in the important manufactures destroyed domestic of the
industries; the manufacturer employing a large :‘v‘m
number of hands in his factories to work the machin-
ery, which was his own property, displaced the groups of weavers,
spinners, and other hand-workers, whose looms and spinning-
wheels had been their own property. The manufacturer was
the owner of the machinery and materials of production, and the
folk who had hitherto done the spinning and weaving brought
into the market not goods but labour. The former ‘customer”

—em—



120 Empire and Peopl